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Use of Materials 
This course manual accompanies all formats in which the course is offered, including self-study 
text, self-study online, group study, in-firm, and other formats, as applicable. Specific 
instructions for users of the various formats are included in this section.  

Continuing Professional Education (CPE) is required for CPAs to maintain their professional 
competence and provide quality professional services. CPAs are responsible for complying with 
all applicable CPE requirements, rules, and regulations of state licensing bodies, other 
governmental entities, membership associations, and other professional organizations or bodies. 

Professional standards for CPE programs are issued jointly by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (AICPA) and the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy 
(NASBA) to provide a framework for the development, presentation, measurement, and 
reporting of CPE programs. These standards are entitled Joint AICPA/NASBA Statement on 
Standards for Continuing Professional Education Programs (CPE standards), and are available 
as part of the AICPA’s Professional Standards three-volume set, either in paperback or as on 
online subscription through the AICPA’s Online Professional Library.

Review Questions for Self Study Participants
The CPE standards require that self study programs include review questions (also known as 
knowledge check questions) that provide feedback to both correct and incorrect responses. Note 
that these questions are provided only as learning aids and do not constitute a final examination. 

Requirements for Claiming and Receiving CPE Credit 
CPE standards place responsibility on both the individual participant and the program sponsor to 
maintain a record of attendance at a CPE program. CPAs who participate in only part of a CPE 
program should only claim CPE credit for the portion that they attended or completed.  

CPE participants must document their claims of CPE credit. Examples of acceptable evidence of 
completion include: 

for group and independent study programs, a certificate or other verification supplied by 
the CPE program sponsor. 
for self-study programs, a certificate supplied by the CPE program sponsor after 
satisfactory completion of an examination. 

Participants in group study and other live presentations will receive a completion certificate from 
the program sponsor. CPE program sponsors are required to keep documentation on programs 
for five years, including records of participation. 

All self-study participants must complete the exam within one year of date of course purchase in 
order to receive a certificate indicating satisfactory completion of the CPE program. 

When purchased as a self-study course in text format, the exam is located in the 
Examination section at the end of the course manual.



The course code number for both the self study exam and the self study evaluation can be 
found in the Examination’s introductory material.
Participants may either complete the self-study exam and evaluation online at 
https://cpegrading.aicpa.org or use the paper answer sheet and evaluation forms 
included with the course materials. Participants must provide the unique serial number 
printed on the examination answer sheet. If using the paper forms, participants should 
mail the original answer sheet and course evaluation form in the pre-addressed envelope. 
Photocopies or faxes of the original forms are not acceptable. The paper grading process 
averages five to seven business days from date of receipt. During peak reporting periods 
(June, September, and December), the processing time may be 10 to 15 business days. 
Self-study participants must achieve a minimum passing grade of at least 70 percent to 
qualify for CPE credit.  
o Upon achieving a passing grade, participants receive a certificate displaying the 

number of CPE credits earned based on a 50-minute hour, in compliance with CPE 
standards. 

If the exam is completed online, the completion certificate is provided online, 
which may be printed or saved in .pdf format. Also, the grading system 
maintains a transcript of the participants’ completed courses. 
If the answer key is mailed in, participants receive the completion certificate 
in the mail.  

o If a passing grade is not achieved, the participants are notified. 
If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant completed the exam 
online, the grading system provides immediate online notification of the 
score as well as instructions on how to re-take the exam. Participants who do 
not pass the online exam within three attempts must mail in the examination 
answer key.
If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant mailed in the exam, the 
participant is mailed a notification of the exam score and an answer sheet so 
that the exam may be re-taken. 

Program Evaluations
The information accumulated from participant evaluation forms is an important element in our 
continual efforts to provide high quality continuing education for the profession. Participants in 
group study and other live presentations should return their evaluation forms prior to departing 
their program sessions. Self-study participants should either mail the completed evaluation 
form along with the examination answer sheet in the envelope provided, or complete the course 
evaluation online. Your comments are very important to us. 

Customer Service
For help and support, including information on refund claims and complaint resolutions, please 
call AICPA Member Service at 1-888-777-7077, or visit the online Help page of the AICPA 
Store at www.cpa2biz.com. 
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Chapter 1  

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT ACTIVITIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify the guidance and requirements found in the Uniform Guidance. 
 Recognize how the effective dates of the Uniform Guidance affect various stakeholders. 
 Identify requirements in the Uniform Guidance for auditors performing a compliance audit. 
 Identify key revisions for determining major programs under the Uniform Guidance. 
 Identify other developments related to federal government activities. 
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Introduction 
This chapter discusses ongoing developments relating to audits of entities expending federal awards. 
Included in this discussion are the requirements under the Uniform Guidance and an update on the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban development (HUD) consolidated audit guide. 
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OMB Reforms Relating to Federal Awards 
On December 26, 2013, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) issued Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) that establishes uniform cost principles and audit requirements for 
federal awards to nonfederal entities and administrative requirements for all federal grants and 
cooperative agreements. The stated goal of this reform was to streamline guidance for federal awards 
while easing administrative burden and to strengthen oversight of more than $500 billion in federal funds 
expended annually. 

Overall, the Uniform Guidance includes revisions to modify existing guidance and requirements 
considered to be outdated, ineffective, insufficient, or excessively burdensome. The Uniform Guidance 
consolidates the cost principles (other than those related to hospitals) into a single document with limited 
variations by type of entity. Combining the circulars containing the cost principles and administrative 
requirements necessitated revising terms and definitions where applicable. The Uniform Guidance 
superseded the guidance in the circulars. 

Appendix IX, “Hospital Cost Principles,” of the Uniform Guidance notes that the cost principles 
applicable to hospitals are not superseded with the issuance of the Uniform Guidance. The OMB plans 
to establish a review process to consider existing hospital cost determination and how best to update and 
align them with the cost principle guidance in the Uniform Guidance. Until the revised guidance is 
implemented for hospitals, the existing principles at 45 CFR Part 74 Appendix E, “Principles for 
Determining Cost Applicable to Research and Development Under Grants and Contracts with 
Hospitals,” remain in effect. 

On December 19, 2014, a joint interim final rule was issued containing the implementing regulations of 
all federal awarding agencies that became effective December 26, 2014. That document notes that some 
agencies received OMB approval for exceptions to the standard Uniform Guidance regulations. OMB 
states that they approved exceptions only where they were consistent with existing policies of the agency. 
Therefore, all regulatory language included in the joint interim final rule should be consistent with either 
the Uniform Guidance or the agencies’ existing policies and procedures. 

The joint interim final rule also included technical corrections made to the Uniform Guidance. The 
technical corrections include revisions due to errors, unclear language, or in cases where the language in 
the final guidance did not match the intent of the guidance. Some technical correction items of note 
include the following: 

 Some uses of “should” were changed to “must.” 
 The effective (applicability) date was revised to allow a grace period of one fiscal year for nonfederal 

entities to implement changes to their procurement policies and procedures in accordance with the 
revised procurement standards. (This grace period was extended to two fiscal years in the September, 
2015 Frequently Asked Questions [FAQ] document, as described later in this chapter).  

Key Point 

 Auditors should be alert for the issuance of additional technical corrections.  
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Frequently asked questions (FAQ) documents have been released that provide information regarding 
specific sections of the Uniform Guidance. Additional FAQs are expected and will be available at 
https://cfo.gov/cofar/#RUUG. See “Resources” at the end of this section for links to the Uniform 
Guidance and related documents. 

Key Point 

 It is important to note that it is the hospital cost principles (only) that are not 
superseded by the Uniform Guidance. However, hospitals are required to comply with 
the requirements of the Uniform Guidance other than the cost principles. 

 SUMMARY OF UNIFORM GUIDANCE SUBPARTS 

All guidance for federal agencies and nonfederal entities and their auditors is located in the Uniform 
Guidance in the following sections of Part 200. 

Subpart A, Acronyms and Definitions (200.0-200.99) 
Subpart A contains the various acronyms used in the document as well as the definitions.  

Subpart B, General Provisions (200.100-200.113) 
Subpart B explains the purpose, applicability, and effective date of the Uniform Guidance. A table in this 
subpart indicates which subparts are applicable to different types of awards. This table specifies the 
subparts that are applicable (or not applicable) to a particular type of federal award. Among the types of 
federal awards noted in the table are grant agreements, cooperative agreements, cost-reimbursement 
contracts, fixed amount awards, agreements for loans and loan guarantees, interest subsidies, and 
insurance. It is noted that the requirements established apply to all federal agencies that make federal 
awards to nonfederal entities, and that the requirements are applicable to all costs related to federal 
awards. 

Subpart C, Pre-Federal Award Requirements and Contents of Federal Awards  
(200.200-200.211) 
Subpart C provides information to federal agencies on information that is required to be provided to 
nonfederal entities related to applying for and receiving federal awards. This includes determining the 
type of instrument to be used (for example, grant agreement, cooperative agreement, or contract), and a 
listing of information that must be included in a federal award document. In addition, this subpart 
provides guidance to federal agencies regarding reviewing proposals, including evaluating risks posed by 
applicants.  
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Subpart D, Post Federal Award Requirements Standards for Financial and Program 
Management (200.300-200.345) 
Subpart D contains information for both federal agencies and nonfederal entities regarding their 
responsibilities after a federal award is granted. It covers a wide range of topics. Auditors should identify 
and understand the content that relates to nonfederal entities because it will be one basis for compliance 
testing of awards, or increments of awards, subject to the Uniform Guidance. 

Topic areas covered in Subpart D are as follows: 

 Standards for financial and program management 
 Property standards 
 Procurement standards 
 Performance and program monitoring 
 Subrecipient monitoring 
 Record retention and access 
 Remedies for noncompliance 
 Closeout 
 Post-closeout adjustments and continuing responsibilities 
 Collection of amounts due 

Subpart E, Cost Principles (200.400-200.475) 
Subpart E contains information regarding cost principles for federal awards previously found in the cost 
circulars. These principles must be used in determining the allowable costs of work performed by the 
nonfederal entity under federal awards. These principles also must be used by the nonfederal entity as a 
guide in the pricing of fixed-price contracts and subcontracts where costs are used in determining the 
appropriate price. 

Subpart F, Audit Requirements (200.500-200.521) 
Subpart F sets forth the requirements for auditors performing Uniform Guidance compliance audits of 
nonfederal entities expending federal awards. 

Uniform Guidance Appendixes 
There are a number of appendixes to the Uniform Guidance on a wide variety of subjects. Some of the 
appendixes contain detailed information on the subject and others are references to material located 
elsewhere. Of special note are appendixes IX–XI, which reference other guidance and requirements 
related to a single audit: 

 Appendix IX, Hospital Cost Principles. Hospital Cost Principles have not been updated. The existing 
principles located at 45 CFR Part 74 Appendix E, entitled “Principles for Determining Cost Applicable to 
Research and Development Under Grants and Contracts with Hospitals,” remain in effect. 

 Appendix X, Data Collection Form (Form SF-SAC). The Data Collection Form SF-SAC is available on 
the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) website. 

 Appendix XI, Compliance Supplement. The compliance supplement is available on the OMB website. 
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EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Federal Agencies 

Under the Uniform Guidance, federal agencies were required to adopt, in unison, revised agency 
regulations that implement the Uniform Guidance. To accomplish this, all federal agencies revised their 
existing regulations, policies, and procedures to be in line with the Uniform Guidance. A joint interim 
final rule was issued in December 2014 whereby all federal agencies adopted the revisions in unison to be 
effective on December 26, 2014. 

As noted previously, some federal agencies have received OMB approval for an exception to the 
Uniform Guidance regulations, and included the resulting language in their agency regulations contained 
in the joint interim final rule.  

Nonfederal Entities 
The Uniform Guidance defines nonfederal entity as “a state, local government, Indian tribe, institution of 
higher education (IHE), or not-for-profit organization that carries out a federal award as a recipient or 
subrecipient.” Nonfederal entities are required to implement the Uniform Guidance administrative 
requirements and cost principles for all new federal awards and to certain funding increments made on or 
after December 26, 2014. 

Key Point 

  Funding increments issued after December 26, 2014, where the federal 
awarding agency modified the terms and conditions of the award, are subject 
to the Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles. 

 Funding increments with no changes to the award terms and conditions 
continue to be subject to the applicable circulars. 
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Special Note – Election Regarding Procurement Standards 

The technical corrections issued in September 2015 clarified that a nonfederal entity may elect 
to continue to comply with the procurement standards found in previous OMB guidance for two 
additional fiscal years after the Uniform Guidance goes into effect. Therefore, a nonfederal 
entity may delay implementation of the Uniform Guidance procurement standards for two full 
fiscal years beginning with the nonfederal entity’s fiscal year that begins on or after December 
26, 2014. The entity must document whether it is in compliance with the old or new standard, 
and must meet the documented standard. 

For example, the first full fiscal year after December 26, 2014, for an entity with a June 30 year-
end would be the year ending June 30, 2016. If the delayed implementation is elected, the 
entity is required to implement the Uniform Guidance procurement standards after the second 
full fiscal year, which is the year ended June 30, 2017. Therefore the procurement standards are 
required to be implemented for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017. This election to delay 
implementation of the procurement standards is an important auditor consideration since it may 
impact testing in OMB compliance audits for the next several years. 

Auditors 
The audit requirements found in the Uniform Guidance are effective for fiscal years beginning on or 
after December 26, 2014. No early implementation was permitted. This means compliance audits of 
recipients with years ending on or after December 25, 2015, are required to be conducted under the 
revised single audit requirements in the Uniform Guidance.  

IMPACT OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 

AND COST PRINCIPLES 

The effective date of the Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles affects 
audits performed in 2015 and going forward. This is because any new federal awards and funding 
increments (where the terms and conditions of the award were modified) issued on or after December 
26, 2014 are subject to the Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles. Federal 
awards and funding increments received prior to that date (and funding increments made after the 
Uniform Guidance effective date that had no modifications to award terms and conditions) continue to 
be subject to the previous administrative requirements and cost principle circulars. 

What Does This Mean to the Auditee? 
The effective date of the Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles has had an 
immediate effect on nonfederal entities. Many nonfederal entities have awards subject to the pre-Uniform 
Guidance circulars, and other federal awards subject to the Uniform Guidance administrative 
requirements and cost principles.  
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  Exercise 1-1 

Identify which set of cost principles apply to the following federal awards. 

Which Cost Principles Apply to This Award?  

Federal Award Funding Period Cost Principles Applicable to Award 

 Circulars Uniform Guidance

01/01/14–12/31/14 

07/01/14–06/30/15 

Funding increment action dated 
03/01/15 based on award with 
original award date of 03/01/13 
(award terms and conditions modified)

 
 

 

01/01/15–12/31/15 

Funding increment action dated 
09/01/15 based on award with 
original award date of 09/01/14 (no 
change to award terms and conditions)

  

 

What Does This Mean to the Auditor? 
Auditors are also affected by the December 26, 2014 effective date of the administrative requirements 
and cost principles for nonfederal entities. For a Uniform Guidance compliance audit performed for 
periods after December 26, 2014 (for example, years ending December 31, 2015 and March 31, June 30, 
and September 30, 2016) a nonfederal entity may have some federal awards that are subject to the 
administrative requirements and cost principles of the Uniform Guidance, and other federal awards 
subject to those found in the circulars. Furthermore, it is possible that this situation may occur within a 
major program when that major program is funded through multiple funding sources. 

The result is that auditors may be required to perform tests under both set of criteria, as determined by 
the date of the federal award. It is essential that awards subject to the Uniform Guidance requirements be 
identified early in the planning process. A system for identifying transactions subject to the Uniform 
Guidance requirements is needed so that a sample clearly identifies which guidance a particular 
transaction is being tested against. 

In summary, in any Uniform Guidance audit that includes federal awards received on or after December 
26, 2014, auditors should be aware that auditees may have some federal awards that are subject to the 
administrative requirements and cost principles circulars and other awards that are subject to the 
Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles. This situation will continue until all 
federal awards have been expended that are subject to the guidance found in the circulars.  
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which of the following is not a subpart within the Uniform Guidance? 

a. Subpart B–“General Provisions.” 
b. Subpart D–“Post Federal Award Requirements.” 
c. Subpart G–“Hospital Cost Principles.” 
d. Subpart E–“Cost Principles.” 

RESOURCES 

OMB Resources 
You can find the Uniform Guidance and related technical corrections and other resources on the Council 
on Financial Assistance Reform (COFAR) website: https://cfo.gov/COFAR/. Among those resources are 
links to the guidance itself, an FAQ document, crosswalk documents, and comparisons to preceding 
guidance. Some of the documents on the website, for example the crosswalk documents, are not based 
on the final issued guidance and do not include the technical corrections. However, those documents 
may be helpful in understanding (a) what has changed from Circular A-133 and (b) where to find Circular 
A-133 content in the Uniform Guidance.  

AICPA Resources 
The AICPA has a number of different types of resources to assist recipients of federal awards and their 
auditors in understanding and implementing the reforms. Some of these resources are as follows: 

 Government Audit Quality Center (GAQC) website (www.aicpa.org/gaqc) 
 Self-study and group study courses 
 Periodic webcasts 
 Audit Guide, Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits 
 Audit Risk Alert, Government Auditing Standards and Single Audit Developments 
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Summary of Significant Changes to the Single Audit 
Certain sections of the Uniform Guidance have updated language, whereas others have revised guidance 
and other details regarding the topic. The discussion in this section will focus on the audit requirements 
under the Uniform Guidance.  

The information presented in this section does not include all that may be important or relevant to the 
auditor or auditee. Instead, this section highlights some of the key areas of change to audit requirements 
found in the Uniform Guidance. The following areas will be discussed in the chapter: 

 Terminology 
 Uniform Guidance compliance audits 
 Schedule of expenditure of federal awards 
 Major program determination 
 Reporting 

TERMINOLOGY 

Must and should. The Uniform Guidance definitions of the terms must and should are different than 
those terms found in generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) and generally accepted government 
auditing standards (GAGAS). 

The Uniform Guidance uses the terms as follows: 

 “Must” indicates a requirement in the document. 
 “Should” indicates best practice or recommended approach (“Should” does not indicate a 

requirement.). 

Under GAAS and GAGAS, the term “must” indicates an unconditional requirement. GAAS and 
GAGAS define the term “should” as a presumptively mandatory requirement. An auditor must comply 
with a presumptively mandatory requirement in all cases in which such a requirement is relevant, except 
in rare cases as noted in that guidance. 

Federal statutes vs. laws. In the Uniform Guidance the phrase “federal statutes, regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of federal awards” has replaced the phrase used in OMB Circular A-133: “laws, 
regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements.” Note that variations of these terms are 
used in some cases. 

Contractor vs. vendor. The Uniform Guidance uses the term “contractor” instead of “vendor.” 
(However, the guidance relating to contractor versus subrecipient determination and characteristics of a 
payment to a contractor is substantially the same as that found in Circular A-133 relating to vendors.) 

UNIFORM GUIDANCE COMPLIANCE AUDITS 

As noted previously, the basic approach to a compliance audit under the Uniform Guidance has not changed. 
However, certain requirements have changed. Some of the more significant ones are noted here.  
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Threshold 
Under the Uniform Guidance a nonfederal entity that expends $750,000 or more in federal awards during 
the nonfederal entity’s fiscal year must have a single audit or program-specific audit conducted in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance. This change will result in fewer single audits being performed 
because those organizations with federal expenditures of $500,000 to $749,999 will no longer be required 
to have a single audit. The Federal Register Notice issuance of the Uniform Guidance notes that this 
increase in the single audit threshold reduces the audit burden for approximately 5,000 nonfederal entities 
while maintaining audit coverage of over 99 percent of the federal dollars expended. 

Internal Control 
The Uniform Guidance now explicitly states that internal controls over federal awards should be in compliance 
with Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government (Green Book) or Internal Control— Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Note that the 
use of “should” indicates a best practice or recommended approach, and not a requirement.  

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. What is the dollar threshold at which the Uniform Guidance requires a nonfederal entity to have a 
single audit? 

a. $500,000. 
b. $1,000,000. 
c. $750,000. 
d. $300,000. 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

Under the Uniform Guidance certain expenditures of federal awards must be presented on the face of 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, with no option to present these items in the notes to the 
schedule. Items that are now required to be placed on the face of the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards including the following: 

 Total amounts provided to subrecipients from each federal program 
 The total of federal awards expended for loan or loan guarantee programs 
 Other noncash awards (for example, free rent, food commodities, and donated property and the 

value of insurance in effect) 

Other specific provisions in the Uniform Guidance as it relates to the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards are as follows: 

 The schedule of expenditure of federal awards must include a total for each cluster of programs. 
 The notes to the schedule must include whether or not the auditee elected to use the 10 percent de 

minimis indirect cost rate. 
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The total amount of federal expenditures on the face of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards 
will be the same as the total amount of federal expenditures for the data collection form. This same total 
typically will be the total used to calculate the type A threshold for determining major programs. (A final 
type A threshold calculation may be impacted by the requirements in CFR 200.518(b)(3) for large loans 
and loan guarantees.) 

DETERMINATION OF MAJOR PROGRAMS 

The process of identifying the major programs to audit remains a four-step process. However, there are a 
number of changes within the process.  

The Uniform Guidance states that the auditor must use a risk-based approach to determine which federal 
programs are major programs. This risk-based approach must include consideration of current and prior 
audit experience, the oversight by federal agencies and pass-through entities, and the inherent risk of the 
federal program.  

Step One—Determination of Type A and Type B Programs 
The auditor must identify the larger federal programs, which must be labeled type A programs. Type A 
programs are defined as federal programs with federal awards expended during the audit period 
exceeding the levels outlined in the following table. 

Total Federal Awards Expended1  Type A Threshold 

Equal to or exceed $750,000 but ≤ $25 million $750,000 

Exceed $25 million but ≤ $100 million Total federal awards expended times 0.03 

Exceed $100 million but ≤ $1 billion $3 million 

Exceed $1 billion but ≤ $10 billion Total federal awards expended times 0.003 

Exceed $10 billion but ≤ $20 billion $30 million 

Exceed $20 billion Total federal awards expended times 0.0015 

1 Includes both cash and noncash awards. 

Federal programs not labeled type A must be labeled type B programs. 

The inclusion of large loan and loan guarantees (loans) must not result in the exclusion of other programs 
as type A programs. The Uniform Guidance requirement has taken the “Safe Harbor Rule” from the 
Compliance Supplement and incorporated it into the Uniform Guidance. 

For biennial audits the determination of type A and type B programs must be based upon the federal 
awards expended during the two-year period. 
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Step Two—Identification of Low-Risk Type A Programs  
The auditor must identify type A programs that are low risk. In making the determination about whether 
a type A program is low risk, the auditor must consider whether there is an indication of significantly 
increased risk that would preclude the program from being low risk based on the following criteria: 

 Oversight exercised by federal agencies and pass-through entities (for example, results of recent 
monitoring or other reviews or indication in the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Compliance Supplement that a federal agency has identified a federal program as higher risk. 

 The results of audit follow-up. 
 Any changes in personnel or systems affecting the program that would indicate significantly 

increased risk that would preclude the program from being low risk. 

Note that these are the only criteria that the Uniform Guidance permits the auditor to consider in 
evaluating whether there is significantly increased risk for a type A program (that is, the auditor is not 
permitted to use judgment based on the inherent risk of a type A program). 

In addition, to be considered low risk, a program must 

 have been audited as a major program in at least one of the two most recent audit periods, and 
 not have had any of the following in the most recent audit period: 

o internal control deficiencies, which were identified as material weaknesses in the 
auditor’s report on internal control for major programs, 

o a modified opinion on the program in the auditor’s report on major programs, or 
o known or likely questioned costs that exceed 5 percent of the total federal awards 

expended for the program. 

If no low-risk type A programs are identified in step 2, the auditor skips step 3 and moves 
directly to step 4.  

Step Three—Identification of High-Risk Type B Programs  
The auditor must identify type B programs that are high risk using professional judgment and the criteria 
in section 200.519, Criteria for Federal Program Risk. However, the auditor is not required to identify more 
high-risk type B programs than at least one-fourth the number of low-risk type A programs identified 
under step 2. Once the required number of high-risk type B programs is identified, no further risk 
assessment of type B programs is required. 

Except for known material weakness in internal control or compliance problems, a single criterion in risk 
would seldom cause a type B program to be considered high risk. When determining which type B 
programs to risk assess, the auditor is encouraged to use an approach that provides an opportunity for 
different high-risk type B programs to be audited as major over a period of time. 

The auditor is not expected to perform risk assessments on relatively small federal programs. 
Therefore, the auditor is only required to perform risk assessments on type B programs that 
exceed 25 percent (0.25) of the type A threshold as determined in step 1. 
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Step Four—Selection of Programs to be Audited as Major  
At a minimum, the auditor must audit all of the following as major programs: 

a. All type A programs not identified as low risk under step 2. 
b. All type B programs identified as high risk under step 3. 
c. Programs to be audited as major based on a federal agency or pass-through entity request. 
d. Additional programs as necessary to meet the percentage of coverage requirements.  

This may require the auditor to audit more programs as major programs than the number of type A 
programs. 

PERCENTAGE OF COVERAGE 

If the auditee meets the criteria for a low-risk auditee, the auditor need only audit the major programs 
identified in Step 4, (items [a] and [b]), and such additional federal programs with federal awards 
expended that, in aggregate, encompass at least 20 percent (0.20) of total federal awards expended. 
Otherwise, the auditor must audit the major programs identified in Step 4, items (a) and (b), and such 
additional federal programs with federal awards expended that, in aggregate, encompass at least 40 
percent (0.40) of total federal awards expended. 

LOW-RISK AUDITEE REQUIREMENTS 

The requirements a nonfederal entity must meet to qualify as a low-risk auditee have been revised under 
the Uniform Guidance. An auditee that meets all of the following conditions for each of the preceding 
two audit periods must qualify as a low-risk auditee and be eligible for reduced audit coverage in 
accordance with the section dealing with major program determination: 

 The entity must have had single audits performed on an annual basis. A nonfederal entity that has 
biennial audits does not qualify as a low-risk auditee. 

 The entity must have submitted the data collection form and reporting package to the Federal Audit 
Clearinghouse on time.  

 The auditor’s opinion on whether the entity’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or a basis of accounting required by state law and 
the auditor’s in-relation-to opinion on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards were 
unmodified. Therefore, unless required by state law, an auditee that prepares its financial statements 
on a non-GAAP basis of accounting, such as the cash or modified cash basis, cannot be considered a 
low-risk auditee. 

 The entity had no deficiencies in internal control that were identified as material weaknesses under 
the Yellow Book. 

 The auditor did not report a substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

 None of the entity’s federal programs had audit findings from any of the following in either of the 
preceding two audit periods in which they were classified as type A programs: 

o Internal control deficiencies that were identified as material weaknesses in the auditor’s 
report on internal control for major programs 
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o A modified opinion on a major program in the auditor’s report on major programs 
o Known or likely questioned costs that exceeded 5 percent of the total federal awards 

expended for a type A program during the audit period 

In addition, there is no provision in the Uniform Guidance that allows a cognizant or oversight agency to 
provide a waiver of the low-risk auditee criteria. 

AUDIT FINDINGS 

Audit Findings Reported 
Under the Uniform Guidance the auditor must report the following as audit findings in a schedule of 
findings and questioned costs: 

 Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over major programs and 
significant instances of abuse relating to major programs 

 Material noncompliance with the provisions of federal statutes, regulations, or the terms and 
conditions of federal awards related to a major program 

 Known questioned costs that are greater than $25,000 for a type of compliance requirement for a 
major program. The auditor must also report known questioned costs when likely questioned costs 
are greater than $25,000 for a type of compliance requirement for a major program. 

 Known questioned costs that are greater than $25,000 for a federal program that is not audited as a 
major program 

 The circumstances concerning why the auditor’s report on compliance for each major program is 
other than an unmodified opinion, unless such circumstances are otherwise reported as audit findings 
in the schedule of findings and questioned costs 

 Known or likely fraud affecting a federal award, unless such fraud is otherwise reported as an audit 
finding in the schedule of findings and questioned costs 

 Instances where the results of audit follow-up procedures disclosed that the summary schedule of 
prior audit findings, prepared by the auditee, materially misrepresents the status of any prior audit 
finding 

Audit Findings Detail 
The required audit findings must include the following specific information, as applicable: 

 Federal program and specific federal award identification including the Catalog of Federal Domestic 
Assistance (CFDA) title and number, federal award identification number and year, name of federal 
agency, and name of the applicable pass-through entity 

 The criteria or specific requirement upon which the audit finding is based, including the federal 
statutes, regulations, or the terms and conditions of the federal awards 

 The condition found, including facts that support the deficiency identified in the audit finding 
 A statement of cause that identifies the reason or explanation for the condition or the factors 

responsible for the difference between the situation that exists (condition) and the required or 
desired state (criteria), which may also serve as a basis for recommendations for corrective action 

 The possible asserted effect to provide sufficient information to the auditee and federal agency, or 
pass-through entity in the case of a subrecipient, to permit them to determine the cause and effect to 
facilitate prompt and proper corrective action 

 Identification of questioned costs and how they were computed. Known questioned costs must be 
identified by applicable CFDA number(s) and applicable federal award identification number(s). 
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 Information to provide proper perspective for judging the prevalence and consequences of the audit 
findings, such as whether the audit findings represent an isolated instance or a systemic problem. 
Where appropriate, instances identified must be related to the universe and the number of cases 
examined and must be quantified in terms of dollar value. The auditor should report whether the 
sampling was a statistically valid sample. 

 Identification of whether the audit finding was a repeat of a finding in the immediately prior audit 
and, if so, any applicable prior year audit finding numbers 

 Recommendations to prevent future occurrences of the deficiency identified in the audit finding 
 Views of responsible officials of the auditee (not only when there is disagreement with the audit 

finding) 
 A reference number in the format meeting the requirements of the data collection form submission 

to allow for easy referencing of the audit findings during follow-up. 

OTHER REPORTING CONSIDERATIONS 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
The Uniform Guidance requires the auditee to prepare a summary schedule of prior audit findings when 
audit findings were not corrected or were only partially corrected. The summary schedule must describe 
the reasons for the finding’s recurrence and planned corrective action, and any partial corrective action 
taken. Note that this document is prepared by the auditee. The summary schedule of prior audit findings 
must include findings relating to the financial statements, which are required to be reported in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards. 

Corrective Action Plan 
The Uniform Guidance clearly states that the auditee’s corrective action plan must be a separate 
document from the schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Extensions of Due Dates 
Federal agencies no longer have the authority to grant extensions of the due date of reports. 

Data Collection Form 
All federal agencies, pass-through entities, and others interested in a reporting package and data collection 
form must obtain it by accessing the FAC. 

Key Point 

 Subrecipients are no longer required to submit a reporting package to a pass-through 
entity due to the public availability of FAC reporting packages. 
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FEDERAL AUDIT CLEARINGHOUSE 

The FAC must make the reporting packages received available to the public, except for Indian tribes 
exercising the option described in the following section, maintain a database of completed audits, provide 
appropriate information to federal agencies, and follow up with known auditees that have not submitted 
the required data collection forms and reporting packages. 

Exception for Indian Tribes 
An auditee that is an Indian tribe may opt not to authorize the FAC to make the reporting package 
publicly available on a website, by excluding the authorization for the FAC publication in the statement 
described previously. If this option is exercised, the auditee becomes responsible for submitting the 
reporting package directly to any pass-through entities through which it has received a federal award and 
to pass-through entities for which the summary schedule of prior audit findings reported the status of any 
findings related to federal awards that the pass-through entity provided. Unless restricted by federal 
statute or regulation, if the auditee opts not to authorize publication, it must make copies of the reporting 
package available for public inspection. 

PROTECTED PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION 

The Uniform Guidance has guidance regarding the use of personally identifiable information (PII). 
Auditees and auditors must ensure that their respective parts of the reporting package do not include 
protected PII. 

PII is information that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual’s identity, either alone or when 
combined with other personal or identifying information that is linked or linkable to a specific individual. 
Some information that is considered to be PII is available in public sources such as telephone books, 
public websites, and university listings. This type of information is considered to be public PII and 
includes, for example, first and last name, address, work telephone number, email address, home 
telephone number, and general educational credentials. The definition of PII is not anchored to any 
single category of information or technology. Rather, it requires a case-by-case assessment of the specific 
risk that an individual can be identified. Non-PII can become PII whenever additional information is 
made publicly available, in any medium and from any source, that, when combined with other available 
information, could be used to identify an individual. 

Protected PII is defined in the Uniform Guidance as “an individual’s first name or first initial and last name 
in combination with any one or more of types of information, including, but not limited to, Social 
Security number, passport number, credit card numbers, clearances, bank numbers, biometrics, date and 
place of birth, mother’s maiden name, criminal, medical, and financial records, and educational 
transcripts. This does not include PII that is required by law to be disclosed.” 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. Which of the following is not defined in the Uniform Guidance as a type of information considered 
Protected PPI? 

a. Social Security number. 
b. Passport number. 
c. Credit rating. 
d. Place of birth. 
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General Provisions and Pre-Award and  
Post-Award Requirements 
Administrative requirements are found in the following subparts of the Uniform Guidance: 

 Subpart B—General Provisions. 
 Subpart C—Pre-Federal Award Requirements and Contents of Federal Awards.  
 Subpart D—Post-Federal Award Requirements.  

The guidance in these parts is effective upon agency implementation, that is, December 26, 2014.  

The Uniform Guidance requires federal agencies to take a number of actions and to put in place various 
policies and procedures. Requirements for federal agencies to review the merit of an applicant’s proposal 
and the risk posed by the applicant may significantly affect state and local governments and not-for-profit 
organizations. Subpart C suggests that federal awarding agencies may use a risk-based approach when 
making awards. Auditors will need to determine if any such actions have been taken by a federal agency 
or pass-through entity and the effect, if any, on the compliance audit performed under the Uniform 
Guidance requirements.  

Federal awarding agencies are required to review information available through any OMB designated 
repositories of government-wide eligibility qualification or financial integrity information prior to making a 
federal award. A federal awarding agency or a pass-through entity may impose additional specific award 
conditions1, as needed: 

 Based on federal awarding agency review of risk posed by applicants using data from OMB 
designation repositories. 

 When an applicant or recipient  
o has a history of failure to comply with general or specific terms and conditions of a 

federal award. 
o fails to meet expected performance goals. 
o is not otherwise responsible. 

A sampling of the provisions affecting nonfederal recipients of federal awards relating to general 
provisions and to the pre- and post-federal award requirements are as follows: 

 A number of requirements relate to responsibilities of pass-through entities, which somewhat follow 
those required of federal awarding agencies. A few of the more noteworthy responsibilities include 
the requirement to: 

o Evaluate each subrecipient’s risk of noncompliance for purposes of determining 
appropriate monitoring including consideration of whether the subrecipient has new 
personnel or systems. 

o Review financial and programmatic reports required by the pass-through entity. 
o Verify each subrecipient is audited as required by Subpart F. 
o Consider taking enforcement action against noncompliant subrecipients. 

 Nonfederal entities must disclose in writing any potential conflict of interest to the federal awarding 
or pass-through entity. In addition, nonfederal entities must maintain written standards of conduct 
covering conflicts of interest and governing performance of its employees engaged in the selection, 
award, and administration of contracts. 

                                                      

1 A number of additional conditions that may be imposed are listed in the Uniform Guidance. 
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 Nonfederal entities or applicants for a federal award must disclose, in a timely manner, in writing to 
the federal awarding agency or pass-through entity all violations of federal criminal law that could 
affect the federal award that involve fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations. 

 At the end of a federal award, nonfederal entities are required to certify in writing that the project or 
activity was completed or the level of effort was expended. If the required level of activity or effort 
was not carried out, the amount of the federal award is required to be adjusted. 

 Changes in the principal investigator, project leader, project partner, or scope of effort must receive 
the prior written approval of the federal awarding agency or pass-through entity. In addition, 
recipients must request prior approval from federal awarding agencies to change key persons 
specified in the application.  

 Federal award recipients are required to relate financial data to performance accomplishments of the 
federal award; when applicable, recipients must also provide cost information to demonstrate cost 
effective practices. 

 Internal control provisions include the following: 
o Nonfederal entities must (are required to) establish and maintain effective internal 

control that provides reasonable assurance the entity is managing federal awards in 
compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and terms and conditions of the federal 
award. 

o Internal controls over federal awards should (best practice/recommended) be in 
compliance with Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government or the Internal Control 
Integrated Framework issued by COSO.  

o Additionally, internal controls should include reasonable measures to safeguard 
protected personally identifiable information and other information designated by the 
federal awarding agency or pass-through entity as sensitive, or that the recipient 
considers sensitive. 

 Procurement procedure provisions include the following: 
o Nonfederal entities must use their own documented procurement procedures, which are 

to reflect applicable state and local laws and regulations.  
o In addition, nonfederal entities must use one of the following methods of procurement: 

• Procurement by micro-purchases (less than $3,0002 and no quotations required as 
long as the nonfederal entity considers the price to be reasonable). Micro-purchases 
must be distributed equitably among qualified suppliers. 

• Procurement by small purchase procedures (less than the simplified acquisition 
threshold—currently $150,000—and quotations must be obtained from an adequate 
number of qualified sources) 

• Procurement by sealed bids (preferred method for construction contracts) 
submitted in response to formal advertising3 and providing sufficient response time 
prior to the bid opening date 

• Competitive or noncompetitive proposals 
 A nonfederal entity must perform a cost or price analysis for every procurement action in excess of 

the simplified acquisition threshold, including contract modifications. In addition, an independent 
estimate of the cost must be made before receiving bids or proposals. 

                                                      

2 If the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act of 1931 are applicable, this threshold is $2,000. 
3 Only state, local, and tribal governments are required to publically advertise the invitation to bid and to open bids 
publically. 
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Federal Cost Principles 
Subpart E supersedes all existing OMB cost circulars other than previous guidance relating to hospitals. 
In addition, Subpart E makes limited exceptions to the cost principles based on entity type. Auditors will 
need to determine if their clients have received federal funds (directly or from a pass-through entity) from 
any agency with OMB approved implementation changes to the Uniform Guidance. 

Requirements in Subpart E related to direct costs may prove problematic for some nonfederal entities 
that do not have effective cost accounting systems. Direct costs are defined as those that can be 
specifically identified with a particular cost objective such as a federal award or that can be directly assigned 
to such activities relatively easily with a high degree of accuracy (emphasis added). The Uniform Guidance also 
states that the identification of a cost with a federal award (rather than the nature of the goods or services 
received) is the determining factor in distinguishing between direct and indirect costs. 

Some of the more significant requirements relating to the federal cost principles follow. 

 Indirect cost rates 
o Most nonfederal entities that have never received a negotiated indirect cost rate may 

elect to charge a de minimis rate of 10 percent of modified total direct costs, which may 
be used indefinitely. 

o Any nonfederal entity that has a federally negotiated indirect cost rate may apply for a 
one-time extension of a current negotiated indirect cost rate for a period of up to four 
years. 

 Required certifications 
o Annual and final fiscal reports (or vouchers) requesting payment signed by an official 

who is authorized to legally bind the nonfederal entity. The required language for this 
certification is located in section 200.415, Required Certifications. 

o Cost allocation plan or indirect cost rate proposal. 
o For not-for-profit entities only, certifications as appropriate that they did not meet the 

definition of a major corporation as defined in section 200.414, Indirect (F&A) Costs. 

 Collection costs incurred to recover improper payments are allowable as direct or indirect costs. 
 Computing devices are now subject to the less burdensome administrative requirements of 

“supplies” (as opposed to “equipment”) providing the acquisition cost is less than the lessor of 
$5,000 or the capitalization threshold established by the nonfederal entity. 

 Conference costs incurred by a sponsor or host may include the costs of identifying (not providing) 
locally available dependent care resources. Additionally, temporary dependent care costs, above and 
beyond regular dependent care resulting directly from travel to conferences, are allowable under 
certain circumstances. 

 Standards for documentation of personnel expenses include the following: 
o Charges to federal awards must be based on records that accurately reflect the work 

performed. Such records must 

• Be supported by a system of internal control that provides reasonable assurance the 
charges are accurate, allowable, and properly allocated. 

• Be incorporated into the official records of the nonfederal entity. 
• Reasonably reflect the total activity for which the employee is compensated. 
• Encompass both federally assisted and all other activities compensated by the 

nonfederal entity on an integrated basis. 
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 Comply with established accounting policies and practices of the nonfederal entity. 
 Support the distribution of the employee’s salary or wages among specific activities 

or federal award or other cost objective (for employees working on more than one 
federal award, a federal award and a nonfederal award, an indirect cost activity and a 
direct cost activity, and other similar circumstances). 

 Nonfederal entities meeting the previously-noted standards will not be required to provide additional 
support or documentation for the work performed other than that required under U.S. Department 
of Labor regulations implementing the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938. 

o Charges for salaries and wages of nonexempt employees must be supported by records 
indicating the total number of hours worked each day in addition to the previously 
noted documentation requirements. 

 In certain circumstances, states, local governments, and Indian tribes, may use substitute processes or 
systems for allocating salaries and wages to federal awards in place of or in addition to the 
requirements noted previously. 

 When records of a nonfederal entity do not meet the standards prescribed, the federal government 
may require personnel activity reports including prescribed certifications or equivalent 
documentation to support the records required in the cost principles. 

Key Point 

 The requirements found in the Uniform Guidance relating to personal services 
emphasize internal controls and provide less prescriptive guidance on documentation 
primarily in the area of time and effort reporting of employees. 

In addition to the requirements in Subpart E, specific guidance relating to indirect costs, indirect cost 
proposals, and central service cost allocation plans is provided in the following appendixes to the 
Uniform Guidance. 

Appendix III to Part 200 Indirect (F&A) Costs Identification and 
Assignment, and Rate Determination for 
Institutions of Higher Education (IHEs) 

Appendix IV to Part 200 Indirect (F&A) Costs Identification and 
Assignment, and Rate Determination for 
Nonprofit Organizations 

Appendix V to Part 200 

 

State/Local Government-wide Central Service 
Cost Allocation Plans 

Appendix VI to Part 200 Public Assistance Cost Allocation Plans 

Appendix VII to Part 200 States and Local Government and Indian Tribe 
Indirect Cost Proposals 
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OMB Compliance Supplement for Single Audits 
The OMB Compliance Supplement, updated yearly, is one of the most important sources of guidance for the 
auditor performing single audits. The supplement identifies the compliance requirements that OMB and 
the federal agencies expect to be considered as part of a single audit. It provides information for auditors 
to understand federal program objectives, procedures and compliance requirements as well as audit 
objectives and suggested audit procedures for the compliance requirements included in the supplement. 

2016 COMPLIANCE SUPPLEMENT 

As of February 2016, when this chapter was updated, the 2016 Compliance Supplement was not available. 
Information relating to the current status of the 2016 Compliance Supplement may be available through the 
GAQC at www.aicpa.org/GAQC. 

A draft of the 2016 OMB Compliance Supplement was provided to the AICPA GAQC in late December 
2015 with feedback requested from the GAQC by late January 2016. However, due to revisions needed 
that were related primarily to internal control, the full extent of the changes will not be known until the 
document is issued.  

Based on the draft provided to the AICPA GAQC, the 2016 Compliance Supplement does not contain as 
many updates as the 2015 Compliance Supplement. There continue to be changes relating to the 
administrative requirements, cost principles, and audit requirements in the Uniform Guidance.  

A summary of the major changes proposed in the draft Compliance Supplement follows. 

 Part 2, Matrix of Compliance Requirements, is updated to make it consistent with the Table of Contents 
and Part 4, Agency Program Requirements. Compliance requirements are added or deleted from several 
programs based on changes in Part 4. 

 Part 3, Compliance Requirements, updates all references to the COFAR. In addition, the table 
summarizing the applicability of subparts of the Uniform Guidance to different types of awards is 
modified. 

 As with the 2015 Compliance Supplement, Part 3, Compliance Requirements, of the 2016 Compliance 
Supplement includes two sections. Part 3.1 is used when auditing federal awards subject to the 
circulars, that is those awards made prior to December 26, 2014. Part 3.2 is used for auditing federal 
awards subject to the Uniform Guidance administrative requirements and cost principles, that is, 
those awards made on or after December 26, 2014. In addition, the compliance requirements in the 
draft of the 2016 Compliance Supplement are the same as the 12 compliance items in the 2015 Compliance 
Supplement. 

o It is important that auditors use the applicable sections of the Compliance Supplement 
based on which set of requirements apply to the federal award being tested. 

 Part 4 adds and deletes programs and makes changes to a number of existing programs necessary due 
to regulatory or other changes. 

 Part 5 makes updates to the Student Financial Assistance and Research and Development clusters 
and also updates a program name and adds new clusters. 

 Part 6, Internal Control, is still missing but changes from OMB to this section are pending as of the 
date this course was updated. 
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 Appendix VII, Other Audit Advisories, updates the low-risk auditee section coverage of extensions 
based on the non-availability of the Federal Audit Clearinghouse4 during part of 2015. In addition, 
the discussion of large loan and loan guarantee programs on determination of type A programs is 
removed because it is now covered directly by subpart F of the Uniform Guidance. 

AICPA GAQC COMPLIANCE SUPPLEMENT PRACTICE TIPS 

The AICPA GAQC (www.aicpa.org/gaqc) has assembled a list of tips for using the compliance 
supplement. The following information is derived from that list. 

Practice Tips for Using the Compliance Supplement 

1 Be sure you are using the version of the supplement that is effective for the year under 
audit.  

2 As part of your single audit engagement team preparation, hold a planning meeting to 
review the 2016 supplement with your audit team. Focus the review on the programs to be 
audited and any significant changes made to the supplement from the prior year. Appendix 
V of the supplement is particularly useful in identifying the changes made each year. 
Appendix VII should be a key part of the discussion this year as well.

3 The matrix of compliance requirements in part 2 identifies the compliance requirements that 
are applicable to the programs included in the supplement. Many issues with using this part 
of the supplement have been noted in single audit quality reviews. It is important that you 
use it correctly. 

Remember that even though a “Y” within the matrix indicates that a compliance 
requirement applies to a federal program, it may not apply at a particular entity, because 
either that entity does not have activity subject to that type of compliance requirement or 
the activity could not have a material effect on a major program. Therefore, you need to 
exercise professional judgment when determining which compliance requirements marked 
“Y” need to be tested at a particular nonfederal entity. Use part 2 appropriately by 

 using professional judgment; 
 assessing each compliance requirement individually; 
 considering both quantitative and qualitative materiality when deciding whether an 

“applicable” compliance requirement is material to a major program; and 
 documenting the determination of why an applicable requirement is not deemed direct 

and material. Just using an “n/a” or “not direct and material” tick mark is not enough. 
You need to document your logic for making the decision. 

  

                                                      

4 In July 2015, the website that houses the Federal Audit Clearninghouse (FAC) experienced a cyber-attack and was 
shut down. The FAC website reopened December 1, 2015 and further extended the submission of reporting 
packages with due dates between July 22, 2015 and January 31, 2016 to February 1, 2016. This will need to be taken 
into account when determining whether the submission to the FAC was timely filed.   



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 1-25 

Practice Tips for Using the Compliance Supplement (continued) 

4 Because parts 4 and 5 of the supplement do not include guidance for all types of 
compliance requirements that pertain to a program (see introduction to part 4 for additional 
information), you should use those parts in conjunction with parts 2 and 3. 

5 Refrain from using the supplement as a de facto audit program. Remember that the 
supplement includes “suggested” audit procedures. Auditor judgment is necessary to 
determine whether the suggested audit procedures are sufficient to achieve the stated 
audit objectives or whether additional or alternative audit procedures are needed. 
Therefore, you should not consider the supplement to be a “safe harbor” for identifying the 
audit procedures to apply in a particular engagement. A good understanding of your client 
is necessary to be sure you are performing the correct procedures for your client’s facts and 
circumstances. Also, you should understand the various federal programs that your client 
receives to determine whether modifications to the audit approach are necessary. 

 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. The 2015 OMB Compliance Supplement lists how many types of compliance requirements to be 
considered in an OMB compliance audit? 

a. 14. 
b. 11. 
c. 10. 
d. 12. 
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Status of the HUD Consolidated Audit Guide 
Auditors are required to use the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Consolidated 
Audit Guide for Audits of HUD Programs (the guide) for audits of for-profit entities spending federal 
financial assistance provided by HUD. In addition, the guide is used in program-specific audits of 
governmental or not-for-profit entities spending funds under a single HUD program and having no other 
requirement for a financial statement audit. 

Responsibility for the guide rests with the HUD Office of Inspector General. Over the past several years 
the guide has undergone revision on a chapter-by-chapter basis. In some cases, the revisions in a chapter 
are to particular paragraphs of the chapter. In other cases, the revisions are significant enough that the 
entire chapter is reissued. It is important to closely monitor the HUD Office of Inspector General 
website (www.hud.gov/offices/oig/) to access the latest guidance. The following table lists chapters 
issued or reissued through February 2016.  

Chapter Date Issued 

Chapter 1, “General Audit Guidance” May 2013

Chapter 2, “Reporting Requirements and Sample 
Reports”  

March 2013 

Chapter 3, “HUD Multifamily Housing Programs” July 2008

Chapter 4, “Mortgage Insurance for Hospitals 
Program” 

September 2014 

Chapter 5, “Insured Development Cost Certification 
Audit Guidance” 

March 2007 

Chapter 6, “Ginnie Mae Issuers of Mortgage-Backed 
Securities Audit Guidance” 

February 2016 

Chapter 7, “FHA-Approved Lenders Audit 
Guidance” 

May 2014 

Appendix A, ”Attribute Sampling” April 2011
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Changes made in the last few years are effective as follows: 

 Revised chapter 1—Effective for audits of entities with fiscal years ending on or after June 30, 2013 
 Revised chapter 2—Effective for audits of entities with fiscal years ending on or after March 31, 

2013 
 Revised chapter 7—Effective upon issuance (December 2012) for audits of profit-motivated Federal 

Housing Administration approved lenders with fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2012. 
The December 2012 issuance of chapter 7 eliminates chapter 8 from the guide. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. Sample reports are found in which chapter of the HUD guide? 

a. Chapter 1. 
b. Chapter 2. 
c. Chapter 3. 
d. Chapter 4.  

HUD IMPLEMENTATION OF THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

HUD is one of the agencies that received permission for exceptions to the Uniform Guidance 
administrative requirements and cost principles. It is important that the implementing guidance be 
considered by the auditee in determining the requirements for federal awards subject to the Uniform 
Guidance. This information is also needed by the auditor in determining the criteria to be used for testing 
HUD awards. 
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Chapter 2  

GASB ACTIVITIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify recently issued and newly effective accounting standards affecting state and local 
governments. 

 Recognize potential issues and challenges in implementing recently issued and newly effective 
accounting standards applicable to state and local governments. 
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Recent GASB Standards 
The following GASB statements issued in 2015, or previously issued and effective for fiscal periods 
ending in 2015 and 2016, are summarized in this chapter: 

 Effective for government combinations and disposals of government operations occurring in 
financial reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013 

o GASB Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations 

 Effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014 
o GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension Plans 
o GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the 

Measurement Date1 

 Effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015 
o GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application 
o GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets 

That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of 
GASB Statements 67 and 682 

o GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State 
and Local Governments 

o GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants3  

 Effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 
o GASB Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures 
o GASB Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit 

Pension Plans 

Participants should be aware that GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, and Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which are effective for years beginning after June 15, 2016 and 
June 15, 2017, respectively. These standards are not discussed in this course as their effective dates affect 
years ending after 2016. Governments with other postemployment benefit plans—defined benefit and 
defined contribution—administered through trusts are likely to be significantly impacted by these 
statements. Early understanding of the requirements of these statements is encouraged though the 
effective dates are beyond the immediate future. 

In addition, participants should be aware that GASB issued Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for 
Certain Component Units. Though it is effective for fiscal years ending after 2016, it is discussed in this 
course with earlier adoption encouraged. 

In addition to the specific standards indicated here, an appendix to this chapter discusses other GASB 
projects and their status.  

                                                      

1 The provisions of this statement should be applied simultaneously with the provisions of GASB Statement 
No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension Plans. 
2 Provisions addressing employers and governmental nonemployer contributing entities for pensions not within the 
scope of GASB Statement No. 68 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016 with earlier application 
encouraged. 
3 Certain provisions of this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Earlier 
application is encouraged. 
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GASB Statement No. 68 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 
27, issued in June 2012, revised guidance for the financial reports of most pension plans. Although 
GASB Statement No. 67 replaced the requirements of GASB Statement No. 25 relating to reporting by 
defined benefit pension plans, Statement No. 68 is necessary to reflect those changes in the financial 
statements of the sponsoring or participating employer. 

Statement No. 68 is the companion statement to GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension 
Plans—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, and it replaces the requirements of GASB Statement No. 
27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Government Employers, and GASB Statement No. 50, Pension 
Disclosures, as they relate to governments that provide pensions through pension plans administered as 
trusts (or similar arrangements that meet certain criteria). Additionally, GASB Statement No. 68 enhances 
accountability and transparency through new and revised note disclosures and required supplementary 
information (RSI). 

Please note that the requirements of GASB Statement Nos. 27 and 50 remain applicable for pension 
plans that are not covered by the scope of this statement (those that are not administered through trusts) 
until the effective date of GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related 
Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB 
Statements 67 and 68. GASB Statement No. 73 is discussed later in this chapter. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

GASB Statement No. 68 has a significant effect on state and local governments that sponsor defined 
benefit plans that are administered through a trust. For the first time, these governments will be required 
to recognize their long-term obligation for pension benefits as a liability. In addition, GASB Statement 
No. 68 will require state and local governments to more comprehensively and comparably measure the 
annual costs of pension benefits. As measured under this statement, pension expense will likely exceed 
pension expense calculated under the requirements of GASB Statement No. 27. For some governments, 
the increase in pension expense may be significant. 

Cost-sharing Employers 
This statement has a significant effect on state and local governments who participate in a multiple-
employer cost-sharing pension plan sponsored by another government. Prior to the issuance of GASB 
Statement No. 68, governments participating in these types of pension plans provided very limited 
disclosures about these plans. 

Also, measuring the pension expense and any related obligations was relatively straightforward and 
required little effort on the part of the participating government. Many of the requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 68 affect cost-sharing employers as well as governments sponsoring single-employer 
defined benefit plans.  
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Special Funding Situations 
Governments that participate in special funding situations4 are also affected by the requirements of 
GASB Statement No. 68. Both the employer having the pension plan and the nonemployer entity legally 
required to contribute to it will recognize expenses, liabilities, and deferred inflow or outflow of resources 
under the requirements of Statement No. 68. 

Defined Contribution Pension Plans 
GASB Statement No. 68 will also affect state and local governments providing defined contribution 
pension plans. Measurement of pension expense and pension expenditures is revised with this statement 
as well as any related pension liability. Changes to required footnote disclosures relating to these plans 
also may be required under GASB Statement No. 68. 

Key Point 

 

The requirements of GASB Statement No. 68 relating to pension expense and the 
total and net pension liabilities will primarily affect financial statements prepared 
using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.  

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

Much of the guidance in GASB Statement No. 67 is duplicated in GASB Statement  
No. 68. The discussion of GASB Statement No. 68 in this section does not include the 
duplicated information found in GASB Statement No. 67. You are encouraged to review the 
information in GASB Statement No. 67 as you review the information in this section. 

GASB Statement No. 68 addresses accounting and financial reporting for pensions that are provided to 
employees of state and local governmental employers administered through a trust (providing the plan 
has certain characteristics as delineated in both GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68). This statement 
establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and 
deferred inflows of resources, and expenses and or expenditures. 

 

                                                      

4 Special funding situations are defined as circumstances in which a nonemployer entity is legally responsible for 
making contributions directly to a pension plan that is used to provide pensions to employees of another entity or 
entities if one of two specific circumstances exists. If the amount of contributions for which the nonemployer entity 
is legally responsible is not dependent upon one or more events unrelated to pensions, a special funding 
arrangement exists. A special funding arrangement also exists if the nonemployer entity is the only entity with a legal 
obligation to make contributions directly to a pension plan. 
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In addition, GASB Statement No. 68 details the recognition and disclosure requirements for employers 
with liabilities (payables) to a defined benefit pension plan and for employers whose employees are 
provided with defined contribution pensions. The statement also addresses circumstances for a 
nonemployer entity that has a legal requirement to make contributions directly to a pension plan (defined 
as a special funding situation in the statement). 

Key Point 

 

When a plan stand-alone financial report is prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of GASB Statement No. 67, the sponsoring government is not required 
to include the required information identified in the detailed disclosure and required 
supplementary information requirements of GASB Statement No. 67 in the 
government’s financial report. 

However, if the plan does not prepare a stand-alone financial report, GASB Statement 
No. 68 requires the government plan sponsor to include basically the same 
information required in stand-alone reports in its financial reports. 

HOW DOES THIS STATEMENT AFFECT DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS? 

Like GASB Statement No. 67, this statement identifies methods and assumptions that should be used to 
project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and 
attribute that present value to periods of employee service. In addition, GASB Statement No. 68 requires 
new or expanded note disclosures as well as additional required supplementary information. 

Measurement of the total and net pension liabilities required to be recognized under GASB Statement 
No. 68 is the same as that defined in GASB Statement No. 67. Under GASB Statement No. 67, the 
actuarial valuation of the total pension liability is required to be performed at least every two years, with 
more frequent valuations encouraged. For the sponsoring employer, GASB Statement No. 68 requires 
the total pension liability to be determined using either of the following methods: 

 An actuarial valuation as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year end 
 Roll-forward procedures from the date of the actuarial valuation to the date of the employer’s fiscal 

year-end. This update should be made using an actuarial valuation as of a date that is no more than 
30 months and one day earlier than the employer’s most recent fiscal year-end. 
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Key Point 

 

Some local governments that participate in a state sponsored cost-sharing plan may 
have a different fiscal year than that of the state. This will likely need to be considered 
when preparing the local government’s external financial statements. 

For example, a city with a year end of December 31, 2016 may use roll-forward 
procedures to update the state’s actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2014. 
There are 30 months and one day between the date of the state’s actuarial valuation 
and the city’s fiscal year-end, which is the maximum amount of time that is permitted 
if roll-forward procedures are used by the sponsoring and participating government. 

Single and Agent Employers 
When changes occur in the net pension liability, GASB Statement No. 68 requires that these changes in 
the total pension liability be included in pension expense as follows. 

In the period the change occurs include the following: 

 Current-period service cost 
 Interest on the total pension liability 
 Changes of benefit terms are required to be included in pension expense immediately 
 Projected earnings on the pension plan’s investments 
 Over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees 

(active and inactive) that are provided with benefits through the pension plan beginning with the 
current period, include the following: 

o Changes in economic and demographic assumptions or in other inputs 
o Differences between expected and actual experience 

When changes occur in the net pension liability, Statement No. 68 requires that these changes in the net 
pension liability be included in pension expense as follows: Over a closed period of five years, beginning 
with the current period, include differences between the projected earnings on pension plan investments 
and actual experience. 

Certain amounts relating to pension expense and the net or total pension liability are required to be 
reported as deferred outflows or deferred inflows of resources. These items include the following: 

 Changes in the net pension liability not included in pension expense 
 Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension liability5 

                                                      

5 See further discussion of these amounts in the next section of this chapter, “GASB Statement No. 71,” for 
additional clarification relating to employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. What change in total pension liability is not included in pension expense in the current period? 

a. Current period service cost. 
b. Interest on the total pension liability. 
c. Projected earnings on plan investments. 
d. Actual earnings on plan investments. 

Cost-sharing Employers6—No Special Funding Situations 
The requirements discussed previously that relate to single and agent employers are also required for the 
plans of cost-sharing employers but in a somewhat different manner. A cost-sharing plan has pension 
obligations to employees of more than one government though the plan assets are pooled and can be 
used to pay benefits to employees of any participating employer. 

The collective nature of the pension obligations and related plan assets is reflected in GASB Statement 
No. 68 through use of the following terms: 

 Collective net pension liability. This is the liability for benefits provided through special funding 
situations. It is relative to single employer, agent, and cost-sharing plans. 

 Collective pension expense. Certain changes in the collective net pension liability will result in 
collective pension expense. 

 Collective deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. Collective deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions. These amounts arise 
from certain changes in the collective net pension liability.  

A cost-sharing employer is required to recognize its proportionate share of the following in its financial 
statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 
accounting: 

 Collective net pension liability 
 Collective pension expense 
 Collective deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 

Determining a cost-sharing employer’s proportionate share may be problematic for governments that 
participate in a cost-sharing plan. Statement No. 68 requires that the employer’s proportion be 
determined on a basis that is consistent with the manner in which contributions are made to the pension 
plan. If there are separate rates related to separate portions of the collective net pension liability, these 
should be considered in determining the employer’s proportionate share. 

                                                      

6 Accounting and reporting for pensions by cost-sharing employers depends on whether a special funding situation 
exists. Special funding situations are discussed in the next section. 
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Key Point 

 

Although not required, GASB encourages cost-sharing employers to use their 
projected long-term contribution effort compared to the total projected long-term 
contribution effort of all participating employers as the basis for determining their 
proportionate share. However, this data may not be readily available to many 
governments.  

GASB Statement No. 68 requires cost-sharing employers to recognize the following in pension expense 
over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees (active 
and inactive) that are provided with benefits through the pension plan: 

 Change in the employer’s portion of the collective net pension liability 
 Difference (during the measurement period) between the employer’s contributions and its 

proportionate share of the total of contributions from all participating employers that are included in 
the collective net pension liability 

The following amounts are required to be reported as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows 
of resources: 

 Portions of the effects noted previously not included in pension expense 
 Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension liability 

HOW DOES THIS STATEMENT AFFECT SPECIAL FUNDING SITUATIONS? 

Governmental Nonemployer Contributing Entities 
Under the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68, a nonemployer contributing government accounts 
for and reports amounts related to the special funding arrangement similar to that required of cost-
sharing employers. However, special funding situations may be present in single- and agent-defined 
benefit plans as well as in defined contribution plans. 

Regardless of the type of plan, GASB Statement No. 68 requires the nonemployer contributing 
government to measure and recognize the following: 

 Collective net pension liability 
 Collective pension expense 
 Collective deferred outflows of resources and collective deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
 Related footnote disclosures (level of detail depends on the proportion of the collective net pension 

liability recognized by the nonemployer government) 
 10-year schedules of RSI (level of information depends on the proportion of the collective net 

pension liability recognized by the nonemployer government) 
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Nonemployer governments providing funding through a special funding situation may be 
negatively affected by the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68. For example, state 
governments legally required to make contributions directly to local government pension plans 
may account for the annually required contribution on a pay-as-you-go basis. Additionally, the 
contribution may be reported as intergovernmental aid rather than pension expense or 
expenditure. GASB Statement No. 68 requires the state to recognize a collective net pension 
liability, collective pension expense, and any related deferred outflows or deferred inflows of 
resources. 

Employers Having Special Funding Situations 
Governmental employers that receive funds under a special funding situation for defined benefit 
pensions may be significantly affected by the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68. Under this 
statement, the government receiving contributions under a special funding situation for a defined benefit 
pension is required to recognize, adjusted for the involvement of nonemployer contributing entities, the 
following: 

 Pension liability 
 Proportionate share of the collective pension liability 
 Additional expense and revenue for the pension support of the nonemployer contributing entity 
 Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
 Related footnote disclosures 
 10-year schedules of RSI 

HOW DOES THIS STATEMENT AFFECT DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS? 

An employer whose employees are provided with defined contribution pensions is required to recognize 
pension expense and pension liabilities relating to defined contribution plans as follows: 

 Pension expense and pension liability (economic resources statements) 
o Pension expense equal to the amount of contributions or credits to employee accounts 

that are defined by the benefit terms as attributable to employees’ services in the period. 
Contributions and credits are to be net of forfeited amounts that are removed from 
employee accounts. Amounts reallocated to the accounts of other employees are not 
considered forfeited amounts for this purpose. 

o Under GASB Statement No. 27, pension expense or expenditure is equal to the required 
contribution. 

o Change in pension liability equal to the difference between amounts recognized in 
pension expense and amounts paid by the employer to the plan. 

 Pension expenditures and pension liability (current financial resources statements) 
o Pension expenditures are the total of amounts paid by the employer to the plan and the 

change between the beginning and ending balances of amounts normally expected to be 
liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 

o A liability for defined contribution plans is recognized to the extent the liability is 
normally expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 
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HOW DOES THIS STATEMENT AFFECT FINANCIAL REPORTING? 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
GASB Statement No. 68 requires disclosure of the following in the notes to financial statements when 

 the total amounts (aggregate for all pensions) are not otherwise identifiable from the information in 
the financial statements for 

o pension assets and liabilities. 
o deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions. 
o pension expense and or expenditures for the period associated with net pension 

liabilities. 

 the pension plan issues a stand-alone financial report (or the plan is included in the report of a public 
employee retirement system or another government) that is available to the public. If there is such a 
report, information on how to obtain the report should also be included. 

Information in the notes should be disclosed for benefits provided through each single-employer or 
agent pension plan in which the employer participates. Disclosures common to more than one pension 
plan should be combined to avoid unnecessary duplication. 

In some cases, pension plans administered through a trust prepare separate stand-alone financial reports 
for pension plans that are included in the financial report of a government employer. To the extent 
similar information is required by this statement and GASB Statement No. 67, the government employer 
should present the disclosures in a manner that avoids unnecessary duplication. 

This section discusses only the disclosures required by GASB Statement No. 68 that are 
incremental to those required in the stand-alone statements of a pension plan by GASB 
Statement No. 67. Please see GASB Statement No. 67 for more information relating to note 
disclosures. 

Primarily, GASB Statement No. 68 requires additional disclosures for cost-sharing employers that are not 
found in GASB Statement No. 67. The following additional disclosures are required of all cost-sharing 
employers under GASB Statement No. 68: 

 Information about the employer’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. All of 
the components required to be disclosed are the same as those delineated in GASB Statement No. 67 
and include the following: 

o Assumptions and other inputs used to measure total pension liability 
o Information about the discount rate 

 The pension plan’s fiduciary net position similar to that required in GASB Statement No. 67. 
o These disclosures need not be included if information about how to obtain a financial 

report that includes them is available on the Internet (as a stand-alone financial report or 
included as a fiduciary fund in the financial report of another government). In such 
cases, the government employer 

 may reference the other report for these disclosures. 
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 should disclose that the pension plan’s fiduciary net position has been determined 
on the same basis used by the pension plan, and include a brief description of the 
following: 
o Pension plan’s basis of accounting, including the policies with respect to benefit 

payments, refunds of employee contributions, and the valuation of pension plan 
investments. 

o Significant changes that occurred indicating the disclosures included in the 
pension plan’s financial report generally do not reflect the facts and 
circumstances at the measurement date. 

o Information about the substance and magnitude of any significant changes. 

 Other information that should be included is as follows: 
o Amount of the employer’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability 
o For special funding situations, include the following: 

 Portion of the nonemployer contributing entities’ total proportionate amount of the 
collective net pension liability associated with the employer 

 Total amount of the employer’s proportionate share of the collective net pension 
liability 

o Employer’s percentage of the collective net pension liability, the basis on which it is 
determined, and the change in its proportion since the prior measurement date 

o Measurement date of the collective net pension liability, the date of the actuarial 
valuation on which the total pension liability is based, and, if applicable, the fact that 
update procedures were used to roll forward the total 

Required Supplementary Information 

This section discusses only the supplementary information required by GASB Statement No. 68 
that is incremental to that required in the stand alone statements of a pension plan by GASB 
Statement No. 67. Please see GASB Statement No. 67, for more information related to required 
supplementary information in the stand-alone statements of a pension plan. 

The required supplementary information should be presented in 10-year schedules separately for each 
cost-sharing pension plan through which pensions are provided. The information should be determined 
as of the measurement date of the collective net pension liability or the employer’s most recent fiscal 
year-end, as applicable. 

Required supplementary information presented in a 10-year schedule for cost-sharing pension plans 
includes the following: 

 If the employer does not have a special funding situation, include the following: 
o Employer’s proportion (percentage) of the collective net pension liability 
o Employer’s proportionate share (amount) of the collective net pension liability 
o Employer’s covered-employee payroll 
o Employer’s proportionate share (amount) of the collective net pension liability as a 

percentage of the employer’s covered-employee payroll 
o Pension plan’s fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 
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 If the employer has a special funding situation, include the following: 
o Employer’s proportion (percentage) of the collective net pension liability 
o Employer’s proportionate share (amount) of the collective net pension liability 
o Portion of the nonemployer contributing entities’ total proportionate share (amount) of 

the collective net pension liability that is associated with the employer 
o Total of the employer’s proportionate share (amount) of the collective net pension 

liability and the portion of the nonemployer contributing entities’ total proportionate 
share (amount) of the collective net pension liability that is associated with the employer 

o Employer’s covered-employee payroll 
o Employer’s proportionate share (amount) of the collective net pension liability as a 

percentage of the employer’s covered-employee payroll 
o Pension plan’s fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. Which is not a disclosure required of cost-sharing employers under GASB Statement No. 68? 

a. Pension plan’s fiduciary net position. 
b. Employer’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. 
c. Measurement date of the collective net pension liability. 
d. Measurement date of the collective pension expense. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

Provisions of GASB Statement No. 68 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014.  

In the first period that this statement is applied, changes made to comply should be treated as 
an adjustment of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected 
should be restated. It may not be practical for some governments to determine the amounts of 
all deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions at the 
beginning of the implementation period. In such circumstances these deferred amounts should 
not be reported. However, deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources 
related to contributions made after the measurement date are to be reported (see discussion of 
GASB Statement No. 71 later in this chapter). 

If restatement is not practical, the cumulative effect of applying this statement, if any, should be 
reported as a restatement of beginning net position for the earliest period restated. The 
financial statements should disclose the nature of any restatement and its effect, and the 
reasons for not restating prior periods presented should be explained. 

The information for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required by this statement, to 
be presented as RSI may not be available initially. In these cases, during the transition period, 
that information should be presented for as many years as are available. The schedules should 
not include information that is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this 
statement. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

State and local governments sponsoring defined benefit pension plans that are administered through 
trusts have a significant number of issues to address. Early identification of the issues and a plan to 
resolve them in a timely manner is the first step to a smooth implementation of GASB Statement No. 68. 

Governments will need to determine early in the implementation process the human, capital, and 
financial resources needed to address the implementation issues. Because it is likely that additional staff, 
consultant, and actuarial costs will be incurred, inclusion of adequate amounts in the annual budgets of 
the governments and the plans will be critical to effectively addressing the implementation issues. 

General Issues 
A significant amount of coordination between plan administrators and the governments they serve will 
be necessary in the year GASB Statement No. 68 is implemented and every year thereafter.  

Government employers that have the same year-end as the plan issuing stand-alone financial reports will 
need to determine if the plan will issue its report prior to when the government employer plans to issue 
their financial report. For example, if a government employer plans to issue its financial report for the 
year ended June 30, 2016 on December 1, 2016 it will need to ensure the plan’s stand-alone financial 
report is actually available at that time and in the manner referenced7 in the notes of the government 
employer. 

Special Funding Situations 
Governments involved in pension plans encompassing special funding situations may need to coordinate 
with each other to obtain the information they need to implement the requirements of GASB Statement 
No. 68. Coordination may reduce duplication of effort for either the nonemployer providing 
contributions or the employer receiving the contributions. 

Situations may also exist in which special funding situations have been previously identified as such by 
either the nonemployer contributing government or the cost-sharing employer. In such cases, a prior 
period adjustment may be necessary before the restatements that are required by GASB Statement No. 
68 at transition can be determined. 

Cost-sharing Employers 
For cost-sharing employers there are significant implementation issues that governments sponsoring 
single or agent employer plans do not face. Cost-sharing employers do not typically have direct access to 
the plan sponsor or administrator. Consequently they are not in a position to provide input into the 
assumption selection process nor will they be able to assist in determining the timing of the information 
required to implement this statement. 

The first area of concern for cost-sharing employers is obtaining the information they need to measure 
their pension liabilities and pension expense or expenditures. It may be a challenge for these governments 

                                                      

7 If the government employer references the website for the plan’s financial report in the notes to its financial 
statements, the government employer will need to ensure the plan’s report has actually been posted to the 
referenced website. There is often a delay in the issuance of a plan’s report and the posting of the report to the 
applicable website. 
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to obtain the information they need to successfully comply with GASB Statement No. 68 in a timely 
manner. The later they receive the information needed to meet the requirements of this statement, the 
less time they will have to communicate the effect of the statement to their significant stakeholders. 

Determining how to measure the proportionate share of the various required amounts is likely the second 
area of concern for cost-sharing employers. Fortunately, a cost-sharing employer is able to address this 
issue without necessarily needing information from the cost-sharing plan sponsor. Unfortunately, 
information about all employers and all nonemployer contributing entities will be necessary to actually 
determine the proportional percentage to use in measuring the various pension amounts. 

GASB Resources to Assist in Implementation 
GASB has developed an implementation toolkit for pension plans to assist governments in implementing 
the requirements of GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 which are available via the GASB website 
(www.gasb.org). In addition to the summary and full text of GASB Statement No. 68, the toolkit includes 
the following: 

 Guide to Implementation of GASB Statement 68 on Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions 
 Various videos discussing stakeholder outreach in the pension standard process, the top 

implementation issues facing pension plans, and the implementation guide 
 Various podcasts discussing the most significant changes to accounting and financial reporting for 

pension plans 
 Various fact sheets discussing background information and key concepts of GASB Statement No. 68 
 Article, “Keys to Implementation Issues,” which identifies several areas plan administrators and 

public officials should consider as they plan, prepare, and collaborate when implementing both 
GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68 

 Article, “New GASB Pension Statements to Bring about Major Improvements in Financial 
Reporting” 

 Setting the Record Straight, in which answers to common misperceptions about both GASB Statement 
Nos. 67 and 68 are answered 

 Full text of GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 

Other Implementation Resources 
In addition to GASB, the AICPA staff and the AICPA State and Local Governments Expert Panel 
developed guidance (primarily for auditors) relating to the new pension standards 
(see chapter 3 of this course, “AICPA Activities,” for additional information on these efforts). 
The guidance from the expert panel is intended to aid in implementation and development of best 
practices for plan sponsors and participating governments and their auditors. 

In addition to this guidance, the AICPA has updated its Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local 
Governments to include a new chapter discussing the requirements of the standard. AICPA self-study and 
group study courses are also available to assist in implementation of the new pension standards, focusing 
mainly on GASB Statement No. 68. 

The AICPA also has a website of resources available to members through the Governmental Audit 
Quality Center (GAQC). The GAQC has a section titled “Pension Issues and Resources.” The GAQC 
can be accessed by members through the AICPA website at www.aicpa.org. 
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In addition to GASB and the AICPA, the following organizations may also provide information useful to 
governments and their auditors in implementing GASB Statement No. 68. 

 Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (www.gfoa.org) 
 National Association of State Auditors, Controllers and Treasurers (www.nasact.org) 
 National Association of State Retirement Administrators (www.nasra.org) 
 National Association of College and University Business Officials (www.nacubo.org) 
 American Academy of Actuaries (www.actuary.org) 
 Society of Actuaries (www.soa.org). 
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GASB Statement No. 69 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In January 2013, GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government 
Operations, to address issues relating to government combinations and disposals of government operations 
that were not previously addressed in GASB literature. In addition, this statement eliminates conflicting 
accounting and financial reporting guidance relating to certain disposals found in Statement No. 34, Basic 
Financial Statements−and Management’s Discussion and Analysis−for State and Local Governments. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to all state and local governmental entities either initially or in the future when 
events covered by this statement occur. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

GASB Statement No. 69 provides guidance relating to measurement, accounting, and financial reporting 
of government combinations as well as disposals of government operations. The statement also requires 
disclosures to be made about governmental combinations and disposals of government operations to 
enable financial statement users to evaluate the nature and effects of those transactions. In addition, this 
statement provides guidance for transfers of operations that do not constitute entirely legally separate 
entities and in which no significant consideration is exchanged. 

Government Combinations 
Government combinations are arrangements that meet the definition of a government merger, 
government acquisition, or transfer of operations, and meet the service continuation requirements 
provided in GASB Statement No. 69. Government combinations refer to a variety of arrangements 
including mergers and acquisitions and certain transfers of operations. Transfers of operations may be 
present in the following: 

 Shared service arrangements 
 Reorganizations 
 Redistricting 
 Annexations 
 Arrangements in which an operation is transferred to a new government created to provide those 

services 
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GASB Statement No. 69 identifies and defines the following three types of government combinations: 

 Government merger. A government combination of legally separate entities in which no significant 
consideration is exchanged, and either 

o two or more governments cease to exist as legally separate entities and are combined to 
form one or more new governments, or 

o one or more legally separate governments or nongovernmental entities cease to exist and 
their operations are absorbed into, and provided by, one or more continuing 
governments. 

The assets and liabilities in a government merger are measured using their carrying values. 

 Government acquisition. A government combination in which a government acquires another 
entity, or the operations of another entity, in exchange for significant consideration. The consideration 
provided should be significant in relation to the assets and liabilities acquired. The acquired entity or 
operation becomes part of the acquiring government’s legally separate entity. 

In a government acquisition, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured generally based 
upon their acquisition values. Certain assets and liabilities, for example pension and other 
postemployment benefit obligations, compensated absences, and pollution remediation obligations 
are measured at their values determined using guidance in GASB literature. 

 Transfer of operations. A government combination involving the operations (as defined in the 
statement) of a government or nongovernmental entity, rather than a combination of legally separate 
entities, in which no significant consideration is exchanged. Operations may be transferred to another 
existing entity or to a new entity. 

Assets and liabilities acquired or given up in a transfer of operations are measured at carrying values. 

Disposals of Government Operations 
A disposal of a government’s operations results in the removal of specific activities of a government and 
recognition of any resulting gain or loss. The gain or loss should not include adjustments and costs 
associated with the normal operating activities of the operation up to the measurement date. 

Gains or losses from disposals of government operations are recognized as a special item. In the 
governmental fund level statements, the disposal is also recognized as a special item. GASB Statement 
No. 69 provides additional accounting and financial reporting guidance for disposals of government 
operations that have been transferred or sold. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

Statement No. 69 becomes effective for government combinations and disposals of government 
operations occurring in financial reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013. The provisions of 
this statement are required to be applied on a prospective basis. As with many GASB statements, earlier 
implementation of the requirements of this statement is encouraged. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

Because the requirements of this statement are required to be applied on a prospective basis, there are no 
specific implementation issues. Governments and their auditors will need to be familiar with the 
requirements of this statement to recognize when these transactions occur. Additionally, knowledge of 
the characteristics of each type of government combination may prove helpful to the government finance 
officer in structuring these transactions to be in the best interest of the government. 

Accounting changes adopted to conform to the provisions of GASB Statement No. 69 should 
be applied retroactively by restating financial statements, if practical, for all periods presented. 
If restatement of the financial statements is not practical, the cumulative effect of applying this 
statement, if any, should be reported as a restatement of beginning net position or fund 
balance, as appropriate, for the earliest period restated. In the period this statement is first 
applied, the financial statements should disclose the nature of any restatement and its effect. 
Also, the reason for not restating prior periods presented should be explained. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. What is the effective date for GASB Statement No. 69? 

a. Government combinations and disposals of government operations occurring in financial 
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2013. 

b. Government combinations and disposals of government operations occurring in financial 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013. 

c. Government combinations and disposals of government operations occurring in financial 
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2014. 

d. Government combinations and disposals of government operations occurring in financial 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012. 
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GASB Statement No. 71 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date, 
in November 2013 to address an issue regarding application of the transition provisions of Statement 
No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government, or a nonemployer contributing entity in a special 
funding situation, implementing the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement amends GASB Statement No. 68, which requires measurement of the net pension liability 
no earlier than the end of its prior fiscal year. Contributions made between the measurement date of the 
reported net pension liability and the end of the government’s reporting period, are recognized as a 
deferred outflow of resources. Deferred outflows of resources arising from other types of events also 
change a government’s net pension liability. 

At transition to GASB Statement No. 68, it is not necessary for a government to report deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relating to its beginning balances in these 
accounts if it is not practical to determine the amounts of all such items. This could result in a significant 
understatement of a government’s beginning net position and expense in the initial period of 
implementation. 

GASB Statement No. 71 amends GASB Statement No. 68 to require that, at transition, a government 
recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its pension contributions, if any, made 
subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension liability. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

Provisions of GASB Statement No. 71 are effective simultaneously with the provisions of Statement No. 
68. Accordingly, earlier implementation of the requirements of this statement is not permitted. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

To the extent governments had not implemented GASB Statement No. 68 at the time Statement No. 71 
was issued, there are likely no separate implementation issues. Governments should not have to expend 
any significant effort to determine the amount of any pension contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date of the beginning pension liability. 
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GASB Statement No. 72 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In March 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, to address 
accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value measurement. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government for measuring fair value and standards of 
accounting and financial reporting for assets and liabilities measured at fair value. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

 The statement establishes the following definitions: 
o Fair value. The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
o Investment. A security or other asset that a government holds primarily for the purpose 

of income or profit, and its present service capacity is based solely on its ability to 
generate cash, to be sold to generate cash, or to procure services for the citizenry. 
Transaction costs to sell an investment should be treated as period costs (in the period 
the investment is sold) and not as a reduction of an investment’s fair value. 

 Generally, investments should be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Unless specifically 
excluded from a fair value measurement, investments would no longer be valued using amortized 
cost or other measures. 

 Numerous additional disclosures relating to recurring and nonrecurring changes in fair value and 
investments measured using net asset value as a practical means to fair value measurement are 
proposed. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 
2015. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

State and local governments will need to ensure items previously characterized as investments meet the 
definition of an investment as defined in GASB Statement No. 72. In addition, pension plan sponsors or 
administrators will need to ensure that assets characterized as investments in pension plan portfolios also 
meet the definition of an investment. Additionally, state and local governments will need to revise the 
disclosures relating to investments in the year of transition, which may be a lengthy process. 
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GASB Statement No. 73 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In June 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and 
Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement No. 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of 
GASB Statements 67 and 68 to extend the approach to accounting and financial reporting for pension 
under GASB Statement No. 68 to all pensions. In addition, this statement clarifies certain provisions of 
GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government providing defined benefit pensions to employees 
that are not within the scope of GASB Statement No. 68 and or any government holding assets 
accumulated for purposes of providing pensions through defined benefit pension plans not administered 
through trusts. Governments subject to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68 are also affected by 
this statement.  

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

Much of the guidance in GASB Statement No. 73 is similar to that in GASB Statement No. 68. 
Because the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68 are discussed in detail earlier in this 
chapter, this section does not duplicate any such information. You are encouraged to review the 
information in GASB Statement No. 68 as you review the information in this section. 

GASB Statement No. 73 primarily addresses accounting and financial reporting for pensions that are 
provided to employees of state and local governmental employers that are not administered through a 
trust that meets the criteria outlined in GASB Statement No. 68. This statement establishes standards for 
measuring and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, 
and expense and or expenditures. 

Generally, employers that do not have a special funding situation and that provide benefits under defined 
benefit pension plans are required to recognize the following in their financial statements prepared using 
the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. The measurement 
methodology follows that in GASB Statement No. 68. 

 Total pension liability or collective total pension liability 
 Pension expense 
 Deferred outflows of resources as applicable to pensions 
 Deferred inflows of resources as applicable to pensions 
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 Support of noncontributing entities that are not in a special funding situation 
 Notes and required supplementary information similar to that required in GASB Statement No. 68. 

Employers that do have a special funding situation and that provide benefits under defined benefit pension 
plans are required to recognize the following in their financial statements prepared using the economic 
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. The measurement methodology follows 
that in GASB Statement No. 68. 

 Proportionate share of the collective total pension liability 
 Proportionate share of collective pension expense 
 Proportionate share of collective deferred outflows of resources as applicable to pensions 
 Proportionate share of collective deferred inflows of resources as applicable to pensions  
 Deferred outflows of resources for amounts paid by the employer for pensions as they become due 

subsequent to the measurement date of the collective total pension liability and before the end of the 
employer’s reporting period 

 Amounts incurred for pension administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date of the 
collective total pension liability and before the end of the employer’s reporting period 

 Support of nonemployer contributing entities in a special funding situation and not in a special 
funding situation 

 Notes and required supplementary information similar to that required in GASB Statement No. 68 

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions in Stand-Alone Financial Statements of 
Primary Governments and Component Units Providing Pensions through the Same Defined 
Benefit Pension Plan 

Primary governments and component units providing pensions through the same defined benefit 
pension plan are required to recognize the following in their financial statements prepared using the 
economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. Measurement methodology 
follows that in GASB Statement No. 68. 

 Proportionate share of the collective total pension liability 
 Proportionate share of collective pension expense 
 Proportionate share of collective deferred outflows of resources as applicable to pensions 
 Proportionate share of collective deferred inflows of resources as applicable to pensions  
 Deferred outflows of resources for amounts paid by the employer for pensions as they become due 

subsequent to the measurement date of the collective total pension liability and before the end of the 
employer’s reporting period 

 Amounts incurred for pension administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date of the 
collective total pension liability and before the end of the employer’s reporting period 

 Support of nonemployer contributing entities in a special funding situation and not in a special 
funding situation 

 Notes and required supplementary information similar to that required in GASB Statement No. 68 
o GASB Statement No. 73 also has a number of requirements relating to defined 

contribution plans that do and do not have a special funding situation. In addition to 
measurement, recognition, and reporting requirements, this statement requires certain 
note disclosures relating to these defined contribution plans.  
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Assets Accumulated for Purposes of Providing Pensions through Defined Benefit Plans That Are 
Not Administered through Trusts 

Governments holding assets accumulated for pension purposes in a fiduciary capacity should report these 
assets in an agency fund. A liability to participating employers or nonemployer contributing entities 
should be recognized when these assets exceed the liabilities for  

 benefits due to plan members, and  
 accrued investment and administrative expenses.  

Amendments to GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68 

Changes to GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68 resulting from GASB Statement No. 73 clarify certain 
issues arising from the implementation of GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68. Briefly, these changes are 

 Information about investment-related factors significantly affecting trends in the amounts reported in 
notes to the schedules of required supplementary information should be limited to factors the 
pension plan or the participating governments can influence. 

 Information in the contribution-related schedules of required supplementary information should 
exclude any amounts associated with 

o payables to the plan arising in a prior fiscal year, and 
o separately financed specific liabilities8 of the individual employer or nonemployer 

contributing entity, as applicable, to the pension plan. 

 Revenue for the support of a nonemployer contributing entity that is not in a special funding 
situation should be recognized in the reporting period in which such contribution is reported as a 
change in the net pension liability or collective pension liability. This requirement relates to amounts 
reported in financial statements using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis 
of accounting. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement that address accounting and financial reporting by employers and 
governmental nonemployer contributing entities for pensions not within the scope of GASB Statement 
No. 68 are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2016. However, 
requirements addressing financial reporting of assets accumulated for purposes of providing these 
pensions are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2015. Requirements of the statement relating 
to pension plans within the scope of GASB Statement No. 67 or for pensions within the scope of GASB 
Statement No. 68 are also effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 

                                                      

8 Please see GASB Statement No. 73 for a discussion of what separately financed specific liabilities represent. 
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In the first period that this statement is applied, changes made to comply should be treated as 
an adjustment of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected 
should be restated. It may not be practical for some governments to determine the amounts of 
all deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions at the 
beginning of the implementation period. In such circumstances these deferred amounts should 
not be reported. However, deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources 
related to contributions made after the measurement date are to be reported (see previous 
discussion of GASB Statement No. 71). 

If restatement is not practical, the cumulative effect of applying this statement, if any, should be 
reported as a restatement of beginning net position for the earliest period restated. The 
financial statements should disclose the nature of any restatement and its effect, and the 
reasons for not restating prior periods presented should be explained.  

The information for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required by this statement to 
be presented as RSI may not be available initially. In these cases, during the transition period, 
that information should be presented for as many years as are available. The schedules should 
not include information that is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this 
statement. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. Under GASB Statement No. 73, when are employers and governmental nonemployer contributing 
entities for pensions not within the scope of GASB Statement No. 68 required to report assets 
accumulated for purposes of providing such pensions? 

a. Periods beginning after June 15, 2016. 
b. Simultaneous with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68. 
c. Periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 
d. These amounts are not required to be reported; therefore, there is no effective date to report 

them 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

State and local governments sponsoring defined benefit pension plans that are not administered through 
trusts that meet the criteria in GASB Statement No. 68 have a significant number of issues to address. 
Early identification of the issues and a plan to resolve them in a timely manner is the first step to a 
smooth implementation of GASB Statement No. 73.  

Governments will need to determine early in the implementation process the human, capital, and 
financial resources needed to address the implementation issues. Because it is likely that additional staff, 
consultant, and actuarial costs may be incurred, inclusion of adequate amounts in the annual budgets of 
the governments will be critical to effectively addressing the implementation issues. 
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GASB Statement No. 76 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In June 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
for State and Local Governments, to identify the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) in the context of the current governmental reporting environment. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government preparing financial statements in accordance with 
GAAP. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

The statement establishes the priority of pronouncements and other sources of accounting and financial 
reporting guidance a state or local governmental entity should apply. Sources of authoritative GAAP are 
categorized in descending order of authority as follows: 

 Category A  
o Officially established accounting principles (GASB statements and previously issued and 

currently effective interpretations) 

 Category B  
o GASB Technical Bulletins, GASB Implementation Guides,9 and literature of the AICPA 

cleared by the GASB  

Governments should first consider guidance in category A for the accounting treatment for a transaction 
or other event. Governments should consider whether guidance is specified by a source in category B if 
the accounting treatment for a transaction or other event is not specified by any pronouncement in 
category A. In circumstances where the accounting treatment is not specified within an authoritative 
source in category A or category B, governments should consider the following—in order. 

 Accounting principles for similar transactions and or other events within Category A or Category B. 
o This should not be done if such accounting principles  

• prohibit the application of the accounting treatment to the particular transactions 
and or other event, or 

• indicate the accounting treatment should not be applied by analogy. 

                                                      

9 Authoritative material from GASB Implementation Guides is incorporated periodically into the Comprehensive 
Implementation Guide, and when presented in the Comprehensive Implementation Guide, it retains its 
authoritative status. 
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 Nonauthoritative accounting literature that does not conflict with or contradict authoritative GAAP. 
Such sources include 

o GASB Concepts Statements 
o pronouncements and other literature of the  

• Financial Accounting Standards Board 
• Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board 
• International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 
• International Accounting Standards Board 
• AICPA literature not cleared by the GASB 
• Practices that are widely recognized and prevalent in state and local government 
• Literature of other professional associations or regulatory agencies 
• Accounting textbooks, handbooks, and articles.  

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 
2015.  
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GASB Statement No. 77 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In August 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, to address financial 
reporting issues relating to tax abatement agreements. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government involved in tax abatement agreements they have 
entered into or that other governments have entered into that reduce the reporting government’s tax 
revenues. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

The objective of this statement is to provide financial statement users with essential information about 
the nature and magnitude of the reduction in tax revenues through tax abatement programs. A key factor 
in determining whether a transaction meets the definition of a tax abatement is the substance of the 
transaction rather than its form. Accordingly, this statement defines a tax abatement as: 

 A reduction in tax revenues that results from an agreement between one or more governmental 
entities and an individual or entity in which one or more governments promise to forgo tax revenues 
to which they are otherwise entitled and 

 The individual or entity promises to take a specific action after the agreement has been entered into 
that contributes to economic development or otherwise benefits the governments or the citizens of 
those governments.  

Disclosures required by this proposed statement encompass tax abatements resulting from both 
agreements entered into by the reporting government and other governments that reduce the reporting 
government’s tax revenues. 

This statement distinguishes disclosures by “general disclosure principles” and “disclosure requirements.” 
General disclosure principles described in this statement include: 

 Disclosures should distinguish between tax abatements resulting from 
o agreements that are entered into by the reporting government, and 
o agreements entered into by other governments that reduce the reporting government’s 

tax revenues. 

 Tax abatement disclosure information may be provided individually or may be aggregated.  
 Disclosure information for tax abatements resulting from agreements entered into by the reporting 

government should be organized by  
o each major tax abatement program,  
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o government entering into the tax abatement agreement, and  
o specific tax being abated. 

 Disclosure should commence in the period in which a tax abatement agreement is entered into and 
continue until the agreement expires. 

Disclosure should continue if the government made other commitments as part of the tax abatement 
agreement until the government has fulfilled its commitment. For any tax abatement agreements entered 
into by the government, the following disclosures are required:10 

 Name and purpose of the tax abatement program(s), and the specific taxes being abated 
 Authority under which tax abatement agreements are entered into 
 Criteria that make a recipient eligible to receive a tax abatement 
 Mechanism by which the taxes are abated, including 

o how the tax abatement recipient’s taxes are reduced, such as through a reduction of 
assessed value or a refund of taxes paid 

o how the amount of the tax abatement is determined, such as a specific dollar amount or 
a specific percentage of taxes owed 

 Provisions for recapturing abated taxes, if any, including the conditions under which abated taxes 
become eligible for recapture 

 For tax abatement agreements entered into by the reporting government, the types of commitments 
made by the recipients of the tax abatements 

 Gross dollar amount, on an accrual basis, by which the reporting government’s tax revenues were 
reduced during the reporting period as a result of tax abatement agreements 

 For any amounts received or receivable from other governments in association with forgone tax 
revenue the 

o Names of the governments 
o Authority under which the amounts were or will be paid 
o Dollar amount received or receivable from other governments 
o Description of any types of commitments other than to reduce taxes made by the 

reporting government in the tax abatement agreements 
o Description of the most significant individual commitments, other than to reduce taxes, 

made by the reporting government in tax abatement agreements. Information about a 
commitment other than to reduce taxes should be disclosed until the reporting 
government has fulfilled the commitment 

o For tax abatement agreements disclosed individually a brief description of the 
quantitative threshold the government used to determine which agreements to disclose 
individually 

o When information required to be disclosed by this statement is omitted because it is 
legally prohibited from being disclosed, the government should describe the general 
nature of the tax abatement information omitted and the specific source of the legal 
prohibition. 

                                                      

10 Tax abatement agreements entered into by a government’s discretely presented component units that reduce the 
primary government’s tax revenues should be disclosed using these requirements if the primary government 
concludes the information is essential for fair presentation. Otherwise, the tax abatements should be disclosed using 
the disclosures required of a government when tax abatement agreements entered into by other governments reduce 
the reporting government’s tax revenues. 
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Governments are required to disclose the following information relating to tax abatement agreements 
entered into by other governments that reduce the reporting government’s tax revenues. 

 Brief descriptive information including names of governments entering into the agreements and the 
specific taxes being abated. 

 Gross dollar amount, on an accrual basis, by which the reporting government’s tax revenues were 
reduced during the reporting period as a result of tax abatement agreements. 

 For any amounts received or receivable from other governments in association with forgone tax 
revenue the 

o Names of the governments 
o Authority under which the amounts were or will be paid 
o Dollar amount received or receivable from other governments 

 For tax abatement agreements disclosed individually, a brief description of the quantitative threshold 
the government used to determine which agreements to disclose individually 

 When information required to be disclosed by this statement is omitted because it is legally 
prohibited from being disclosed, the government should describe the general nature of the tax 
abatement information omitted and the specific source of the legal prohibition. 
 

Key Point 

 

For purposes of this project, tax abatements are defined as a reduction of or 
exemption from taxes, offered by a government to a specific individual or entity, 
typically for the purpose of spurring economic development.  

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after 
December 15, 2015. This statement applies to notes to the financial statements for all periods presented. 
If application for prior periods presented is not practical, the reason for not applying this statement to 
prior periods presented should be disclosed. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. What is the effective date of GASB Statement No. 77? 

a. Periods beginning after June 15, 2016. 
b. Periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
c. Periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 
d. Periods beginning after December 15, 2016. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

While this statement requires only note disclosures, governments may find it difficult to ascertain all of 
the tax abatement agreements affecting them. This may be especially true of tax abatement agreements 
entered into by other governments that affect their tax revenues. In addition to these potential challenges, 
governments may need a substantial amount of time to read these tax abatement agreements and to find 
the information that is required to be disclosed under this statement. 
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GASB Statement No. 78 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In December 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-
Employer Defined Benefit Plans, to address an issue relating to the availability of data relating to multiple-
employer defined benefit plans that arose during the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to any state or local government employer participating in a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan that generally is not a state or local government pension plan and 
that provides pension benefits to government employees and nongovernment employees. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for defined benefit pensions 
provided to employees through certain cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans. 
This statement applies to such plans that are administered through a trust (as defined in GASB Statement 
No. 68) and that  

 are not a state or local governmental pension plan, 
 are used to provide defined benefit pensions to both employees of state or local governments and to 

employees that are not state and local governmental employees, and 
 have no predominant state or local government employer either individually or collectively with other 

governments providing pensions through the plan. 

State and local governments participating in these plans are required to recognize the following in 
financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus: 

 Pension expense equal to the employer’s required contributions to the plan for the reporting period 
 Payable for unpaid required contributions at the end of the reporting period 
 Pension expense for separate liabilities to the pension plan arising in the reporting period. 

In financial statements prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus, state and local 
governments participating in these plans are required to recognize the following: 

 Pension expenditures equal to the employer’s required contributions to the plan that are associated 
with pay periods within the reporting period 

 Pension expenditures for separate liabilities equal to  
o amounts paid by the employer in relation to the payable, and 
o the change between beginning and ending balances of amounts normally expected to be 

liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 
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 Payables for the following should be recognized to the extent they are normally expected to be 
liquidated with expendable available financial resources: 

o Unpaid required contributions associated with pay periods within the reporting period  
o Portion of any separate liabilities to the pension plan that is due and payable pursuant to 

contractual arrangements or legal requirements 

A number of notes are required to be included in the financial statements including information about 
the plan, benefit terms, contribution requirements, and information relating to the employer’s payables. 
Like cost-sharing multiple-employer plans subject to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68, 
employers participating in these plans are also required to present certain 10-year trend information. A 
schedule of the employer’s required contributions should be presented as required supplementary 
information along with relevant notes. Complete information relating to note disclosures and the 
required supplementary information may be found in the statement. 

Key Point 

 

The provisions of GASB Statement No. 78 only affect governments that participate in 
cost-sharing multiple-employer plans providing pension benefits to governmental and 
nongovernmental members. 
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WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after 
December 15, 2015.  

In the first period that this statement is applied, changes made to comply should be treated as 
an adjustment of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected 
should be restated. It may not be practical for some governments to determine the amounts of 
all deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions at the 
beginning of the implementation period. In such circumstances these deferred amounts should 
not be reported. However, deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources 
related to contributions made after the measurement date are to be reported (see previous 
discussion of GASB Statement No. 71). 

If restatement is not practical, the cumulative effect of applying this statement, if any, should be 
reported as a restatement of beginning net position, fund balance, or fund net position for the 
earliest period restated. In the first period the requirements of this statement are applied, the 
notes should disclose the nature of the restatement and its effect, Also, the reasons for not 
restating prior periods should be disclosed. 

Information presented in the schedule that is required by this statement should include 
information for each of the 10 most recent fiscal years, if practicable. If, during the transition 
period, information is not presented for all 10 fiscal years, the reason for not including the 
required information should be presented in the notes to the schedule. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

State and local governments participating in the types of plans subject to the requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 78 have a number of issues to address. Additionally, the short time between the issue  
date of the statement and its effective date create a sense of urgency for these employers. Early 
identification of the issues and a plan to resolve them in a timely manner is the first step to a smooth 
implementation of GASB Statement No. 78.  
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GASB Statement No. 79 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In December 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool 
Participants, to address accounting and financial reporting for certain external investment pools and their 
participants. Changes in regulatory provisions referenced in previous GASB statements are the impetus 
for this statement.  

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to qualifying external investment pools electing to measure their investments at 
amortized cost for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, this statement establishes accounting and 
reporting standards for state and local governments that participate in these investment pools. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

The statement provides that an external investment pool meeting the criteria that follows may elect to 
measure all of its investments at amortized cost for financial reporting purposes. 

 Transacts with its participants at a stable net asset value per share 
 Meets certain shadow pricing requirements delineated in the statement 
 Meets certain portfolio requirements that are delineated in the statement11 that relate to maturity 

quality, diversification, and liquidity. 

An external investment pool that is significantly noncompliant during the reporting period with the 
requirements in the statement should not measure its investments at amortized cost but should use the 
requirements in paragraph 16 of GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain 
Investments and for External Investment Pools. Professional judgment is used to determine if the 
noncompliance is significant either individually or in the aggregate. 

GASB Statement No. 79 lists the following factors that may indicate noncompliance is significant: 

 Noncompliance was not promptly identified. 
 Noncompliance was due, at least in part, to factors within control of the pool’s management. 
 Noncompliance was not an isolated incident. 
 Necessary corrective or remedial action was not taken promptly. 

 

                                                      

11 The statement has various specific guidance and requirements relating to these portfolio requirements. A detailed 
discussion of these requirements is outside the scope of this chapter and this course. 
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An external investment pool not measuring all of its investments at amortized cost in the previous 
reporting period may elect to change from fair value measurement to amortized cost-based measurement 
in the subsequent reporting period. However, the pool must meet all criteria specified in the statement 
and justify the accounting change in order to make this election. 

GASB Statement No. 79 requires qualifying investment pools measuring its investments at amortized 
cost for financial reporting purposes to disclose certain fair value information as required by GASB 
Statement No. 72. In addition, these pools are required to disclose any limitations or restrictions on 
participant withdrawals.  

Participants in External Investment Pools 

If a qualifying external investment pool measures all of its investments at amortized cost, participants in 
that pool should also measure their investments in the pool at amortized cost for financial reporting 
purposes. Likewise, participants in an external investment pool that measures its investments at fair value 
should also measure their investments in the pool at fair value (as provided in paragraph 11 of GASB 
Statement No. 31). 

Participants in a qualifying external investment pool that measures all of its investments at amortized cost 
should disclose the presence of any limitations and or restrictions on withdrawals in the notes to their 
financial statements. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement are effective prospectively for financial statements for periods beginning 
after June 15, 2015. However, certain provisions relating to certain portfolio quality requirements and 
shadow pricing are effective prospectively for financial statements for periods beginning after  
December 15, 2015.  
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GASB Statement No. 80 

WHY WAS THIS STATEMENT ISSUED? 

In January 2016, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, 
to clarify the financial statement presentation requirements for certain component units. The statement 
enhances comparability of financial statements among state and local governments.  

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS STATEMENT? 

This statement applies to state and local governmental component units organized as not-for-profit 
corporations in which the primary government is the sole corporate member. The statement does not 
apply to component units included in the financial reporting entity pursuant to the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS STATEMENT? 

The statement provides that a component unit should be included in the reporting entity’s financial 
statements as a blended component unit if the primary government is identified in the component unit’s 
articles of incorporation or bylaws as the sole corporate member. 

State and local governments will need to review their records to determine if all applicable blended 
component units are properly identified. 

WHEN IS THIS STATEMENT EFFECTIVE? 

The provisions of the statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2016. Earlier 
application is encouraged.  
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APPENDIX 2A 

CHAPTER 2 CASE STUDY 

 

This appendix is required reading for CPE credit. 
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  Case Study 

The city of Example is required to participate as a cost-sharing employer in the state-sponsored 
multiple employer defined benefit plan. The city is required to implement the requirements of 
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 27, for their fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. 
The state provides the following plan information as of June 30, 2014. 

City of Example pro-rata share of total plan 
contributions  

 7/1/12 through 6/30/13 .004 

 7/1/13 through 6/30/14 .005 

Total collective pension liability  

 6/30/13 $ 500,000,000 

 6/30/14 $ 550,000,000 

Total collective net pension liability  

 6/30/13 $ 300,000,000 

 6/30/14 $ 330,000,000 

Total collective pension expense  

 6/30/13 $ 20,000,000 

 6/30/14 $ 30,000,000 

For the year ending June 30, 2015, the city contributed $100,000 to the state for its share of the 
actuarially-determined contribution for the year. 

Based on the preceding limited information, what pension-related amounts will the city report 
or disclose (or both) at June 30, 2015 and for the year then ended? For purposes of this 
exercise, assume there have been no significant changes in plan benefits, assumed and actual 
rates of return, workforce, and the economy. 
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Chapter 3  

AICPA ACTIVITIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify the risk areas affecting the 2015-2016 audit cycle. 
 Identify the requirements of recently issued Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs). 
 Identify changes to interpretations under the “Independence Rule” of the Code of Professional 

Conduct. 
 Determine the applicability of the AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized 

Entities (FRF for SMEsTM framework). 
 Identify group financial statements and understand how to apply standards relating to audits of group 

financial statements. 

The AICPA’s Center for Plain English (the Center) is available to AICPA members that are also 
members of the Firm Practice Management section (PCPS). The AICPA intends the Center to 
act as a “national office” for small- and medium-sized CPA firms providing accounting and 
auditing services. 

RISK AREAS FOR THE 2015–2016 AUDIT CYCLE 
Although the AICPA’s Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) focuses on high quality financial statements of 
public companies, many of the resources available from the CAQ provide relevant and timely 
information for auditors of state and local governments and not-for-profit entities as well. Late in 2015, 
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the CAQ identified risk areas to help public company auditors address risks quickly and proactively and 
to remind them of relevant considerations for the 2015–2016 audit cycle.1 

Risk areas identified by the CAQ, adapted for auditors of governmental and not-for-profit entities, are as 
follows: 

 Professional skepticism 
 Internal control over financial reporting  
 Risk assessment and audit planning 
 Supervision of other auditors and multi-location audit engagements (group and component auditors) 
 Testing client prepared data and reports 
 Cybersecurity 
 Revenue recognition 
 Auditing accounting estimates—including fair value measurements 
 Related parties and significant unusual transactions 

Professional Skepticism 
It may be difficult for auditors of governmental and not-for-profit entities to exercise the required level 
of professional skepticism when a long-term relationship exists between the auditor and the audited 
entity. Such circumstances may actually represent a familiarity threat that may need to be evaluated under 
the Conceptual Framework established in the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct or in the 2011 
Government Auditing Standards (GAS). If a significant familiarity threat exists, the auditor is required to 
apply safeguards to either eliminate the threat or reduce it to an acceptable level.   

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
In audits of nonpublic entities, the auditor is required to obtain an understanding of the entity and its 
environment, including internal control, during the risk assessment process. The Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) identified the following areas as part of the 2015 inspection cycle, 
which are also relevant to the auditor of governmental and not-for-profit entities: 

 Selecting the appropriate control to test to support the auditor’s conclusion regarding whether the 
entity’s controls sufficiently address the assessed risk of misstatement (selection of controls to test 
was also identified by the PCAOB in a 2013 report on internal control over financial reporting) 

 Responding to the risk of fraud or error detection through testing design effectiveness to determine 
if the company’s controls satisfy the control objectives 

 Testing the operating effectiveness of the controls 

In addition, the PCAOB identified deficiencies relating to the auditor’s failure to assess and respond to 
the risks of material misstatement. Auditors did not always identify the risks sufficiently nor did they 
respond effectively to identified risks. Insufficient documentation relating to completeness, thoroughness, 
and timeliness of consideration of all applicable risks of material misstatement at the relevant assertion 
level were also noted. 

Risk Assessment and Audit Planning Going Concern 
In August 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial 
Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a 

                                                      

1 Obtained January 21, 2016 at www.thecaq.org 
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Going Concern. This ASU provides guidance about management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there 
is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Additionally the standard 
provides for related footnote disclosures. Auditors of not-for-profit entities may need to include audit 
procedures to ascertain whether or not management is required to apply the provisions of this ASU and, 
if applicable, develop appropriate audit procedures. 

In January 2015, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued four audit interpretations relating to the 
auditor’s responsibilities with respect to going concern assertions. These interpretations are discussed 
later in this chapter. 

Like the PCAOB reviews, peer reviews, and reports of inspectors general et al report deficiencies relating 
to the auditor’s assessment to the risks of material misstatement and his or her response thereto. Auditors 
do not always adequately identify risks or respond to them effectively. In some cases, audit 
documentation does not sufficiently document the completeness, thoroughness, and timeliness of the 
auditor’s risk of material misstatement at the assertion level. 

Without adequate documentation, the auditor of governmental or not-for-profit entities may not have 
sufficient evidence to support the opinion on the financial statements. Where there is a long-term 
relationship between the auditor and the entity, the auditor may simply not document certain things 
because they have not changed from the prior year. Audit standards require the auditor to assess the risk 
of material misstatement each year independent of prior experience with the entity. 

Supervision of Component Auditors and Multi-Location Audit Engagements 
The auditor of the group financial statements may involve component auditors (other member firms, 
other audit firms, other offices of their own firm) to assist in the audit of the group financial statements. 
Since the effective date of AU-C section 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements 
(Including the Work of Component Auditors), auditors have consistently not applied the requirements of this 
standard or not applied them correctly. 

AU-C section 600 is applicable in all group audits and because many governmental financial statements 
include the primary government and its component units, AU-C section 600 would be applicable. 
Likewise, AU-C section 600 would be applicable in the audit of the combined or consolidated financial 
statements of a not-for-profit entity. During the engagement continuance and acceptance process the 
engagement partner needs to determine whether the engagement represents the audit of group financial 
statements and respond accordingly.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Based on Staff Audit Practice Alert No. 11, Considerations for Audits of Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting, issued by the PCAOB in October 2013, the CAQ identified seven audit risk areas relating to 
audits of internal control over financial reporting. Typically, auditors of governmental and not-for-profit 
financial statements do not also audit internal control over financial reporting.  

In audits of nonpublic entities, the auditor is required to obtain an understanding of the entity and its 
environment, including internal control, during the risk assessment process. Therefore, the areas 
identified by the CAQ are relevant to auditors of governmental and not-for-profit entities. Areas 
identified by the CAQ that are relevant to the auditor of governmental and not-for-profit entities, are as 
follows: 

 Auditor’s risk assessment 
 Selection of controls to test 
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 Information technology considerations including system-generated data and reports 
 Roll-forward of control testing performed at an interim date 
 Use of the work of internal auditors (including internal audit) 
 Evaluation of identified control deficiencies 

Testing Client-Prepared Data and Reports 
PCAOB inspections report deficiencies in the auditor’s testing of the accuracy and completeness of data 
and reports provided by entity management. This is likely an issue in all audits including those of 
governmental and not-for-profit entities. 

Auditing standards delineate the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to client-prepared data including 
data used in analytical procedures that is financial and nonfinancial in nature. In addition, audit standards 
define the auditor’s responsibilities when he or she has doubts about the authenticity of data. These 
standards may prove challenging for the auditor of governmental and not-for-profit entities when much 
of the data provided may be partially or totally in electronic form. 

Cybersecurity 
This is a serious issue for governmental and not-for-profit entities in part because they may not have 
adequately trained staff in the technology function. Cyber incidents are occurring more frequently and in 
the past year hit the Internal Revenue Service and the Federal Audit Clearinghouse, to name a few. The 
financial statement audit needs to include evaluating risks of material misstatement to a governmental or 
not-for-profit entity’s financial statements due to unauthorized access to its financial management system. 
In the event of a cyber-security related loss, management would need to evaluate the situation for its 
possible effect on the financial statements and related notes.  

Governmental and not-for-profit entities subject to the Uniform Guidance are required to have controls 
in place to protect personally identifiable information. In addition, their auditor is required to assert that 
there is no personally identifiable information in the reporting package submitted to the Federal Audit 
Clearinghouse.  

The AICPA white paper, The Top 5 Cybercrimes, is one resource the AICPA offers to assist with addressing 
cybercrime. It provides an understanding of each of the top five cybercrimes and remedial steps that can 
be taken. It is available under the Interest Areas tab of the AICPA website at www.aicpa.org. 

Revenue Recognition 
Generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) require the auditor to consider revenue recognition as a 
fraud risk and it may also be an audit risk due to misstatements arising from errors. Because many small 
governmental and not-for-profit entities may not have adequately trained staff in the accounting function, 
the latter type of misstatement may be a more common audit risk. That does not mean, however, that a 
lack of accounting expertise by staff of a governmental or not-for-profit entity will preclude the fraud risk 
of revenue recognition. 

For the 2015–2016 audit cycle, governmental and not-for-profit entities may have experienced sluggish 
revenues without a corresponding decline in the need for services. Accordingly, the auditor of these 
entities may need to consider cutoff and classification as relevant assertions.  

Governmental and not-for-profit entities may be operating at reduced staff levels made necessary over 
the last several years. Therefore, auditors of all governmental and not-for-profit entities may need to 
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review internal controls relating to revenue recognition especially if personnel responsible for them have 
changed or the positions have been eliminated. 

Auditing Accounting Estimates—Including Fair Value Measurements 
Governmental and not-for-profit entities measure a number of items at fair value and some estimates of 
those fair values may be more objectively measured than others (for example, shares of stock regularly 
traded on a recognized exchange versus shares of a real estate investment trust). In some cases, 
governmental and not-for-profit entities may use pricing services to assist them in these measurements. 

Auditors are required to evaluate accounting estimates including management estimates of fair value and 
how they were developed. Regardless of how management measures fair value, they are responsible for 
the controls over these measurements. As such, the auditor should evaluate the reliability of the data used 
in developing estimates of fair value regardless of whether management (or a pricing service on their 
behalf) directly or indirectly generates data used in estimating fair value. It is possible that management 
may not have the expertise to effectively oversee and understand fair value measurements generated by a 
pricing service.  

In an effort to reduce fees, a pricing service may simply use a generic model to measure fair value rather 
than developing a unique model for the individual governmental or not-for-profit entity. Auditors will 
need to understand the sources of data and methodology used by a pricing service in order to evaluate 
the accuracy of the fair value estimates2. 

Related Parties and Significant Unusual Transactions 
The PCAOB defines a significant unusual transaction as one that is outside the normal course of business 
or that otherwise appears unusual because of its timing, size, or nature. Both governmental and not-for-
profit entities are required to disclose certain related party transactions. Due to the political nature of 
governmental entities, members of the governing body or other sublevel decision-making bodies may 
change from year to year. Likewise, members of a not-for-profit entity’s board of directors may change. 
The auditor needs to be aware of these changes when performing risk assessment procedures and when 
responding to the risk of material misstatement. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which is not a risk area for 2015–2016 audits of governmental and not-for-profit entities? 

a. Internal control over financial reporting. 
b. Functional allocation of expenses. 
c. Revenue recognition. 
d. Professional skepticism. 

                                                      

2 See chapter 2, GASB Activities, for a discussion of GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 
Application, applicable to state and local governments. 
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Recently Issued Auditing Standards and 
Interpretations 

OVERVIEW 

As of early February 2016, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) has issued the following SASs and 
auditing interpretations in 2015 and early 2016: 

 SAS No. 130, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated With an Audit of 
Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, AU-C section 940) 

 SAS No. 131, Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards No. 122 Section 700, Forming an Opinion 
and Reporting on Financial Statements. 

 Interpretation No. 2, “Sustainability Financial Statements Under Federal Financial Accounting 
Standards—Auditor Reporting,” of AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial 
Statements. 

Though issued during 2014 (and therefore outside the scope of this course), auditors may find it helpful 
to review the following audit interpretations as the relate to Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement 
No. 27, and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update 2014-15, 
Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s 
Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. 

 Interpretation No. 2, “Auditor of Participating Employer in a Governmental Cost-Sharing Multiple-
Employer Pension Plan,” of AU-C section 500, Audit Evidence (AU-C sec. 9500, par. .23 .29) 

 Interpretation No. 3, “Auditor of Participating Employer in a Governmental Agent Multiple-
Employer Pension Plan, ” of AU-C section 500, Audit Evidence (AU-C sec. 9500, par. .30 .36) 

 Interpretation No. 1, “Auditor of Participating Employer in a Government Pension Plan, ” of AU-C 
section 600, Special Considerations Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component 
Auditors) (AU-C sec. 9600, par. .01 .02) 

 Interpretation No. 1, “Auditor of Government Cost-Sharing Multiple Employer Pension Plan, ” of 
AU-C section 805, Special Considerations Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, 
Accounts, or Items of a Financial Statement (AU-C sec. 9805, par. .01 .07) 

 Interpretation No. 2, “Auditor of Governmental Agent Multiple-Employer Pension Plan, ” of AU-C 
section 805, Special Considerations Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts, or 
Items of a Financial Statement (AU-C sec. 9805, par. .08 .12) 

 Interpretation No. 1, “Definition of Substantial Doubt About an Entity’s Ability to continue as a Going 
Concern” (AU-C sec. 9570, par. .01 .02) 

 Interpretation No. 2, “Definition of Reasonable Period of Time” (AU-C section 9570 par. .03 .05) 
 Interpretation No. 3, “Interim Financial Information” (AU-C section 9570 par. .06 .08) 
 Interpretation No. 4, “Consideration of Financial Statement Effects” (AU-C sec. 9570, par. .09 .10) 

These interpretations are available to AICPA members and may be accessed at www.aicpa.org. 
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STATEMENTS ON AUDITING STANDARDS 

SAS No. 130 
SAS No. 130, issued in October 2015, results from the Attestation Clarity Project of the Auditing 
Standards Board (ASB, the Board). During the Attestation Clarity Project, the ASB concluded it would be 
appropriate to move the attestation standards relating to internal control examinations and to reporting 
under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act into GAAS.  

The rationale for this move was that engagements performed under AT section 501, An Examination of an 
Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements (AICPA, 
Professional Standards), are required to be integrated with an audit of financial statements. Attestation 
Interpretation No. 1, “Reporting Under Section 112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
Improvement Act” (AICPA, Professional Standards, AT sec. 9501) was moved into GAAP for this reason 
as well. 

SAS No. 130 reflects, as closely as possible, AT section 501 and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, An 
Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements (AICPA, 
PCAOB Standards and Related Rules, Auditing Standards). The standard also amends various sections in 
SAS No. 122, Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and Recodification. 

Changes in SAS No. 130 include the following: 

 Auditor is required to examine and report directly on the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting. Formerly there was an option to examine and report on management’s assertion 
relating to the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. 

 “Significant class of transactions, account balance, or disclosure” is used in lieu of “significant 
account or disclosure” that was used in AT section 501. This also clarifies that the risk factors 
evaluated in identification of significant classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures and 
their relevant assertions are the same in an audit of internal control over financial reporting as they 
are in a financial statement audit. 

 Like AT section 501, SAS No. 130 allows the auditor to use the work of internal auditors and others. 
The auditor is required to adapt and apply, as necessary, the requirements of AU-C section 610, Using 
the Work of Internal Auditors (AICPA, Professional Standards), including others, in an audit of internal 
control over financial reporting. 

SAS No. 130 is effective for integrated audits for periods ending on or after December 15, 2016. 

Key Point 

 
The requirements of SAS No. 130 do not significantly change the auditor’s 
responsibilities in an integrated audit of internal control over financial reporting from 
those under AT section 501.  
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SAS No. 131 
Issued in January 2016, SAS No. 131 amends SAS No. 122 relating to forming an opinion and reporting 
on financial statements. The SAS clarifies the format of the auditor’s report that should be used when the 
auditor is conducting an audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB but the audit is not under 
the jurisdiction of the PCAOB. 

The standard clarifies that an audit is under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB “if the auditor is required to 
be registered with, and subject to inspection by, the PCAOB.” When the audit is under the jurisdiction of 
the PCAOB, members (of the AICPA) are required, by the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, to 
conduct the audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and not GAAS. 

On the other hand, when the audit is not under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB but the entity desires, or 
is required (agency, regulator, or contractual agreement), to obtain an audit conducted under PCAOB 
standards, members (of the AICPA) are required, by the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, to also 
conduct the audit in accordance with GAAS. 

When the auditor refers to the standards of the PCAOB in addition to GAAS in the auditor’s report, this 
SAS requires the auditor to use the form of the audit report required by PCAOB standards. However, the 
report should be amended to state the audit was also conducted in accordance with GAAS.  

SAS No. 131 is effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after June 15, 2016.  

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. Which statement is true? 

a. The auditor is never permitted to reference both PCAOB and GAAS in the auditor’s report. 
b. The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires members to conduct all PCAOB audits 

under GAAS and PCAOB standards.  
c. SAS No. 130 results from the Attestation Clarity Project. 
d. SAS No. 130 only applies when an audited entity has a stand-alone audit of its internal 

control over financial reporting. 

AUDITING INTERPRETATIONS 

Key Point 

 
Due to the various issues associated with auditing governmental entities sponsoring or 
participating in governmental pension plans, auditors may wish to review the audit 
interpretations issued during 2014 addressing some of these issues.  



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 3-9 

Audit Interpretations Affecting State and Local Governments and Not-for-Profit 
Entities 
During 2015, the ASB did not issue any audit interpretations specifically applicable to state and local 
governments or not-for-profit entities. However, Interpretation No. 2, “Sustainability Financial 
Statements Under Federal Financial Accounting Standards—Auditor Reporting,” of AU-C section 700, 
Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, relates to sustainability financial statements required 
by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB). 

Interpretation No. 2, “Sustainability Financial Statements Under Federal Financial Accounting 
Standards—Auditor Reporting,” of AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on 
Financial Statements  

Standards of the FASAB require that the statement of long-term fiscal projections be presented in the 
consolidated financial statements of the U.S. government as a basic financial statement. This statement 
focuses on forward-looking information relating to actuarial present value of the U.S. government’s 
estimated future income to be received and future expenditures to be paid. Information for the statement 
is drawn from information in the current statement of social insurance and the statement of changes in 
social insurance amounts. These two statements and the statement of long-term fiscal projections are 
collectively referred to as the sustainability financial statements. 

Issued in October 2015, this interpretation allows an auditor to report on these basic financial statements 
in accordance with GAAS. In addition, the interpretation provides illustrative examples of the auditor’s 
report that could be issued in these circumstances. 
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Outstanding Exposure Documents 
As of early February 2016, the ASB did not have any outstanding proposed SASs. 
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Activities of the State and Local Government  
Expert Panel 
The AICPA’s State and Local Government Expert Panel (the Panel) brings together parties 
knowledgeable in the state and local governmental environment to deliberate and come to agreement on 
key state and local government issues. As such, the Panel protects the public interest and serves the needs 
of AICPA members on financial and business reporting and audit and attest matters. 

Pension Implementation Issues 

In the past few years the Panel has been instrumental in developing insights and tools for preparers and 
auditors of state and local governmental financial statements to use in implementing GASB’s recently 
effective pension standards. The Panel issued several white papers during 2014 which led, in some cases, 
the ASB to issue a series of audit interpretations relating the auditor’s responsibilities relating to 
governmental pension plans. 

As governments and their auditors began planning for and implementing the requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—An Amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, 
during 2014 and 2015, a number of questions arose. One issue of interest throughout 2015 was the 
accounting for contributions made by employers on behalf of employees. Upon discussion of the issue 
and arriving at a consensus opinion, the Panel developed an article, SLGEP: Emerging Pension Issues,3 
which was published by the AICPA Government Audit Quality Center in October 2015. 

Six issues are discussed in the article with the one of most interest and relevance relating to the effect of 
employer-paid member contributions. The issues discussed in the article are as follows: 

 Implementation issues for cost-sharing employers: Calculating a change in proportion and audit 
evidence on beginning net position liability 

 Effect of employer-paid member contributions on plans and employers 
 Additional illustrative schedule of pension amounts by employer for cost-sharing plans 
 Employer’s presentation of net position 
 Allocation of pension amounts to funds and departments 
 Audit evidence on intra-entity allocations 

The GASB received a number of inquiries relating to the effect of employer-paid member contributions 
after this article was issued. As a result, the GASB added this item to its existing project relating to 
pension benefit issues. In December 2015, the GASB issued an exposure draft addressing three pension 
issues, one of which relates to the classification of employer-paid member contributions. The exposure 
draft proposes that employer contributions made on behalf of plan members generally be classified as 
plan member contributions for purposes of GASB Statement No. 67 and as employee contributions for 
purposes of GASB Statement No. 68. The entire exposure draft is available at www.gasb.org and you are 
encouraged to follow this project to determine its effects. A final standard is expected in March 2016. 

AICPA Audit & Accounting Guide, State and Local Governments  

Each year the AICPA publishes a series of audit & accounting guides, one of which relates to state and 
local governments. The Panel is instrumental in the update process relating to the state and local 

                                                      

3 This article is another auditing publication as defined in AU-C section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor 
and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards) and 
also provides nonauthoritative accounting guidance. 
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government guide. At the time this course was written, the Panel and AICPA staff were in the process of 
updating the guide for 2016.   

In the 2015 version of the guide, a new chapter was added, Defined Benefit Plans (Plan and Employer 
Considerations), to address issues governments and their auditors face in this area. This chapter included 
three parts and appendixes as follows: 

 Part 1: Accounting and Auditing Considerations for Audits of Pension Plans 
 Part 2: Employer Accounting, Financial Reporting, and Auditing Considerations: Single & Agent Employers 
 Part 3: Employer Accounting, Financial Reporting, and Auditing Considerations: Cost-Sharing Employers 
 Appendixes  

o Two of the Panel’s white papers issued in 2014 are included in this section. 
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Changes to Interpretations Under the  
Independence Rule 

INTERPRETATIONS OF THE “NONATTEST SERVICES” SUBTOPIC OF THE 

“INDEPENDENCE RULE” 

In 2013, following a lengthy due process period and extensive deliberations, the Professional Ethics 
Executive Committee (PEEC) of the AICPA revised one of the interpretations in the “Nonattest 
Services” topic (ET sec. 1.295) of the “Independence Rule” (ET sec. 1.200.001) and added a new 
interpretation.  

Key Point 

 
The changes to the “Nonattest Services” interpretation are effective for engagements 
covering periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. Therefore, these changes 
will need to be reviewed and evaluated to avoid any independence issues for periods 
beginning with calendar year 2015 and fiscal year 2015–2016. 

One change to the “Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.010) 
delineates certain nonattest services that are consistent with certain nonaudit services in generally 
accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS). A summary of these revisions follows. 

 Performing attest services often involves communication between the member and client 
management. However, the following communications are considered a normal part of the attest 
engagement and are not subject to the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
section of the interpretation: 

o Client’s selection and application of accounting standards or policies and financial 
statement disclosure requirements 

o Appropriateness of the client’s methods used in determining the accounting and 
financial reporting 

o Adjusting journal entries that the member has prepared or proposed for client 
management consideration 

o Form or content of the financial statements 

 The member should exercise judgment in determining whether his or her involvement has become 
so extensive that it would constitute performing a separate service that would be subject to the 
Interpretation’s “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” section. 

For example, activities such as financial statement preparation, cash-to-accrual conversions, and 
reconciliations are considered outside the scope of the attest engagement. These activities constitute 
nonattest services; however, providing such services would not impair independence provided the 
requirements of interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic are met. 
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Key Point 

 
Changes to the “Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services” interpretation include 
specifically identifying financial statement preparation, cash-to-accrual conversions, 
and reconciliations as nonattest services. As such, to maintain independence when 
performing these services, members must comply with the interpretations of the 
“Nonattest Services” subtopic, including the “General Requirements for Performing 
Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 12.295.040) and the “Documentation 
Requirements When Providing Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.050). 

The other change to the “Nonattest Services” subtopic of the “Independence Rule” is the addition of the 
“Cumulative Effect on Independence When Providing Multiple Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET 
sec. 1.295.020). This interpretation requires the member to consider the effect of multiple nonattest 
services on independence. A summary of these new provisions follows. 

 Performing multiple nonattest services that individually would not impair independence (because the 
safeguards in the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation reduce 
the self-review and management participation threats to an acceptable level) can increase the 
significance of these threats to independence. 

 Before agreeing to perform nonattest services, the member should evaluate whether the performance 
of multiple nonattest services, in the aggregate, creates a significant threat to independence (that 
cannot be reduced to an acceptable level by applying the safeguards in the “General Requirements 
for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation). 

 When a member determines the threats are not at an acceptable level, safeguards, in addition to the 
safeguards in the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation, should 
be applied to eliminate them or reduce them to an acceptable level. 

 If no safeguards are available to eliminate or reduce threats to an acceptable level, independence will 
be impaired. 

 For purposes of this interpretation, the member is not required to consider the possible threats created 
due to the provision of nonattest services by other network firms within the member’s firm’s network. 

Key Point 

 
The addition of the “Cumulative Effect on Independence When Providing Multiple 
Nonattest Services” interpretation requires an evaluation be done each time a 
member is asked to perform another nonattest service. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. The changes and addition to the interpretation of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic of the 
“Independence Rule” will be effective for years beginning after which of the following dates? 

a. December 15, 2011. 
b. February 15, 2012. 
c. December 15, 2013. 
d. December 15, 2014. 

NEW INTERPRETATION, “BREACH OF AN INDEPENDENCE INTERPRETATION ” 

In addition to making the revisions to the interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic, as 
discussed in the previous section, the PEEC issued a new interpretation, “Breach of an Independence 
Interpretation” (ET sec. 1.298.010) that is effective March 31, 2016, but early implementation is 
permitted. This interpretation provides guidance to members in public practice concerning a breach of an 
independence interpretation. 

Before the new interpretation, a breach of an interpretation of the “Independence Rule” required a 
member’s firm to resign from an attest engagement regardless of the consequences of the breach. 
However, the PEEC believes that the public interest is not served if a firm is forced to resign from an 
attest engagement due to a breach of an independence interpretation if the consequences of the breach 
are such that they do not affect the attest engagement team’s integrity, objectivity, and professional 
skepticism. 

The interpretation makes the following points: 

 It is not always possible to address the consequences of a breach of an independence interpretation. 
 If a member follows the proposed guidance and believes to have satisfactorily addressed the 

consequences of a breach, that does not preclude a potential investigation or enforcement action. 

For the provisions of the interpretation to be able to address the consequences of a breach of an 
independence interpretation, the firm must be compliant with Quality Control section 10, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Control (AICPA, Professional Standards), which requires the firm to have established policies and 
procedures. Such policies and procedures must be designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance 
that the following individuals and entities maintain independence when required: 

 the firm, 
 its personnel, and 
 when applicable, others subject to independence requirements. 

This would include policies and procedures designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that it 
is notified of breaches of an independence interpretation and to enable it to take appropriate actions to 
resolve such situations. 

The interpretation states that no action can be taken to satisfactorily address the consequences of a 
breach when the threat to independence resulting from the breach is significant. In this context, 
significant refers to a breach that comprises the attest engagement team’s integrity, objectivity, and 
professional skepticism. 
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Depending upon the significance of the breach it may be  

 necessary to terminate the attest engagement, or 
 possible to take action that satisfactorily addresses the consequences of the breach.  

Key Point 

 

When determining if satisfactory action could be taken to address the consequences 
of a breach, the responsible individual must consider whether a reasonable and 
informed third party would be likely to conclude that the attest engagement team’s 
integrity, objectivity, and professional skepticism would not be compromised. 

Those charged with governance must be satisfied that the actions to be taken to address the breach are 
appropriate. In addition, they must believe that the actions to be taken satisfactorily address the 
consequences of the breach for the firm to continue the attest engagement. 

The proposed guidance requires the responsible individual to document certain factors involving the 
breach, including the communication to those charged with governance. Such documentation should 
include the following: 

 documentation of the breach, 
 actions taken, and 
 matters discussed. 

This interpretation applies to breaches identified on or after the effective date of March 31, 2016 (early 
implementation is permitted). 

The full text of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct and all related interpretations are 
available at www.aicpa.org. 
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Enhancing Private-Entity Audit Quality 
CPAs in public practice face challenges in providing high-quality audits of the financial statements of 
private entities in such complex environments. To address these challenges the AICPA launched its 
Enhancing Audit Quality (EAQ) Initiative in May 2014 and released a related EAQ discussion paper on 
August 7, 2014. The EAQ Initiative is a multi-faceted effort to address auditing in an increasingly 
complex business environment. Due to the potential for the proposals to have a far-reaching effect on 
not only current practice but financial statement preparers and users, the AICPA solicited feedback on 
the plan through November 7, 2014. 

Additional information regarding the EAQ Initiative is available at www.aicpa.org. 

The EAQ Initiative is a six-point plan to improve audit quality and by doing this preserve the prominent 
and respected role the CPA in public practice plays in the business community. The six-point plan with 
some of the major points addresses the following areas: 

 Pre-licensure 
o New version of the CPA exam in 2017 with changes to the exam platform beginning in 

July 2016 
o Focus on changes to college-level accounting education 

 Standards and ethics 
o Quality control standards implementation support 
o Revisions to audit report 
o Ethics code codification 

 CPA learning and support 
o Competency models for audits and tools 

 Benefit plans 
 Governmental 

o Certificate programs 

 Peer review 
o Focus on greater risk industries and areas 
o More remediation 

 Practice monitoring of the future 
o Near real-time ongoing monitoring of firm quality  

 Enforcement 
o Aggressive investigation of all referrals 
o Enhanced coordination with state boards of accountancy 

The plan will consist of the following two phases: 

 Phase I focuses on improving audit quality in the near term. 
 Phase II centers on reforming the current peer review program. 
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The near and longer term plans and proposals that are expected to most significantly affect and change 
financial statement audits of private entities include the following: 

 Competence and due care 
 Auditing and quality control standards 
 Guidance, tools, learning, and resources 
 Practice monitoring (peer review) 
 Ethics enforcement 

PHASE I—IMPROVING AUDIT QUALITY IN THE NEAR TERM 

Because of the critical nature of the initiative, the AICPA Peer Review team is taking immediate action 
on the following two initiatives: 

 Identifying emerging industries and high priority audit areas 
 Applying a combination of outreach, training, and robust peer reviews in those industries and areas 

To identify “deep dive” areas or emerging industries and risk areas, the Peer Review team reviewed and 
carefully analyzed the following: 

 Data gathered in peer reviews 
 Environmental scans of regulatory, legislative, and business reporting 
 Information gathered from 

o AICPA audit quality centers, practice centers, and internal teams; and 
o other stakeholders. 

From this analysis the initial proposed emerging industries and risk areas identified include the following: 

 Independence as it relates to non-attest services provided to audit clients. 
Particular focus will be on the safeguard relating to the sufficiency of the client skills, knowledge, and 
experience to oversee such services. 

 Sufficiency of audit evidence especially as it relates to 
o internal controls, 
o risk assessment including linkage to financial statement assertions, and 
o sampling. 

 Employee benefit plan audits including both Employee Retirement Income Security Act and 
government pensions. 

 Municipalities,4 in particular those that issue securities. 
o Because of recent SEC charges relating to these entities, peer reviewers will focus on 

financial statement audits of municipal issuers. Particular attention will be placed on 
determining 
 whether the financial statements properly reflect generally accepted accounting 

principles and 
 that auditors followed professional standards. 

                                                      

4 States, local governments, and certain not-for-profit and for-profit conduit borrowers all constitute entities that 
may issue “municipal debt.”  
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In November 2015, the AICPA Peer Review Board issued an exposure document, Proposed Changes to 
the AICPA Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer Reviews: Improving Transparency and 
Effectiveness of Peer Review, with a comment deadline of January 31, 2016. As part of the Enhancing Audit 
Quality initiative, the proposals are intended to assist audit firms in increasing their focus on their systems 
of quality control—specifically the proper design and operating effectiveness of those systems. 
Additionally, the proposals intend to reinforce the need for adequate planning and preparation for a peer 
review by both firms and peer reviewers. 

The following changes are proposed in the exposure document. 

 Supplement existing guidance for the parties involved in the peer review process relating to 
nonconforming engagements (peer reviewer, reviewed firm, technical reviewer, Report Acceptance 
Body). 

 Enhance the peer review of the firm’s system of quality control to better assist the team captain and 
the firm in identifying systemic causes and appropriate remediation of nonconforming engagements 
and systemic weaknesses. 

 Clarify the  
o timing of when peer review results should be communicated to the firm to allow time 

for the firm to identify appropriate remediation. 
o guidance for drafting descriptions of findings, deficiencies, and significant deficiencies. 
o peer review report model and provide greater transparency on the results of the review. 
o required firm representations for System and Engagement Reviews. 
o information the AICPA and administering entities may provide about a review to third 

parties. 

PHASE II—REFORMING PEER REVIEW 

This phase of the EAQ Initiative is longer term in nature and involves a new approach to and 
development of a new practice-monitoring technology platform. The new approach and technology are 
expected to enable firms to monitor themselves regarding whether they are meeting quality targets. Peer 
reviewers would be able to conduct more comprehensive analyses and provide more timely feedback 
using the planned technology platform. 

In addition, the concept for peer review will change but the principles are expected to enhance audit 
effectiveness ensuring the following: 

 Highlighting of potential quality risk indicators and detecting engagement issues earlier 
 Reviewing of all firms that perform accounting, auditing, and attestation engagements 
 Monitoring of all engagements subject to review 
 Continuous analytical evaluation of engagement performance 
 Human review when system-identified concerns are raised 
 Involvement of external monitors when necessary 
 Periodic inspection of system integrity 
 Oversight of the system’s operating effectiveness  
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GOVERNMENT AUDIT COMPENTENCY RESOURCES 

Working together, the AICPA’s Member and Learning Competency Team and the Government Audit 
Quality Center (GAQC) developed a number of tools and resources over the past year relating to 
competency in government auditing. The following discusses the tools and resources resulting from this 
collaboration. 

Governmental Competency Model 
The AICPA Competency Framework: Governmental Auditing will help CPAs understand the knowledge and 
skills needed to perform high-quality audits of the financial statements of state and local governments. 
Competencies are organized into five core skill sets—client acceptance, engagement planning, 
engagement analysis and testing, concluding the engagement, and guiding principles—and the specific 
skills within each. For each core skill, skill levels are identified as foundational, intermediate, advanced, 
and expert. The AICPA Competency Framework: Governmental Auditing may be downloaded at no 
cost at www.aicpa.org. 

Knowledge Checks and Targeted Learning Resources 
Knowledge checks and targeted learning resources relating to government engagements are now included 
in the AICPA/CIMA Competency and Learning web site. Currently, the following topics and subtopics 
have been addressed in the knowledge checks. 

 Government Financial Statement Audits  
o GASB accounting requirements 
o Audit risk assessment 
o Opinion units and materiality 
o Sampling 
o Group audits 
o Pensions 
o Fair value 

 Single Audits  
o Single audit requirements 
o Major program determination 
o Schedule of expenditures of federal awards 
o Materiality 
o Internal control 
o Compliance testing 
o Sampling 
o Findings 

In 2016, the AICPA expects to offer an exam-based single audit certificate program as another way for 
highly proficient practitioners to distinguish themselves in the marketplace and among their peers and 
colleagues.  
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AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- 
and Medium-Sized Entities 
In mid-2013 the AICPA released Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities (FRF for 
SMEs framework). The FRF for SMEs framework was developed by a task force of CPA practitioners 
and professionals serving and working as small- and medium-sized entities and the staff of the AICPA. 
Although it was adopted and released after a public comment period, the FRF for SMEsTM framework 
has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any technical committee of the AICPA 
or the FASB. Therefore, the framework has no official or authoritative status. 

The FRF for SMEs accounting framework is a special purpose framework, as defined in AU-C  
section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose 
Frameworks, for small- and medium-sized entities. It is a self-contained financial reporting framework not 
based on accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). As such, it draws 
upon a blend of traditional accounting principles and accrual income tax methods of accounting and 
utilizes historical cost as its primary measurement basis. In addition, it may provide management with a 
suitable option when choosing accounting policies that will better meet the needs of the end users of 
their financial statements. 

Being an intuitive and understandable framework for small business owners and the users of their 
financial statements, the FRF for SMEs framework lays out principles that encourage the use of 
professional judgment in the particular circumstances of a transaction or event. It may be a cost-
beneficial solution for management, owners, and others who either 

 are not required to prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP for external reporting 
purposes, or 

 do not require information based in U.S. GAAP for internal reporting and decision-making 
purposes. 

Key Point 

 The FRF for SMEs framework is not authoritative accounting guidance and may be 
used only when an entity is not required to present external financial statements 
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  

WHAT IS A SME? 

The FRF for SMEs framework does not specifically define a SME (small- to medium-sized entity). 
However, the term was first introduced by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) when 
International Financial Reporting Standards for SMEs was introduced in July 2009. 
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Though not all-inclusive, characteristics of typical entities that may utilize the FRF for SMEs framework 
include the following: 

 Entity does not have regulatory reporting requirements that essentially require it to use U.S. GAAP-
based financial statements. 

 Majority of the owners and management of the entity have no intention of going public. 
 Entity is organized for the purpose of making a profit. 
 Entity may be owner-managed. 
 “Owner-managed” means a closely held company in which the people who own a controlling 

ownership interest in the entity are substantially the same people who run the company. 
 Management and owners of the entity rely on a set of financial statements to confirm their 

assessments of performance, cash flows, and of what they own and what they owe. 
 Entity does not operate in an industry in which it is involved in transactions that require highly-

specialized accounting guidance, such as financial institutions and governmental entities. 
 Entity does not engage in over-complicated transactions. 
 Entity does not have significant foreign operations. 
 Key users of the entity’s financial statements have direct access to the entity’s management. 
 Users of the entity’s financial statements may have greater interest in cash flows, liquidity, statement 

of financial position strength, and interest coverage. 
 Entity’s financial statements support applications for bank financing when the banker 

o does not base a lending decision solely on the financial statements. 
o also considers available collateral or other evaluation mechanisms not directly related to 

the financial statements. 

The full text of Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities is available for no 
charge at www.aicpa.org. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. The AICPA issued Financial Reporting Framework for Small- to Medium-Sized Entities in which year? 

a. 2011. 
b. 2012. 
c. 2013. 
d. 2014. 
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Audits of Group Financial Statements 

This section provides an overview of the key components of AU-C section 600, Special 
Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component 
Auditors) (AICPA, Professional Standards). Additionally, areas of AU-C section 600 that are the 
most misunderstood or misinterpreted are also discussed. Where relevant, reference is made to 
the corresponding question and answer provided in Technical Questions and Answers (Q&A) 
section 8800, Audits of Group Financial Statements and Work of Others (AICPA, Technical 
Questions and Answers5). 

You are encouraged to review the full text of AU-C section 600 to fully understand the auditor’s 
responsibilities relating to audits of group financial statements. 

One of the areas significantly affected by the ASB’s Clarity Project relates to audits of group financial 
statements. Previous audit standards addressed the principal auditor’s responsibilities when part of the 
audit was performed by other auditors. However, the clarified standards related to the audits of group 
financial statements are much broader than previous guidance. AU-C section 600 introduces a number of 
new terms, concepts, and requirements related to audits of group financial statements that will 
significantly affect current practice. 

A number of questions have been directed to the AICPA Technical Hotline regarding audits of group 
financial statements. Some of the more common inquiries relate to the following: 

 Recognizing group financial statements 
 Identifying groups, components, and significant components 
 Responsibilities of the group engagement partner and group engagement team 
 Factors to consider when determining whether to assume responsibility for the work of component 

auditors 
 Requirements applicable in all audits of group financial statements 
 Responsibilities of the group engagement team when reference is made to the work of the 

component auditor and when the group engagement partner assumes responsibility for the work of 
the component auditor 

 Special circumstances arising in audits performed under GAGAS  
 Required communications between the group engagement team and the component auditor(s) 

OVERVIEW OF AU-C SECTION 600 

Group financial statements include the financial information of more than one component, which is 
broader in concept than consolidated or combined financial statements. A component is an entity  
(or business activity) for which group or component management prepares financial information that is 
required to be included in the group financial statements. It is a broader concept than in current audit 

                                                      

5 Formerly AICPA, Technical Practice Aids. Note: All Q&A sections are from AICPA, Technical Questions and Answers. 
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standards and may include, but is not limited to, subsidiaries, geographical locations, divisions, 
investments, products or services, functions, or processes. 

Q&A section 8800.12, “Criteria for Identifying Components” points out that in the audit of a 
governmental entity, a component may be a separate legal entity reported as a component unit 
or part of the governmental entity, such as a business activity, department, or program. 

The auditor who performs work on the financial statements, or financial information, of a component is 
referred to as the component auditor rather than an “other auditor.” Accordingly, the “auditor of the 
group financial statements” replaces the concept of the “principal auditor.” 

Some practitioners may not realize that the requirements of AU-C section 600 may apply even 
when they utilize other offices of their firm or when there is only one engagement team 
involved in the audit of group financial statements. Q&A section 8800.24 points out a number 
of areas requiring consideration in these situations as well as all group audits. 

Additionally, AU-C section 600 establishes requirements that apply to all audits of group financial 
statements whether or not reference is made to the work of the component auditor. However, there are 
additional specific procedures that are applicable when the auditor of the group financial statements 
assumes responsibility for the work of a component auditor. 

Key Point 

 

The auditor’s responsibilities in audits of group financial statements under AU-C 
section 600 are significantly different from prior standards when part of an audit was 
performed by other independent auditors. Because AU-C section 600 is much broader 
than previous standards, it is important for auditors to fully understand the 
requirements of the new standard well in advance of accepting or continuing 
engagements to audit group financial statements.  

It should be noted that the phrase “group auditor” is inappropriate because, by definition, a group 
includes more than one component. A “group audit” is an audit of the financial statements of a group 
and “group financial statements” represent the financial information of more than one component. 
Therefore, there is no “group auditor,” only the “group engagement partner” who is responsible for both 
of the following: 

 Group audit engagement (versus audits of the components) and its performance 
 Auditor’s report on the group financial statements and the “group engagement team” 
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Engagement Acceptance or Continuance 
Under AU-C section 600, the determination as to whether to accept or continue the group audit 
engagement is based on whether the auditor believes sufficient appropriate audit evidence over the group 
financial statements will be obtained (including whether the group engagement team will have 
appropriate access to information). In the prior standards, this determination was based on whether the 
auditor would be able to sufficiently participate in the group audit in order to be the principal auditor. 

In the audits of group financial statements, the auditor’s belief that sufficient appropriate evidence will be 
obtained is, by necessity, predicated on the work to be performed by the group engagement team and any 
component auditors. As such, the group engagement partner’s decision as to whether to assume 
responsibility for the work of any component auditors is critical to acceptance or continuance of the 
engagement. 

Key Point 

 

Q&A section 8800.03, “Deciding to Act as Auditor of Group Financial Statements,” 
identifies the following factors that may be relevant for the group engagement partner 
to consider when deciding to act as the auditor of the group financial statements: 

 Individual financial significance of the components 
 Extent to which significant risks of material misstatements of the group 

financial statements are included in components 
 Extent of the group engagement team’s knowledge of the overall financial 

statements 

Decision to Assume Responsibility for Work of Component Auditors 
In general, AU-C section 600 provides guidance for when the auditor of the group financial statements 
assumes responsibility for the work of a component auditor and when the auditor does not assume 
responsibility for the work of a component auditor. The decision to assume or not assume responsibility 
for the work of a component auditor should be made by the group engagement partner. 

When the auditor of the group financial statements assumes responsibility for the work of a component 
auditor, no reference is made to the component auditor in the auditor’s report on the group financial 
statements. Alternatively, when the auditor of group financial statements does not assume responsibility 
for the work of a component auditor, the auditor will reference the audit of the component auditor in the 
auditor’s report on the group financial statements. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. Which statement is not true? 

a. AU-C section 600 does not change existing audit standards relating to principal and other 
auditors. 

b. AU-C section 600 addresses the implementation of GASB Statement No. 72. 
c. AU-C section 600 is one of the most misunderstood and misapplied of the clarified auditing 

standards. 
d. AU-C section 600 introduces a number of new terms relating to audits of group financial 

statements. 

REQUIREMENTS IN ALL AUDITS OF GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Regardless of whether the auditor’s report on the group financial statements will reference the audit of a 
component auditor, the group engagement team has certain responsibilities with respect to any 
component auditor. The group engagement team should obtain an understanding of the following in all 
audits of group financial statements: 

 Whether a component auditor understands and will comply with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to the group audit and, in particular, is independent 

 The group engagement team may also need to determine that a component auditor is independent 
under GAGAS when such standards are applicable. 

 Component auditor’s professional competence 
 Extent, if any, to which the group engagement team will be able to be involved in the work of the 

component auditor 
 Whether the group engagement team will be able to obtain information affecting the consolidation 

process from a component auditor 
 Whether a component auditor operates in a regulatory environment that actively oversees auditors 

Significant Components 
It is the responsibility of the group engagement team to identify components that are significant. The 
group engagement team may identify a component as a significant component based on its individual 
financial significance to the group. Alternatively, the group engagement team may identify a component 
as a significant component because its specific nature or circumstances are likely to include significant 
risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements. 
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Key Point 

 

Q&A section 8800.13, “Criteria for Identifying Significant Components,” points out 
that qualitative considerations of significance in audits of governmental organizations 
may include matters of heightened public sensitivity such as national security issues, 
donor-funded projects, or reporting tax revenue. While not specifically included in 
Q&A section 8800.13, such qualitative considerations may be appropriate in audits of 
not-for-profit entities as well. 

The group engagement team may apply a percentage to a chosen benchmark as an aid to identify 
components that are of individual financial significance to the group. Depending on the nature and 
circumstances of the group, appropriate benchmarks relevant to group financial statements of not-for-
profit entities might include the following: 

 Assets 
 Cash flows 
 Revenues 
 Expenses 
 Net increase in specific classes of or total net assets 

In an audit of group financial statements for a governmental organization, the auditor does not report on 
the financial statements of the governmental reporting entity as a whole. Therefore, it may not be 
appropriate for the group engagement team to use entity-wide type benchmarks such as total assets or 
total revenues to identify components that are of individual financial significance to the group. 
Appropriate benchmarks relevant to group financial statements of governmental organizations might 
include 

 assets of government type activities, business type activities, major funds, or aggregate non-major 
funds; 

 cash flows of various enterprise funds; 
 revenues of government type activities, business type activities, major funds, or aggregate non major 

funds; 
 expenditures and expenses of government type activities, business type activities, major funds, or 

aggregate non-major funds; net increase in specific components of net position or fund balance; or 
 net costs or total budget. 

In the context of governmental and not-for-profit entities, components might be significant because of 
their nature or circumstances, for example, if 

 they include multiple alternative investments; 
 they have considerable transactions reported at fair value; 
 grants constitute a major portion of revenues or expenses and expenditures; 
 previous experience indicates a high risk of noncompliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and 

grant agreements; 
 new programs or revenue sources are significant to total expenses and expenditures and revenues, 

respectively; or 
 entities or business activities of concern to elected officials, board members, regulators, grantors, or 

the public. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

6. Who makes the decision to make reference to the work of the component auditor? 

a. Group engagement team. 
b. Group engagement partner. 
c. Group engagement team and group engagement partner. 
d. Component auditor for the largest significant component. 

Materiality 
Materiality is established during the overall group audit strategy phase of the engagement by the group 
engagement team. In the context of a group audit, materiality, including performance materiality, is 
established for both the group financial statements as a whole and the financial information of the 
components. 

Component materiality need be established only for those components the group engagement 
team will perform, or for which the auditor of the group financial statements will assume 
responsibility for the work of a component auditor who performs an audit or review. 

It is necessary to consider all components when determining component materiality regardless of 
whether reference is made to the audit of the component auditor in the auditor’s report on the group 
financial statements. Different materiality may be established for different components and the aggregate 
component materiality may exceed group materiality. 

However, to reduce the risk that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements in the group 
financial statements exceeds the materiality for the group financial statements as a whole, component materiality 
should be lower than the materiality for the group financial statements as a whole. Component performance 
materiality should be lower than performance materiality for the group financial statements as a whole. 

Lower Levels of Materiality 
In certain circumstances materiality is established for particular classes of transactions, account balances, 
or disclosures in the group financial statements. For example, this lower level of materiality should be 
established when, in the specific circumstances of the group, material misstatements of lesser amounts 
than materiality (for the group financial statements as a whole) could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of the users of the group financial statements. The group engagement team 
should also establish the threshold above which misstatements cannot be regarded as clearly trivial to the 
group financial statements. 
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Key Point 

 

In the context of an audit of group financial statements, materiality, including 
performance materiality, is established by the engagement team at a number of 
different levels during the overall group strategy phase of the audit. Materiality is 
established for both the group financial statements as a whole and the financial 
information of the components.  

Subsequent Events 
Group management is responsible for recognition and disclosure of subsequent events affecting the 
group financial statements and component management is likewise responsible for subsequent events 
that affect their respective financial information. However, AU-C section 600 requires the group 
engagement team, or the component auditors performing audits on financial information of components, 
to perform procedures related to subsequent events affecting components. 

The group engagement team or the component auditors should perform procedures designed to identify 
events at components that occur between the dates of the financial information of the component and 
the date of the auditor’s report on the group financial statements that may require adjustment to, or 
disclosure in, the group financial statements. 

Key Point 

 When not assuming responsibility for the work of the component auditor, the group 
engagement can request only the component auditor to provide information that may 
have a significant effect on the group financial statements or the auditor’s report 
thereon. This may be especially problematic when the fiscal period of the group differs 
from that of a component. 

Disclosure of subsequent events relating to a component that are significant to the 
group financial statements is the responsibility of group management. 

Sufficiency of Audit Evidence 
When the group engagement team concludes that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has not been 
obtained on which to base the group audit opinion, the group engagement team may (1) request a 
component auditor to perform additional procedures or (2) perform its own procedures on the financial 
information of the component. AU-C section 600 establishes procedures for the group engagement team 
and the group engagement partner with respect to evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of the 
audit evidence obtained by the group engagement team and the component auditor. 
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Communications From the Group Engagement Team to the Component Auditor 
For all audits of group financial statements, the communication from the group engagement team to the 
component auditor should include the following: 

 A request that the component auditor, knowing the context in which the group engagement team 
will use the work of the component auditor, confirm that the component auditor will cooperate with 
the group engagement team. 

 The ethical requirements relevant to the group audit and, in particular, the independence requirements. 
 A list of related parties prepared by group management and any other related parties of which the 

group engagement team is aware. The group engagement team should request the component 
auditor to communicate on a timely basis related parties not previously identified by either group 
management or the group engagement team. Additionally, the group engagement team should 
identify such additional related parties to other component auditors. 

 Identified significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements, due to fraud or 
error, which are relevant to the work of the component auditor. 

 A request that the component auditor communicate matters relevant to the group engagement team’s 
conclusions to the group engagement team. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

7. What is true about component materiality? 

a. It is determined only for components that will be referenced in the auditor’s report on the 
group financial statement. 

b. It is not a relevant concept in audits of group financial statements. 
c. It is not addressed in AU-C section 600. 
d. It is determined only for components that the group engagement team will perform, or for 

which the auditor of the group financial statements will assume responsibility for the work 
of a component auditor. 
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Key Point 

 Q&A section 8800.10, “Terms of the Group Audit Engagement,” identifies the 
following matters that may be included in the terms of the group audit engagement: 

 Whether reference will be made to the audit of a component auditor 
 Arrangements to facilitate the following: 

o Unrestricted communication between the group engagement team and 
component auditors 

o Communication to the group engagement team of important 
communications between 
o component auditors, those charged with governance of the 

component, and component management 
o regulatory authorities and components related to financial 

reporting matters 

Communications From the Component Auditor to the Group Engagement Team 
The group engagement team should ascertain that the component auditor’s communication of matters 
relevant to the group engagement team’s conclusion includes the following: 

 Whether the component auditor complied with ethical requirements relevant to the group audit, 
including independence and professional competence 

 Identification of the financial information of the component on which the component auditor is reporting 
 Component auditor’s overall findings, conclusions, or opinion 

The group engagement team should evaluate the component auditor’s communication and discuss 
significant findings and issues identified with the component auditor, component management, or group 
management as appropriate. In addition, the group engagement team should evaluate whether sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence has been obtained from both 

 the audit procedures performed on the consolidation process, and 
 work performed by the group engagement team and the component auditors on the financial 

information of the components on which to base the group audit opinion. 

Additionally, the group engagement partner should evaluate the effect on the group audit opinion of any 

 uncorrected misstatements either identified by the group engagement team or communicated by the 
component auditor, and 

 instances in which an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence exists. 



3-32 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

Key Point 

 Q&A section 8800.28, “Lack of Response From a Component Auditor,” points out that 
the lack of response from a component auditor does not, by itself, preclude the group 
engagement partner from deciding to make reference to the audit of the component 
auditor. However, it may be more difficult for the group engagement team to obtain 
an adequate understanding of the component auditor in this circumstance. 

REQUIREMENTS WHEN NOT ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE WORK OF 

COMPONENT AUDITORS 

If the group engagement partner decides not to assume responsibility for the work of a component 
auditor, the auditor’s report on the group financial statements should reference the audit of the 
component auditor. However, the auditor’s report on the group financial statements should not make 
reference to a component auditor unless the 

 group engagement partner has determined that the component auditor has performed an audit of the 
financial statements of the component in accordance with the relevant requirements of GAAS, and 

 the component auditor has issued an auditor’s report that is not restricted as to use. 

If the component’s financial statements are prepared using a different financial reporting framework 
from that of the group, reference to the audit of a component auditor in the auditor’s report on the 
group financial statements should not be made unless the 

 measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure criteria that are applicable to all material 
items in the component’s financial statements under the financial reporting framework6 used by the 
component are similar to the criteria that are applicable to all material items in the group’s financial 
statements under the financial reporting framework used by the group; and 

 the group engagement team has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence for purposes of 
evaluating the appropriateness of the adjustments to convert the component’s financial statements to 
the financial reporting framework used by the group without the need to assume responsibility for, 
and, therefore, be involved in, the work of the component auditor. 

Additionally, the group engagement team is precluded from making reference to the audit of a 
component auditor in the auditor’s report on the group financial statements when 

 a component auditor does not meet the independence requirements that are relevant to the audit of 
the group financial statements, or 

                                                      

6 GASB and FASAB provide for the inclusion of component units in the financial statements of a governmental 
reporting entity in certain circumstances. The auditor of the group financial statements of a government is 
permitted to refer to an audit performed by a component auditor on component unit financial statements that are 
prepared in accordance with a different financial reporting framework when the provisions established by GASB or 
FASAB (that require inclusion of the component unit financial statements in the financial statements of the primary 
government) have been followed. 
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 the group engagement team has serious concerns about whether a component auditor understands 
and will comply with the ethical requirements, including independence, that are relevant to the group 
audit or about a component auditor’s professional competence. 

This requirement may be troublesome when the group financial statements are required to be 
audited under GAAS and GAGAS. The OMB requires that the reporting entity for purposes of 
applying the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and 
Non-Profit Organizations (Circular A-133), be the same as the financial reporting entity. In 
addition, Circular A-133 requires that compliance audits subject to Circular A-133 be performed 
under GAGAS, which incorporates GAAS. 

The state and local government financial reporting entity and consolidated or combined 
financial statements of not-for-profit entities may meet the definition of group financial 
statements and may involve component auditors. In that case, the requirements of AU-C 
section 600 would apply and the group engagement team and all component auditors may be 
required to meet the independence requirements established in GAAS and GAGAS. 

Therefore, it is possible that the independence requirements in GAGAS could apply to a 
component auditor at the level of the group financial statements even though GAGAS did not 
apply to the component auditor in the audit of the component’s separate stand-alone financial 
statements. If the financial information for such a component was significant to the group 
financial statements, the auditor’s report on the group financial statements could not reference 
the work of the component auditor unless the component auditor had performed the audit of 
the component’s separate stand-alone financial statements in accordance with GAGAS. 

When the group engagement partner decides, and is able, to make reference to the audit of a component 
auditor in the auditor’s report on the group financial statements, the group engagement team should 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence with regard to such components by performing the 
applicable procedures in AU-C section 600. In addition, the group engagement team should read the 
component’s financial statements and the component auditor’s report thereon to identify significant 
findings and issues and, when considered necessary, communicate with the component auditor in that 
regard. 

Key Point 

 Q&A section 8800.18, “Determining Component Materiality,” emphasizes that when 
not assuming responsibility for the work of a component auditor, the group 
engagement team does not establish materiality for the component auditor to use in 
their separate report on a component’s financial statements. 
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Effect on the Auditor’s Report on the Group Financial Statements 
When the group engagement partner decides to make reference to the audit of a component auditor in 
the auditor’s report on the group financial statements, the report on the group financial statements 
should clearly indicate the following: 

 That the component was not audited by the auditor of the group financial statements but audited by 
the component auditor 

 The magnitude of the portion of the financial statements audited by the component auditor 
 When the component’s financial statements are prepared using a different financial reporting 

framework from that used for the group financial statements, and 
o the financial reporting framework used by the component, and 
o that the auditor of the group financial statements is taking responsibility for evaluating 

the appropriateness of the adjustments to convert the component’s financial statements 
to the financial reporting framework used by the group. 

 When the 
o component auditor’s report on the component’s financial statements does not state that 

the audit of the component’s financial statements was performed in accordance with 
GAAS or the standards promulgated by the PCAOB and 

o the group engagement partner has determined that the component auditor performed 
additional audit procedures to meet the relevant requirements of GAAS 

• the set of auditing standards used by the component auditor; and 
• additional audit procedures were performed by the component auditor to meet the 

relevant requirements of GAAS. 
When naming a component auditor in the auditor’s report on the group financial statements the 
component auditor’s express permission should be obtained and the component auditor’s report should 
be presented with that of the auditor’s report on the group financial statements. 

When the component auditor modifies his or her opinion, or has included an emphasis-of-matter or 
other-matter paragraph in his or her report on the financial statements of the component, the auditor of 
the group financial statements should determine the effect this may have on the auditor’s report on the 
group financial statements. When appropriate, the auditor of the group financial statements should 
modify the opinion on the group financial statements or include an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter 
paragraph in his or her report on the group financial statements. 

REQUIREMENTS WHEN ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE WORK OF 

COMPONENT AUDITORS 

When the group engagement partner decides to assume responsibility for the work of component 
auditors, no reference is made to the work of a component auditor in the auditor’s report on the group 
financial statements. AU-C section 600 establishes a number of additional procedures that the group 
engagement team is required to perform when assuming responsibility for the work of component 
auditors. 
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However, the group engagement team is precluded from using the work of a component auditor when 
either of the following situations exists: 

 A component auditor does not meet the independence requirements that are relevant to the group audit. 
 The group engagement team has serious concerns about whether a component auditor understands 

and will comply with the ethical requirements, including independence, that are relevant to the group 
audit or about a component auditor’s professional competence. 

In addition to the procedures that are required in all audits of group financial statements, additional 
specific procedures are required when assuming responsibility for the work of component auditors in the 
following areas: 

 Establishing component materiality 
 Determining the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the component 
 Identifying and performing audit procedures for significant components 
 Identifying and performing audit procedures for components that are not significant 
 Involvement of the engagement team in the work of the component auditor 
 Communications with the component auditor 

Key Point 

 

The group engagement team is required to perform additional audit procedures 
related to components when they are assuming responsibility for the work of the 
component auditor(s). 

Materiality 
The group engagement team should evaluate the appropriateness of performance materiality at the 
component level. Like component materiality, component performance materiality should be lower than 
performance materiality for the group financial statements as a whole. 

Determining the Type of Work to Be Performed on the Financial Information of 
Components 
For components for which the group engagement partner decides to assume responsibility for the work 
of component auditors, the group engagement team should determine the following: 

 Type of work to be performed by the group engagement team or by component auditors on its 
behalf on the financial information of the components 

 Nature, timing, and extent of its involvement in the work of the component auditors 
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Key Point 

 Q&A section 8800.21, “Factors Affecting Involvement in the Work of a Component 
Auditor,” points out the following might be considered when determining the level of 
involvement in the work of the component auditor: 

 Significance of the component 
 Identified significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial 

statements 
 Group engagement team’s understanding of the component auditor 

Significant Components 
Components are considered for significance by the group engagement team in all audits of group 
financial statements. For components that are significant due to their individual financial significance to 
the group, the group engagement team (or a component auditor on its behalf) should perform an audit, 
adapted as necessary, of the financial information of the component using component materiality. 

“Adapted as necessary” means the group engagement team may determine something less than a 
complete audit of a component’s financial statements will provide sufficient audit evidence for purposes 
of reporting on the group financial statements. Therefore, AU-C section 600 allows the group 
engagement team to adapt the requirements of an “audit” as necessary to meet their needs with respect to 
the financial information of the component. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

8. Which statement is true? 

a. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and 
component auditors in all audits of group financial statements. 

b. AU-C section 600 requires no communication between the group engagement team and 
component auditors in all audits of group financial statements group engagement team. 

c. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and only 
the component auditors whose work will be referenced in the audit report of the group 
financial statements. 

d. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and only 
the component auditors for whom the group engagement partner will assume responsibility 
for their work. 
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For components that are significant because they are likely to include significant risks of material 
misstatement of the group financial statements due to their specific nature or circumstances, the group 
engagement team (or a component auditor on its behalf) should perform one of more of the following: 

 An audit of the financial information of the component (adapted as necessary to meet the needs of 
the group engagement team) using component materiality 

 An audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions, or disclosure relating to the likely 
significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements (adapted as necessary to 
meet the needs of the group engagement team) 
Specified audit procedures relating to the likely significant risks of material misstatement of the group 
financial statements 

Components That Are Not Significant Components 

For components that are not significant components, the group engagement team should perform 
analytical procedures at the group level. Depending on the circumstances of the engagement, the financial 
information of the components may be aggregated at various levels for purposes of the analytical 
procedures. Results of these analytical procedures corroborate the engagement team’s conclusions that 
no significant risks of material misstatement exist of the aggregated financial information of components 
that are not significant. 

The group engagement team may determine that sufficient appropriate audit evidence will not be 
obtained solely from the analytical and other procedures specified in AU-C section 600. In these cases, 
the group engagement team should select additional components that are not significant (the individual 
components selected should vary over time) and perform one or more of the following: 

 An audit of the financial information of the component (adapted as necessary to meet the needs of 
the group engagement team) using component materiality 

 An audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions, or disclosure relating to the likely 
significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements (adapted as necessary to 
meet the needs of the group engagement team) 

 A review of the financial information of the component (adapted as necessary to meet the needs of 
the group engagement team) using component materiality 

 Specified audit procedures relating to the likely significant risks of material misstatement of the group 
financial statements 

Involvement of the Group Engagement Team in the Work Performed  
by Component Auditors 
When a component auditor performs an audit (or other specified audit procedures) of the financial 
information of a significant component, the group engagement team should be involved in the risk 
assessment of the component. The purpose of this involvement is for the group engagement team to 
identify significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements. 

The nature, timing, and extent of this involvement are affected by the group engagement team’s 
understanding of the component auditor but at a minimum should include the following: 

 Discussing the component’s business activities that are of significance to the group with the 
component auditor or component management 

 Discussing the susceptibility of the component to material misstatement of the financial information 
due to fraud or error with the component auditor or component management 

 Reviewing the component auditor’s documentation of identified significant risks of material 
misstatement of the group financial statements 



3-38 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

Significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements may be identified in a 
component for which the auditor of the group financial statements is assuming responsibility for the 
work of the component auditor. In such circumstances, the group engagement team should evaluate the 
appropriateness of the further audit procedures to be performed in response to such identified risks. 
Additionally, the group engagement team should determine whether it is necessary to be involved in the 
further audit procedures (based on its understanding of the component auditor). 

Subsequent Events 
Recognition or disclosure of subsequent events affecting the group financial statements is the 
responsibility of group management and likewise the responsibility of component management in the 
component financial statements. When component auditors perform work other than audits of the 
financial information of components at the request of the group engagement team, the group 
engagement team is required to request the component auditors to notify the group engagement team of 
certain circumstances. 

Key Point 

 

The group engagement team should request that the component auditor 
communicate events at the component (that may require an adjustment to, or 
disclosure in, the group financial statements) that occur between the dates of the 
financial information of the component and the date of the auditor’s report on the 
group financial statements. 

Additional Communications From the Group Engagement Team to the  
Component Auditor 
When the auditor of group financial statements is assuming responsibility for the work of a component 
auditor, the communication should set out the work to be performed and the form and content of the 
component auditor’s communication with the group engagement team. In the case of an audit or review 
of the financial information of the component, component materiality (and the amount[s] lower than the 
materiality for particular classes of transactions, account balances, or disclosures, if applicable) and the 
threshold above which misstatements cannot be regarded as clearly trivial to the group financial 
statements should also be included in this communication. 

The group engagement team should request that the component auditor include the following in their 
communication to the group engagement team: 

 Whether the component auditor has complied with the group engagement team’s requirements 
 Information on instances of noncompliance with laws or regulations at the component or group level 

that could give rise to material misstatement of the group financial statements 
 Significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements, due to fraud or error, 

identified by the component auditor in the component and the component auditor’s responses to 
such risks (the group engagement team should request the component auditor to communicate such 
significant risks on a timely basis) 

 A list of corrected and uncorrected misstatements of the financial information of the component 
(misstatements below the threshold for clearly trivial misstatement need not be included) 
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 Indicators of possible management bias regarding accounting estimates and application of accounting 
principles 

 Description of any identified material weaknesses and significant deficiencies in internal control at 
the component level 

 Other significant findings and issues the component auditor communicated or expects to 
communicate to those charged with governance of the component, as follows: 

o Fraud or suspected fraud involving component management, employees having 
significant roles in internal control at the component level 

o Others that resulted in a material misstatement of the financial information of the 
component 

o Any other matters that may be relevant to the group audit or that the component 
auditor wishes to draw to the attention of the group engagement team, including 
exceptions noted in the written representation that the component auditor requested 
from component management 

As part of the group engagement team’s required evaluation of a component auditor’s communication, 
the group engagement team should determine whether it is necessary to review other relevant parts of a 
component auditor’s audit documentation. If the group engagement team concludes the work of a 
component auditor is insufficient, the group engagement team should determine additional procedures to 
be performed and whether such procedures are to be performed by the component auditor or the group 
engagement team. 

Key Point 

 Certain communications between the group engagement team and the component 
auditor are required in all audits of group financial statements; and, additional 
communications are required when the auditor of the group financial statements 
assumes responsibility for the work of a component auditor. The communication need 
not be in writing when responsibility for the work of the component auditor is being 
assumed (Q&A section 8800.22). 
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Chapter 4  

FASB ACTIVITIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Recognize the work of the Private Company Council (PCC) and the entities their work affects. 
 Identify FASB’s recently issued Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) generally and specifically 

those affecting not-for-profit entities. 
 Determine the status and content of outstanding FASB exposure drafts. 
 Determine the status of recent FASB activities affecting not-for-profit entities. 
 Identify current outstanding FASB projects that might affect not-for-profit entities. 
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Private Company Council 

INTRODUCTION 

The Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) established the PCC on May 30, 2012, to address the 
concerns of constituents related to the development of financial reporting standards for private 
companies in the United States. Though the PCC is not the autonomous standard setting body that was 
requested by many, its creation is the most significant step taken by the FAF related to standards 
specifically for private companies. 

FORMATION OF THE PCC 

The FAF issued a 39-page final report on May 30, 2012, establishing the PCC and its operations. The 
PCC is overseen by the FAF Trustees and replaces the Private Company Financial Reporting Committee. 
The Private Company Review Committee has had primary oversight of the PCC for the first three years 
of its operations. An assessment of the PCC is currently being conducted by the FAF to assess the overall 
effectiveness of the PCC. Comment letters were submitted through May 11, 2015. The FAF is now 
determining if further changes are warranted. 

OBJECTIVES OF THE PCC 

These are the primary objectives of the PCC: 

1. Study the existing FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) to determine if there are any 
changes necessary to enhance financial reporting for private companies. 

2. Serve as an advisory board to FASB on the impact of new standards on private companies as 
those standards are being deliberated. 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PCC 

Members of the PCC are appointed by the FAF Trustees and membership in the PCC is limited to no 
more than 12 and no fewer than nine members all serving without compensation. Current members of 
the PCC are as follows: 

 Candace E. Wright, Chair, Louisiana 
 George Beckwith, North Carolina 
 Steven Brown, Oregon 
 Jeffery Bryan, North Carolina 
 Timothy J. Curt, New York 
 Thomas Groskopf, Ohio 
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 David S. Lomax, Pennsylvania 
 Harold L. Monk, Jr., Florida 
 Carleton Olmanson, Minnesota 
 Lawrence Weinstock, New York 

Current PCC Agenda 
For an item to be placed on the PCC agenda, it must be approved by two-thirds of the PCC members. 
Upon consensus being reached, the PCC forwards their position to FASB for endorsement. Once 
endorsed by FASB, these items are subject to due process the same as any proposed accounting standard. 

Currently, items on the PCC’s agenda are 

 PCC Issue No. 14-01, Definition of a Public Business Entity (Phase II),  
 PCC Issue No. 15-01, Effective Date and Transition Guidance (exposure draft issued September 30, 

2015), and 
 PCC Agenda Decision No. 15-02, Applying Variable Interest Entity Guidance to Entities Under Common 

Control. 

However, the PCC is also advising the FASB on the following current FASB projects: 

 Leases—exposure draft (comment letter submitted December 3, 2013) 
 Accounting for financial instruments—exposure draft 
 Disclosure framework—invitation to comment 
 Government assistance—exposure draft 
 Share-based payments—pre-agenda research 
 Other selected FASB projects 

To date, the FASB (after appropriate due process) has issued the following ASUs approving an exception 
to existing accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP): 

 ASU No. 2014-02, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill (a consensus of the 
Private Company Council). This update is effective for nonpublic business entities opting to apply this 
accounting alternative in periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. However, early 
application is permitted for any interim and annual financial statements that have not yet been made 
available for issuance. 

 ASU No. 2014-03, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Accounting for Certain Receive-Variable Pay-Fixed 
Interest Rate Swaps—Simplified Hedge Accounting Approach (a consensus of the Private Company Council). This 
update is effective for nonpublic business entities opting to apply this accounting alternative in 
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. However, early application is permitted for any 
interim and annual financial statements that have not yet been made available for issuance. 

 ASU No. 2014-07, Consolidation (Topic 810): Applying Variable Interest Entity Guidance to Common Control 
Leasing Arrangements (a consensus of the Private Company Council). This update is effective for nonpublic 
business entities opting to apply this accounting alternative in periods beginning on or after 
December 15, 2014. However, early application is permitted for any interim and annual financial 
statements that have not yet been made available for issuance. If elected, the accounting alternative is 
retrospectively applied to all periods presented. 
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 ASU No. 2014-18, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business 
Combination (a consensus of the Private Company Council). Nonpublic business entities electing to apply this 
accounting alternative must also apply ASU No. 2014-02. Entities electing to adopt ASU No. 2014-
02 are not required to adopt ASU No. 2014-18, however. The decision by nonpublic business entities 
to apply this accounting alternative must be made when the first applicable transaction occurs in 
fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The effective date of adoption depends on the 
timing of the first applicable transaction. However, early application is permitted for any interim and 
annual financial statements that have not yet been made available for issuance. 

Key Point 

 

ASU No. 2013-12, Definition of a Public Business Entity—An Addition to the Master 
Glossary, specifically excludes not-for-profit entities from the scope of the PCC, 
therefore, a discussion of the updates listed previously is beyond the scope of this 
chapter and this course. However, FASB will be evaluating each PCC consensus to 
assess whether to issue a similar standard that would make the provisions applicable to 
not-for-profit entities.  

UPDATES ON THE PCC 

The FASB website has all of the following information about the PCC (www.fasb.org/pcc): 

 Projects of the PCC 
 Meetings 
 News and media 
 About the PCC 
 History of establishing the PCC 
 Upcoming meetings 
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Recent FASB Standards 

STANDARDS ISSUED DURING 2015 AND EARLY 2016 

The following ASUs issued by FASB in 2015 and in 2016 through the update of this course that are 
considered relevant to most not-for-profit entities are discussed in this course. Readers should be aware 
that other ASUs issued during this time period that are not listed here may apply to them or their clients. 
Information about ASUs not listed and discussed in this chapter is available at www.fasb.org. 

Unless otherwise noted, the standards in the following list may be adopted prior to the effective date and 
the effective dates listed are those for annual periods of nonpublic business entities. Certain of these 
ASUs have different effective dates for interim reporting than those listed here. 

These ASUs, issued in 2015 and early 2016, are considered relevant to most not-for-profit entities: 

 ASU No. 2015-01, Income Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20): Simplifying Income 
Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items. This update is effective for annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 

 ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to Consolidation Analysis. This update is 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. 

 ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt 
Issuance Costs. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 

 ASU No. 2015-04, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Practical Expedient for the Measurement 
Date of an Employer’s Defined Benefit Obligation and Plan Assets. This update is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2016.  

 ASU No. 2015-05, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s 
Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement. This update is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2015. 

 ASU No. 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That 
Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent) (A Consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force). This 
update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. 

 ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. This update is effective 
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016.  

The standards issued during 2015 are discussed in these materials immediately following the discussion of 
standards issued during 2014 and 2013 that are effective for years ending in 2015 or later. 

ASUS ISSUED DURING 2014 AND 2013 EFFECTIVE FOR 2015 OR LATER 

The following ASUs issued by FASB in 2014 or 2013 are considered relevant to all or most not-for-profit 
entities and are listed here because they are effective for years ending in 2015 or later. These ASUs do not 
represent all ASUs issued in 2014 or 2013 or all ASUs having an effect on not-for-profit entities. These 
updates are not discussed in this course and readers are encouraged to access the full text at 
www.fasb.org. 
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Unless otherwise noted, the effective dates of the ASUs listed below are those for annual periods. The 
ASUs in this list have a direct effect on not-for-profit entities. 

 ASU No. 2013-07—Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205): Liquidation Basis of Accounting. This 
update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2013. 

 ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of 
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. This update is effective for annual 
periods ending after December 15, 2016. 

 ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This update is effective for annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2018.1 

 ASU No. 2014-05, Service Concession Arrangements (Topic 853) (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues 
Task Force). This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014 and on a 
modified retrospective basis for all service concession arrangements existing at the beginning of the 
year of adoption. 

The standards issued during 2015 are discussed in these materials immediately following the discussion of 
the standards issued during 2014 and 2013 that are effective for years ending in 2015 or later. 

In addition to the specific standards indicated, this chapter discusses other FASB projects and their status 
that have a direct effect on not-for-profit entities.  

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. What is the effective date for ASU No. 2015-01? 

a. Annual periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 
b. Annual periods beginning after December 15, 2013. 
c. Annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
d. Annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014. 

                                                      

1 This effective date is that for nonpublic business entities as deferred with the issuance ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date. 
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ASU No. 2014-01: Accounting for Investments in 
Qualified Affordable Housing Projects 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

The main objective of this update is to provide guidance on accounting for investments by a reporting 
entity in flow-through limited liability entities that manage or invest in affordable housing projects that 
qualify for the low-income housing tax credit. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

The amendments in this update apply to all reporting entities that invest in qualified affordable housing 
projects through limited liability entities that are flow-through entities for tax purposes as follows: 

 For reporting entities that meet the conditions for and that elect to use the proportional amortization 
method to account for investments in qualified affordable housing projects, all amendments in this 
update apply. 

 For reporting entities that do not meet the conditions for or that do not elect the proportional 
amortization method, only the amendments in this update that are related to disclosures apply. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

Under current GAAP, reporting entities that invest in qualified affordable housing projects may elect to 
account for that investment using the effective yield method if certain conditions are met. Investments not 
currently accounted for using the effective yield method are required to account for the investment in 
accordance with FASB ASC 970-323, Real Estate—General—Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures. 
This means the investment is accounted for using either the equity method or the cost method. 

ASU No. 2014-01 requires that those investments in qualified affordable housing projects not 
accounted for using the proportional amortization method should be accounted for as an equity 
method investment or a cost method investment in accordance with FASB ASC 970-323. 

Proportional Amortization Method 
The amendments in ASU No. 2014-01 permit reporting entities to make an accounting policy election to 
account for their investments in qualified affordable housing projects using the proportional amortization 
method. Using the proportional amortization method, an entity 

 amortizes the initial cost of the investment in proportion to the tax credits and other tax benefits 
received. 
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 recognizes the net investment performance in the income statement as a component of income tax 
expense (benefit). 

To use the proportional amortization method, all of the following conditions must be met: 

 It is probable that the tax credits allocable to the investor will be available. 
 The investor does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and 

financial policies of the limited liability entity. 
 Substantially all of the projected benefits are from tax credits and other tax benefits (for example, tax 

benefits generated from the operating losses of the investment). 
 Investor’s projected yield is based solely on the cash flows from the tax credits and other tax benefits 

are positive. 
 Investor is a limited liability investor in the limited liability entity for both legal and tax purposes, and 

the investor’s liability is limited to its capital investment. 

Transactions between the investor and the limited liability entity, other than the investment in the limited 
liability entity, should not be considered when determining whether the preceding conditions are met 
provided that the following conditions are met: 

 The reporting entity is in the business of entering into those other transactions (for example, a 
financial institution that regularly extends loans to other housing projects). 

 The terms of those other transactions are consistent with the terms of arm’s-length transactions. 
 The reporting entity does not acquire the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating 

and financial policies of the limited liability entity as a result of those other transactions. 

Key Point 

 

The decision to apply the proportional amortization method of accounting is an 
accounting policy decision that should be applied consistently to all qualifying 
affordable housing project investments rather than a decision to be applied to 
individual investments.  

Reevaluation of Conditions 
A reporting entity should evaluate whether the conditions have been met to apply the proportional 
amortization method at the time of initial investment on the basis of facts and circumstances that exist at 
that time. A reporting entity should reevaluate the conditions upon the occurrence of either of the 
following: 

 A change in the nature of the investment (for example, if the investment is no longer a flow-through 
entity for tax purposes) 

 A change in the relationship with the limited liability entity that could result in the reporting entity no 
longer meeting the conditions 
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Impairment 
An investment in a qualified affordable housing project through a limited liability entity should be tested 
for impairment when there are events or changes in circumstances indicating that it is more likely than 
not that the carrying amount of the investment will not be realized. An impairment loss should be 
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of an investment exceeds its fair value. A 
previously recognized impairment loss should not be reversed. 

Disclosures 
A reporting entity should disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to understand 
the nature of its investments in qualified affordable housing projects, and the effect of the measurement 
of its investments in qualified affordable housing projects and the related tax credits on its financial 
position and results of operations. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. A reporting 
entity that uses the effective yield method to account for its investments in qualified affordable housing 
projects before the date of adoption may continue to apply the effective yield method for those 
preexisting investments. 

Amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for annual periods, and interim 
reporting periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2014. For all entities other 
than public business entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2014, and interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early 
adoption is permitted. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

There are a number of not-for-profit entities that are either involved in or have created separate legal 
entities to participate in public housing projects as contemplated in this update. In some cases, these 
separate legal entities may be required to be consolidated in the not-for-profit entity’s financial 
statements. Therefore, these entities and their auditors will need to be familiar with the requirements of 
ASU No. 2014-01 and then determine what effect it will have on their financial position. 

Not-for-profit entities required to implement the requirements of this update will need to become 
familiar with these requirements as soon as possible. There will be a greater sense of urgency for not-for-
profit entities involved in these projects that have a December 31 year-end (the update is effective for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014). 
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Because the requirements of this update are required to be applied retrospectively to all periods 
presented, implementation of this update may require additional effort for entities that present 
comparative financial statements. Not-for-profit entities, or their subsidiaries, that currently use the 
effective yield method will need to determine if they will change from this method to the proportional 
allocation method for any existing public housing projects. Factors that may affect this decision include 
the following: 

 The number of public housing projects 
 Availability of data 
 Staff time required to convert to the proportional allocation method 
 Impact on financial position 

It may benefit the not-for-profit entity to determine the pro forma effects of applying this update to 
determine how it may affect the entity’s financial position. In some cases, the pro forma effects may need 
to be discussed with management or the governing body if implementation is projected to have a 
negative effect on the entity’s financial position. 

Not-for-profit entities may wish to discuss implementation of this update with their auditors well in 
advance of the end of the fiscal period. Early communication will likely allow management and auditors 
to coordinate a smooth transition to the new requirements. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. ASU No. 2014-01 establishes guidance relating to what? 

a. Services received by not-for-profit entities from affiliated organizations. 
b. Offsetting assets and liabilities. 
c. Investments in affordable housing projects. 
d. Health care entities. 
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ASU No. 2014-05: Service Concession Arrangements 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

The objective of ASU No. 2014-05 is to specify that an operating entity should not account for a service 
concession arrangement as defined in this update as a lease in accordance with Topic 840, Leases. Service 
concession arrangements are more and more prevalent in the United States, and this update provides 
guidance for entities involved in these arrangements. This update adds Topic 853, Service Concession 
Arrangements to FASB ASC. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This ASU applies to an operating entity of a service concession arrangement entered into with a public-
sector entity grantor when the arrangement meets both of the following conditions: 

 The grantor controls or has the ability to modify or approve the services that the operating entity 
must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, and at what price. 

 The grantor controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement, or otherwise, any residual interest in 
the infrastructure at the end of the term of the arrangement. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2014-05 defines a service concession arrangement as follows: 

 An arrangement between a public-sector entity grantor and an operating entity under which the 
operating entity operates the grantor’s infrastructure. The operating entity also may provide the 
construction, upgrading, or maintenance services of the grantor’s infrastructure. 

 A public-sector entity includes a governmental body or an entity to which the responsibility for the 
public service has been delegated. 

Examples of service concession arrangements include contracts to operate airports, roads, bridges, 
hospitals, schools, parks, and so forth. 

The amendments of this update specify that an operating entity should not account for a service 
concession arrangement (within the scope of this update) as a lease in accordance with FASB ASC 840. 
Instead, an operating entity should refer to other Topics in FASB ASC as applicable to account for 
various aspects of a service concession arrangement. For example, an operating entity shall account for 
revenue and costs relating to construction, upgrade, or operation services in accordance with FASB ASC 
605 on revenue recognition. 

ASU No. 2014-05 also specifies that the infrastructure used in a service concession arrangement shall not 
be recognized as property, plant, and equipment of the operating entity. 
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Key Point 

 The past several years have seen an increase in the number of agreements between 
not-for-profit entities and governmental entities. Some of these arrangements may 
meet the definition of a service concession arrangement.  

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update should be applied on a modified retrospective basis to service concession 
arrangements that exist at the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year of adoption. The modified retrospective 
approach requires the cumulative effect of applying this update to arrangements existing at the beginning 
of the period of adoption to be recognized as an adjustment to the opening retained earnings balance for 
the annual period of adoption. Early adoption of the update is permitted. 

The amendments are effective for a public business entity for annual periods, and interim periods within 
those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2014. 

For an entity other than a public business entity, the amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2015. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

There are a number of not-for-profit entities that are either involved in public housing projects or have 
created separate legal entities to participate in public housing projects. In some cases, these arrangements 
may also have a contribution component to them. 

To prepare for transition, not-for-profit entities may wish to calculate the pro forma effects of applying 
this statement to determine how it may affect the entity’s financial position. In some cases, the pro forma 
effects may need to be discussed with management or the governing body if implementation is projected 
to have a negative effect on the entity’s financial position. 

What Do You Think? 

What public-private partnerships have you or your clients entered into that might meet the 
definition of a service concession arrangement? What particular aspects of those agreements 
leads you to this conclusion? 
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Not-for-profit entities with the types of transactions subject to the requirements of this update may wish 
to implement the requirements of this standard prior to the effective date. In such circumstances, the 
entity may wish to discuss this decision with their auditor well in advance of the end of the fiscal period. 
Early communication will likely allow management and the auditor to coordinate a smooth transition to 
the new requirements. 
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ASU No. 2014-09: Revenue from Contracts  
with Customers, as Amended2  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

The objective of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, is to address a number of concerns regarding the 
complexity and lack of consistency surrounding the accounting for revenue transactions. In addition, 
ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, provides a framework for revenue recognition and eliminates the 
transaction- and industry-specific revenue recognition guidance under current GAAP. The intent is to 
avoid inconsistencies of accounting treatment across different geographies and industries. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

This ASU, as amended, affects any entity that either enters into contracts 

 with customers to transfer goods or services. 
 for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards 

(for example, lease or insurance contracts). 

Not-for-profit entities that classify government and other grants as exchange transactions will likely need 
to account for those agreements using the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09, as amended. See Chapter 5, 
Emerging Issues Affecting Not-for-Profit Entities, for additional discussion of revenue recognition with 
respect to grants. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU?3 

The core principle of the revised revenue recognition standard is that an entity should recognize revenue 
to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those good or services. 

ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, states that an entity should follow these five steps in recognizing revenue 
from contracts with customers: 

1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 

                                                      

2 The effective date of this ASU was amended upon issuance of ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date. 
3 The FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) periodically deliberate and make changes to 
this standard. As of the date this course was written (February 2016), the FASB was deliberating comments relating 
to two exposure drafts proposing changes to ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The most 
current status of this project may be found on the websites of the respective accounting standards setter. 
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3. Determine the transaction price. 

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 

5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

Key Point 

 

Under ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, revenue is recognized when an entity satisfies a 
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customer 
(which is when the customer obtains control of that good or service).  

Understanding the Five-Step Process 

Step 1: Identify the Contract(s) with a Customer 

ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, defines a contract as “an agreement between two or more parties that 
creates enforceable rights and obligations.” This update affects contracts with a customer that meet the 
following criteria: 

 Approval (in writing, orally, or in accordance with other customary business practices) and 
commitment of the parties is in place. 

 Rights of the parties are identified. 
 Payment terms are identified. 
 Contract has commercial substance. 
 It is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for 

the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer. 

A contract does not exist if each party to the contract has the unilateral enforceable right to terminate a 
wholly unperformed contract without compensating the other party (parties).  

Step 2: Identify the Performance Obligations in the Contract 

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the 
customer. 

At contract inception, an entity should assess the goods or services promised in a contract with a 
customer and should identify as a performance obligation (possibly multiple performance obligations) 
each promise to transfer to the customer either 

 a good or service (or bundle of goods or services) that is distinct, or 
 a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 

transfer to the customer. 

A good or service that is not distinct should be combined with other promised goods or services until the 
entity identifies a bundle of goods or services that is distinct. In some cases, that would result in the entity 
accounting for all the goods or services promised in a contract as a single performance obligation. 
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Step 3: Determine the Transaction Price 

The transaction price is the amount of consideration (fixed or variable) the entity expects to receive in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties. To determine the transaction price, an entity should consider the effects of 

 variable consideration, 
 constraining estimates of variable consideration, 
 the existence of a significant financing component, 
 noncash considerations, and 
 consideration payable to the customer. 

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, then an entity should estimate the 
amount of consideration to which the entity will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised 
goods or services to a customer. An entity would then include in the transaction price some or all of an 
amount of variable consideration only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 

An entity should consider the terms of the contract and its customary business practices to determine the 
transaction price. 

Step 4: Allocate the Transaction Price to the Performance Obligations in the Contract 

The transaction price is allocated to separate performance obligations in proportion to the standalone 
selling price of the promised goods or services. If a standalone selling price is not directly observable, 
then an entity should estimate it. Reallocation of the transaction price for changes in the standalone 
selling price is not permitted. When estimating the standalone selling price, entities can use various 
methods including the adjusted market assessment approach, expected cost plus a margin approach, and 
residual approach (only if the selling price is highly variable and uncertain). 

ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, specifies when an entity should allocate any discount or variable 
consideration relating to one performance obligation to that (or some other) performance obligation 
rather than to all of the performance obligations in the contract. 

Step 5: Recognize Revenue When (or as) the Entity Satisfies a Performance Obligation 

The amount of revenue recognized when transferring the promised good or service to a customer is 
equal to the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation, which may be satisfied at a point in 
time (goods) or over time (services).  

Key Point 

 

In the context of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, control of an asset refers to the 
ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, 
the asset. Control also includes the ability to prevent other entities from directing the 
use of, and obtaining the benefits from, an asset.  
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When performance obligations are satisfied over time, the entity should select an appropriate method for 
measuring its progress toward complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. ASU No. 2014-09, as 
amended, discusses methods of measuring progress including input and output methods, and how to 
determine which method is appropriate. 

Additional Guidance Under This ASU 
ASU No. 2014-09 also addresses the following areas: 

 Accounting for incremental costs of obtaining a contract, as well as costs incurred to fulfill a contract 
 Licenses 
 Warranties. 

Lastly, ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, enhances disclosure requirements to include more information 
about specific revenue contracts entered into by the entity, including performance obligations and the 
transaction price. 

A thorough discussion of the full text of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, is beyond the scope of 
this chapter and this course. Readers are strongly encouraged to read the full update, which is 
available at www.fasb.org. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

For nonpublic entities, including not-for-profit entities, this ASU, as amended, is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018. Nonpublic business entities and other entities may elect to adopt the 
standard earlier but no earlier than the annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

Generally, to successfully implement the requirements of this statement, entities will first need to evaluate 
how the statement will affect the entity overall. This will include consideration of the effects not only on 
the financial statements but other information systems, processes, compensation, and other contractual 
commitments, and tax planning strategies.4 All entities affected by this ASU need to develop an 
implementation plan as soon as possible. At a minimum, an implementation plan will need to include  

 key actions for implementation, 
 time estimated for each implementation action, and 
 a mechanism to track the progress and timing of the implementation plan. 

                                                      

4 For more information, see “Tips for Successful Revenue Recognition Implementation” by Ken Tyslac available at 
www.aicpa.org. 
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This ASU, as amended, is likely to affect not-for-profit entities that account for government and other 
grants or membership dues in whole or in part as exchange transactions. It is very likely that a 
government grant agreement will meet the definition of a “contract” delineated in ASU No. 2014-09, as 
amended. Not-for-profit entities may not use “formal” contracts for memberships especially when 
membership dues are accounted for, in whole or part, as contributions (rather than exchange 
transactions). On the other hand, other not-for-profit organizations may use formal membership 
contracts and it is likely these contracts would meet the definition of a “contract” under ASU  
No. 2014-09, as amended. 

To prepare for transition, not-for-profit entities that account for grants as exchange transactions may 
wish to re-evaluate this accounting treatment. Using the indicators in FASB ASC 958, Not-for-Profit 
Entities, many government grants are actually contributions rather than exchange transactions. In the 
event a not-for-profit entity believes government grants are exchange transactions, the entity will need to 
apply the guidance of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended. Not-for-profit entities may wish to discuss this 
decision with their auditors well in advance of the deferred effective date of ASU No. 2014-09, as 
amended. 

Even though the deferred effective date of ASU No. 2014-09 as amended, is several years in the future 
for not-for-profit entities, it is important to begin the implementation process as early as possible. In the 
case of government grants accounted for as exchange transactions, not-for-profit entities will likely want 
to review their existing contracts to see what modifications, if any, need be made to the contract. 
Likewise, not-for-profit entities using membership contracts need to begin to review them for any 
modifications that are necessary to recognize revenue under ASU No. 2014-09 as amended. 

Many not-for-profit entities enter into multiple-year grants or membership contracts, or both. Any grant 
agreements or membership contracts signed prior to the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, 
will require retrospective restatement upon the deferred effective date of ASU No. 2014-09, as amended. 
This could have significant negative consequences if revenue has been recognized prior to transition that 
does not meet the requirements for recognition under ASU No. 2014-09, as amended. If performance 
obligations are not clearly delineated in the grant agreement or membership contract, revenue is not 
recognized until the contract terminates. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. ASU No. 2014-09, as amended, establishes guidance relating to what? 

a. Service concession arrangements. 
b. Contracts with customers. 
c. Affordable housing. 
d. Discontinued operations. 
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ASU No. 2014-11: Repurchase-to-Maturity 
Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

The objective of ASU No. 2014-11 is to respond to stakeholder concerns about current accounting and 
disclosures for repurchase agreements and similar transactions. This ASU changes the accounting for 
repurchase-to-maturity transactions to be consistent with accounting for other repurchase agreements. In 
addition, this ASU requires two additional disclosures. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

The accounting changes in this ASU affect all entities that enter into repurchase-to-maturity transactions 
or repurchase financings. In addition, this ASU requires certain disclosures of all entities involved in 

 certain transactions that involve a transfer of a financial asset accounted for as a sale. 
 repurchase agreements. 
 securities lending transactions. 
 repurchase-to-maturity transactions accounted for as secured borrowings. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS UPDATE? 

ASU No. 2014-11 provides for changes that will expand secured borrowing accounting for repurchase-
to-maturity transactions by requiring them to be accounted for as secured borrowings. Specifically, ASU 
No. 2014-11 requires the following changes: 

 Repurchase-to-maturity transactions are required to be accounted for as a secured borrowing 
accounting. 

 Repurchase financing arrangements involving a transfer of a financial asset contemporaneously with 
a repurchase agreement with the same counterparty are required to be accounted for as a secured 
borrowing.  

What Do You Think? 

What types of repurchases transactions are you or your clients involved in and what is the 
business rationale for entering into such transactions? 
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In addition, ASU No. 2014-11 requires a number of additional disclosures for the following types of 
repurchase agreement transactions: 

 Transfers of a financial asset accounted for as a sale 
 Agreements with the same transferee entered into in contemplation of an initial transfer that results 

in the transferor retaining substantially all of the exposure to the economic return on the transferred 
financial asset throughout the term of the transaction 

For repurchase transactions outstanding at the reporting date, the transferor is required to disclose a 
number of items for certain repurchase agreements for each type of transaction (for example, repurchase 
agreements, securities lending arrangements, and a sale with a total return swap). 

If you are the transferor in repurchase transactions, you should review the disclosure 
requirements for these circumstances, which you can find at www.fasb.org. 

ASU No. 2014-11 also requires the following disclosures for repurchase agreements, securities lending 
transactions, and repurchase-to-maturity transactions that are accounted for as secured borrowings: 

 Disaggregation of the gross obligation by the class of collateral pledged 
 Remaining contractual tenor of the agreements 
 Discussion of the potential risks associated with the agreements and the related collateral pledged, 

including obligations arising from a decline in the fair value of the collateral pledged and how those 
risks are managed 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The accounting changes and both of the new disclosures in this update are effective for not-for-profit and other 
nonpublic entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim periods beginning after 
December 15, 2015. The disclosures are not required to be presented for comparative periods before the 
effective date. Early adoption of the update is permitted for nonpublic business entities. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU may affect few not-for-profit entities as it deals with transactions that occur rather infrequently 
in most not-for-profit entities. However, not-for-profit entities do need to be aware of the requirements 
of this ASU to properly account for and disclose any discontinued operations when they occur. 
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ASU No. 2014-15: Disclosure of Uncertainties about 
an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2014-15 was issued in response to input from stakeholders indicating the lack of standard 
guidance as to when substantial doubt exists about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern 
results in diversity in practice. This diversity in practice relates to whether, when, and how an entity 
discloses information relating to substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The 
amendments incorporate and expand upon certain provisions currently in U.S. auditing standards.5 As 
such, this ASU 

 provides guidance about management’s responsibility to evaluate their going concern assumption, 
and 

 establishes disclosure requirements when there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans are affected by ASU No. 2014-15.  

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2014-15 requires management of an entity to evaluate whether conditions or events exist at the 
financial statement date that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The date through which this evaluation is to be made is one year after the date the financial 
statements are issued or are available to be issued. In addition, the evaluation should be based on relevant 
conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable through this date. 

Substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern exists when relevant conditions 
and events, considered in the aggregate indicate that it is probable6 the entity will be unable to meet its 
obligations as they become due within one year after the date the financial statements are issued or 
available to be issued. 

When management identifies conditions or events that give rise to substantial doubt about the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, they should consider whether plans intended to mitigate the 

                                                      

5 See chapter 3, “AICPA Activities,” in this course for a discussion of recently released auditing interpretations 
relating to the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to management’s going concern assumption. 
6 The term probable is used consistent with FASB ASC 450, Contingencies, in FASB ASC. 
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relevant conditions and events will actually alleviate the substantial doubt. Mitigating effects should only 
be considered to the extent 

 it is probable that the plans will be implemented effectively and if so, 
 it is probable that the plans will mitigate the conditions or events raising substantial doubt about the 

entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

ASU No. 2014-15 provides for extensive disclosures both when the substantial doubt is alleviated and 
when it is not. The disclosures required in each of these situations follow. 

 When substantial doubt is alleviated after considering management’s plans to mitigate the relevant 
conditions or events giving rise to the substantial doubt the entity should disclose information 
enabling users to understand all of the following: 

o Principal conditions or events raising substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern (before considering management’s plans) 

o Management’s evaluation of the significance of those conditions or events in relation to 
the entity’s ability to meet its obligations 

o Management’s plans that alleviated the substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

Management is also permitted to refer to similar information disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

 When substantial doubt is not alleviated after considering management’s plans to mitigate the 
relevant conditions or events giving rise to the substantial doubt the entity should do the following: 

o Include a statement in the notes to the financial statements that there is substantial doubt 
about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the financial 
statements are issued or available to be issued. 

o Disclose information enabling users to understand all of the following: 
o Principal conditions or events raising substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern (before considering management’s plans) 
o Management’s evaluation of the significance of those conditions or events in relation to 

the entity’s ability to meet its obligations 
o Management’s plans that are intended to mitigate the conditions or events raising 

substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Key Point 

 

Prior to the issuance of ASU No. 2014-15, there was no explicit guidance in the FASB 
accounting literature relating to management’s responsibilities with respect to the 
going concern assumption. Governments and governmental not-for-profit entities are 
subject to guidance in the GASB literature and auditors are subject to the 
requirements in the auditing standards. With the issuance of this ASU, all public and 
nonpublic business and not-for-profit entities are subject to guidance relating to an 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
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WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and 
annual and interim periods thereafter with earlier application permitted. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

General Implementation Issues 
Generally, this ASU will only affect not-for-profit entities when substantial doubt exists about their ability 
to continue as a going concern. Continuation of a financial reporting entity as a going concern is 
presumed as the basis for preparing financial statements until liquidation of the entity becomes imminent. 
Upon the effective date of ASU No. 2014-15, management of a not-for-profit entity has specific 
responsibilities when there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

Therefore, each year management may wish to formally or informally specifically evaluate whether or not 
there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management may wish 
to ratify the conclusion reached through formal action of the board of directors and or the audit or 
finance committee. Ideally, this might be done at the last meeting of the current fiscal year or at a meeting 
early in the next fiscal year. In addition, the auditor may wish to add a specific representation regarding 
management’s assumption that they are a going concern. 

When Substantial Doubt Exists 
In the event there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
management will need to evaluate the plans that are intended to mitigate the relevant conditions or events 
giving rise to the substantial doubt. Based on this evaluation management will need to conclude whether 
it is probable their plans will be effectively implemented and that they actually mitigate the relevant 
conditions or events giving rise to the substantial doubt. Regardless of the conclusion, management is 
required to include certain disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.  

The auditor will need to review management’s plans and evaluation thereof to determine if they agree 
with management’s conclusions. In addition, the auditor will need to ascertain that the required 
disclosures are included in the financial statements. It is likely the auditor will identity the 
“understandability,” “accuracy,” and “completion” assertions as relevant presentation and disclosure 
assertions in these circumstances. Additionally, the auditor may conclude that additional representations 
from management are necessary both when the substantial doubt is alleviated by management’s plans and 
when substantial doubt remains. 

Key Point 

 

There are differences between management’s responsibility with respect to reporting 
and disclosing information relating to the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and those of the auditor. It is necessary for the auditor to understand not only 
his or her responsibilities under the auditing standards but also management’s 
responsibilities under ASU No. 2014-15. 
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ASU No. 2015-01, Simplifying Income Statement 
Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of 
Extraordinary Items 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-01 is the first accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification 
Initiative, which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 
2015-01 is to reduce complexity in reporting extraordinary items while maintaining or improving the 
usefulness of this information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans may potentially be affected by the update in either the near or long term.  

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2015-01 eliminates the concept of extraordinary items from U.S. GAAP. Under the 
requirements of this update, material events or transactions an entity considers to be unusual in nature 
and or of a type that is infrequent in occurrence are disclosed in a separate component of income from 
continuing operations. Information required to be disclosed is as follows: 

 Nature and financial effects of each event or transaction must be disclosed 
o as a separate component of income from operations (no net of tax or earnings per share 

effects are permitted to be reported), or 
o in the notes to the financial statements. 

 Gains or losses that are not individually material are required to be aggregated. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2015, and early adoption is permitted. Entities wishing to apply the 
provisions of this update early may wish to communicate to their auditors well in advance of year end 
their decision to apply this update early and understand the expected effect of implementation on the 
financial statements. 
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A reporting entity may elect to apply the requirements of ASU No. 2015-01 either retrospectively or 
prospectively. Entities that prospectively apply the requirements of this update are required to disclose 
both the nature and amount of an item included in income from continuing operations after adoption 
that adjusts a previously classified and reported extraordinary item. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU is not likely to present any implementation issues as it is a simplification of existing GAAP that 
eliminates a somewhat confusing area for financial statement users as well as a time consuming effort on 
the part of financial statement preparers. 
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ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation—Amendments to 
the Consolidation Analysis 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

This ASU is in response to stakeholders who are concerned about the consolidation of certain legal 
entities. Of particular concern to stakeholders was the requirement to consolidate another legal entity 
when the reporting entity’s contractual rights conflict with the consolidation requirements. The objective 
of ASU No. 2015-02 is to change the analysis a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it 
should consolidate certain types of legal entities. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities 
are affected by the update. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

Under the amendments in this ASU, all reporting entities are within the scope of Subtopic 810-10, 
Consolidation—Overall, including limited partnerships and similar legal entities.  

ASU No. 2015-02 affects the following areas: 

 Limited partnerships and similar legal entities 
 Evaluating fees paid to a decision maker or a service provider as a variable interest (VIE) 
 Effect of fee arrangements on the primary beneficiary determination 
 Effect of related parties on the primary beneficiary determination 
 Certain investment funds 

Major changes made by this ASU to current standards include: 

 The presumption in current guidance that a general partner controls a limited partnership has been 
eliminated. 

 Fees paid to decision makers that meet certain conditions no longer cause decision makers to 
consolidate VIEs in certain circumstances. 

 The extent to which related party arrangements cause an entity to be considered a primary 
beneficiary is reduced. 
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Key Point 

 The amendments in ASU 2015-02 place more emphasis in the consolidation evaluation 
on variable interests other than fee arrangements.  

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. For all other entities, the effective 
date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and for interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. 

A reporting entity may elect to apply the requirements of this ASU using a modified retrospective 
approach by recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the fiscal year of 
adoption. Entities may also elect to apply the amendments retrospectively. 
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ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-03 is an accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification 
Initiative, which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 
2015-03 is to reduce complexity in debt issuance costs while maintaining or improving the usefulness of 
this information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans may potentially be affected by the update in either the near or long term. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in 
the balance sheet or statement of financial position as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of 
that debt liability. This ASU does not change the recognition and measurement guidance for debt 
issuance costs. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective, for public business entities, for fiscal years, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 and early adoption is permitted. For 
all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2014, and 
interim period within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. 

Entities wishing to apply the provisions of this update early may wish to communicate to their auditors 
well in advance of year-end their decision to apply this update early and understand the expected effect of 
implementation on the financial statements. 

A reporting entity may elect to apply the requirements of ASU No. 2015-03 either retrospectively or 
prospectively. Entities that prospectively apply the requirements of this update are required to disclose 
both the nature and amount of an item included in income from continuing operations after adoption 
that adjusts a previously classified and reported extraordinary item. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU is not likely to present any implementation issues as it is a simplification of existing GAAP that 
eliminates a somewhat confusing area for financial statement users as well as a time-consuming effort on 
the part of financial statement preparers. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. ASU No. 2015-03 simplifies current guidance relating to what? 

a. Extraordinary items. 
b. Inventory. 
c. Debt issuance costs. 
d. Consolidation of variable interest entities. 
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ASU No. 2015-04, Compensation—Retirement 
Benefits  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-04 is an accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification 
Initiative, which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 
2015-04 is to reduce complexity in measuring defined benefit plan assets and obligations while 
maintaining or improving the usefulness of this information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, and not-for-profit entities may potentially be 
affected by the update in either the near or long term. Employee benefit plans are specifically excluded 
from the scope of this ASU. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2015-04 provides for a practical expedient that permits an entity to measure defined benefit 
plan assets and obligations using the month-end that is closest to the entity’s fiscal year-end. Entities with 
a fiscal year-end that does not coincide with the end of a month may incur more costs than other entities 
when measuring the fair value of plan assets or a defined benefit pension or other postretirement benefit 
plan. Typically, plan information is reported as of the end of a month which the reporting entity then 
adjusts that information to its fiscal year-end. 

Entities electing to use the practical expedient are required to use it consistently for all plans if they have 
more than one plan. In addition, an entity is required to remeasure defined benefit plan assets and 
obligations for any contributions or significant events occurring between the month-end date and the 
entity’s fiscal year-end. Contributions made between the month-end measurement date and the entity’s 
fiscal year-end should be disclosed with no adjustment made to the fair value of each class of plan assets 
for the effect of the contribution. 

Entities electing to use the practical expedient are required to disclose this accounting policy election and 
the date used to measure defined benefit plan assets and obligations. 
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WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for financial statements for fiscal 
years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. For all other 
entities, the effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and for interim periods 
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted and the requirements 
of this standard are to be applied prospectively. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU is not likely to present any implementation issues as it is a simplification of existing GAAP that 
eliminates a somewhat confusing area for financial statement users as well as a time-consuming effort on 
the part of financial statement preparers.  

However, entities will need to ensure an accounting policy is formally adopted in accordance with the 
entity’s policies and procedures. In addition, management may wish to coordinate implementation with 
their auditor to minimize implementation issues. 
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ASU No. 2015-05, Intangibles—Goodwill and 
Other—Internal-Use Software  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-05 is an accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification 
Initiative, which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 
2015-05 is to provide guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a 
software license while maintaining or improving the usefulness of this information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans may potentially be affected by the update in either the near or long term. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU?  

ASU No. 2015-05 requires cloud computing arrangements that include a software license to account for 
the software license element consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. In cloud 
computing arrangements that do not include a software license, the cloud computing arrangement should 
be accounted for as a service contract. This ASU brings all software licenses within the scope of Subtopic 
350-40 making the accounting consistent with other licenses or intangible assets. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for financial statements for fiscal 
years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. For all other 
entities, the effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and for interim periods 
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. 

A reporting entity may elect to apply the requirements of ASU No. 2015-05 either retrospectively or 
prospectively for all arrangements entered into or materially modified after the effective date. Entities 
that prospectively and retrospectively apply the requirements of this update are required to disclose, at 
transition, the nature and reason for the change, the transition method, and a qualitative description of 
the financial statement line items affected by the change. If the requirements of the statement are applied 
retrospectively, entities are also required, at transition, to disclose quantitative information about the 
effects of the accounting change.  
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

All entities will need to review their current accounting policies relating to cloud computing arrangements 
to determine if the existing accounting treatment is consistent with the requirements of this ASU. Entities 
that do not currently account for cloud computing arrangements in accordance with the requirements of 
this ASU will need to adopt either a prospective or retrospective approach to applying the requirements. 
Entities adopting a retrospective approach will need to review all existing cloud arrangements to 
determine if a software license is included and the quantitative effects of that license and the related effect 
on the financial statements. When a prospective approach is adopted, entities will need to ensure existing 
processes include a review of cloud computing arrangements to determine if a software license is 
included.  
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ASU No. 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-07 is an accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification 
Initiative, which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 
2015-07 is to eliminate diversity in practice relating to how certain investments measured at net asset 
value (NAV) are categorized within the fair value hierarchy. In addition, this ASU maintains or improves 
the usefulness of this information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans that elect to measure certain investments using the NAV per share as a practical expedient to 
measuring fair value are affected by the update in either the near or long term. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU?  

ASU No. 2015-07 removes the requirement to categorize all investments measured at fair value using the 
NAV per share as a practical expedient within the fair value hierarchy. In addition, this ASU removes the 
requirement to make certain disclosures for all investments eligible to be measured using NAV per share 
as a practical expedient to fair value measurement. The ASU requires these disclosures only for those 
investments the entity has elected to measure fair value using the practical expedient. 

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for financial statements for fiscal 
years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. For all other 
entities, the effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and for interim periods 
within those fiscal years. Entities are required to retrospectively apply the requirements of this statement. 
Early adoption is permitted. 

IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU is not likely to present any implementation issues as it is a simplification of existing GAAP that 
eliminates diversity in practice.  
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ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory  

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

ASU No. 2015-11 is an accounting standards update issued as part of the FASB’s Simplification Initiative 
which is briefly discussed in the following section of this chapter. The objective of ASU No. 2015-11 is 
to reduce complexity in measuring inventory while maintaining or improving the usefulness of this 
information. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

All public business entities, nonpublic business entities, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit 
plans measuring inventory using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost are affected by this update. 
Entities measuring inventory using last-in, first-out or the retail inventory method are not within the 
scope of this ASU. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

ASU No. 2015-11 more closely aligns the measurement of inventory in the United States with the 
measurement of inventory under international standards. Entities within the scope of this ASU should 
measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The ASU defines net realizable value as 
the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less reasonably predictable costs of 
completion, disposal, and transportation.  

Other existing guidance in Topic 330, Inventory, is amended to more clearly articulate requirements for the 
measurement and disclosure of inventory. These clarifications are not intended to change current 
practice.  

WHEN IS THIS ASU EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are to be applied prospectively and are effective for public business 
entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. 
For all other entities, the effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and for 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted as of 
the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. 
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IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES 

This ASU is not likely to present any implementation issues as it is a simplification of existing GAAP that 
eliminates a somewhat confusing area for financial statement users as well as a time-consuming effort on 
the part of financial statement preparers. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. ASU No. 2015-11 simplifies current guidance relating to what? 

a. Extraordinary items. 
b. Inventory. 
c. Debt issuance costs. 
d. Consolidation of variable interest entities. 
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Relevant Outstanding Exposure Drafts 
As of February 2016, when this course was updated, there were a number of outstanding exposure 
documents open for comment as well as exposure documents for which the comment period had closed. 
Those exposure drafts that are considered relevant to most not-for-profit entities, and their current 
status, are discussed in the following paragraphs. 
Recently FASB launched an initiative to make narrow-scope simplifications and improvements to 
accounting standards through a series of short-term projects. The projects included in the Simplification 
Initiative intend to improve or maintain the usefulness of information reported to investors while 
reducing cost and complexity in financial reporting. Several of FASB’s outstanding projects are a result of 
the Simplification Initiative and are discussed in the previous section of this chapter. 

Readers are encouraged to follow the status of the Simplification Initiative and other 
outstanding projects at www.fasb.org. 

INVESTMENTS—EQUITY METHOD AND JOINT VENTURES 

This proposed accounting standard is part of the Simplification Initiative. Comments relating to this 
proposed ASU were due to FASB on or before August 4, 2015. This proposed ASU will reduce costs and 
complexity to financial statement reporting by eliminating the requirement to separately account for the 
basis difference of equity method investments. Instead, entities would recognize the equity method 
investment at its cost and no longer determine the acquisition date fair value of the investee’s identifiable 
assets and liabilities assumed. In addition, the proposed ASU would no longer require an equity method 
investor to retroactively perform a fair value allocation of the basis difference nor to adjust prior earnings 
or to perform impairment testing. 

This amendment would be applied on a modified prospective basis and various disclosures would be 
required. The effective date will be determined after the Board considers stakeholder feedback on the 
proposed ASU.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As part of FASB’s Disclosure Framework project, this proposed ASU (comment period ending 
December 8, 2015) will promote the appropriate use of discretion by reporting entities by amending 
Topic 235, Notes to Financial Statements. Generally, the proposed amendments would 

 State materiality is applied to disclosures individually and in the aggregate both quantitatively and 
qualitatively in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole. This means some, all, or 
none of the requirements in a disclosure section may be material. 
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 Refer to materiality as a legal concept.7 
 State specifically that omissions of immaterial information are not accounting errors. 

In addition, changes to existing disclosure requirements in each disclosure section of the ASC are 
included in the proposed ASU to be consistent with the amendments proposed in this update. These 
changes fall into the following areas: 

 Each topic in the ASC will state an entity shall provide required disclosures only if they are material. 
 Each disclosure section will refer to Topic 235 for the discussion of the appropriate exercise of 

discretion. 
 Phrases such as “an entity shall at a minimum provide” will be replaced with less prescriptive 

language.  

The proposed amendments would be effective upon issuance and entities would be permitted to apply 
the proposed amendments prospectively or retrospectively. 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

As part of FASB’s Disclosure Framework project, this proposed ASU (comment period ending February 
29, 2016) will modify disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. Under the proposed ASU, 
certain current disclosure requirements will be modified or removed from Topic 820, Fair Value 
Measurement. Certain disclosures are being eliminated because they are not consistent with the concepts in 
the proposed Concepts Statement, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting—Chapter 8: Notes to Financial 
Statements (currently being deliberated by the Board) or because they are no longer considered useful 
information. 

In addition, the proposed ASU adds two additional disclosure requirements that would be required only 
for public business entities. 

Certain requirements of this amendment would be applied retrospectively and certain others only for the 
most recent interim or annual period presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. The effective date 
will be determined after FASB considers stakeholder feedback on the proposed ASU. 

                                                      

7 The FASB issued an exposure draft to amend Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information, of 
Concepts Statement No. 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, in September 2015 (comments deadline of 
December 8, 2015). These proposed amendments to ensure materiality concepts discussed therein are consistent 
with the legal concept of materiality as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court.  
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FASB Projects Affecting Not-for-Profit Entities 

FASB RESOURCE GROUPS 

Not-for-Profit Advisory Committee 
Several years ago FASB added a staff member dedicated to advising the board and other staff on issues 
affecting not-for-profit entities and communicating with members in the not-for-profit sector. To 
provide additional guidance to the board, FASB established the Not-for-Profit Advisory Committee 
(NAC) in October 2009. 

The NAC works closely with FASB in an advisory capacity to ensure the perspectives from the not-for-
profit sector are effectively communicated to FASB on a timely basis. Other responsibilities of the NAC 
are as follows: 

 To provide focused input and feedback relating to 
o the need for and relative priority of proposed FASB projects 
o conceptual and practical implications of proposals under development in active projects 
o practice issues including implementation issues arising from new standards, potential 

areas for improvement pertinent to the not-for-profit sector, and longer term issues 
important to the not-for-profit sector 

 To assist FASB and its staff with communication and outreach activities to the not-for-profit  
sector on 

o recent standards and other existing guidance 
o current and proposed projects 
o longer-term issues 

 Advise on other matters for which FASB may seek guidance 

The NAC comprises 15 to 20 members who demonstrate the following: 

 A keen interest in and knowledge of financial accounting and reporting matters 
 Experience working within the not-for-profit sector 
 A commitment to improving financial reporting for users of financial statements 
 The ability to provide input on a wide variety of financial reporting matters 

Current members of the NAC are as follows: 

 Alice Antonelli, Nonprofit Finance Fund 
 Cathy Clarke, Clifton Larson Allen, LLP 
 Jim Croft, JWC Consulting Group 
 Harvey Dale, New York University School of Law 
 Gordon Edwards, Marshfield Clinic Health System 
 Kenneth Euwema, United Way Worldwide 
 Michael Forster, Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars 
 Deborah Gillespie, The Joyce Foundation 
 Roger Goodman, The Yuba Group, LLC 
 John Kroll, University of Chicago 
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 John Mattie, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 Bob Mims, Ducks Unlimited, Inc. 
 Norman C. Mosrie, Dixon Hughes Goodman, LLP 
 Linda Parsons, Culverhouse School of Accountancy, University of Alabama 
 Cynthia Pierce, Crowe Horwath LLP 
 Andrew Prather, Clark Nuber P.S. 
 Amy B. Robinson, The Kresge Foundation 
 Bennett Weiner, Better Business Bureau Wise Giving Alliance 

Additional information about the NAC is available by contacting either of the following FASB staff. 

 Jeffrey D. Mechanick, Assistant Director, Nonpublic Entities, jdmechanick@fasb.org, 203-956-5301 
 Alicia A. Posta, Executive Director, FASB Advisory Groups, aaposta@fasb.org, 203-956-5207 

Not-for-Profit Resource Group 
In addition to the NAC, FASB has Not-for-Profit Resource Group (NRG) whose members primarily 
serve as a resource to the NAC. Periodically all members of the NRG or particular types of members (for 
example preparers, auditors, creditors, donors and grantors, and so on) are surveyed on matters of 
interest to the NAC.  

Persons interested in serving on the NRG are encouraged to contact Ron Bossio at rjbossio@fasb.org or 
203-956-5213. 

CURRENT FASB PROJECTS AFFECTING NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES 

Financial Reporting 
In November 20118 FASB added a standards-setting project to its agenda relating to financial reporting 
by not-for-profit entities. The objective of this project, “Not-for-Profit Financial Reporting: Financial 
Statements,” is to reexamine existing standards for financial statement presentation by not-for-profit 
entities by focusing on improvements relating to net asset classification requirements and information 
provided in financial statements and notes about liquidity, financial performance, and cash flows. 

In April 2015, the FASB issued a proposed accounting standards update, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) 
and Health Care Entities (Topic 954), with a comment deadline of August 20, 2015. The exposure draft 
requested responders to provide comments in 22 areas and 264 individuals or organizations responded. 
AICPA groups responding included the Financial Reporting Executive Committee and the Technical 
Issues Committee of the Private Companies Practice Section. 

Currently the Board is redeliberating the proposed standard and has divided its redeliberations into two 
workstreams. The first workstream (Phase 1) will reconsider issues that are not dependent on other 
projects and improvements the Board may finalize in the near term. Issues involving reconsideration of 
other of the proposed changes that, for various reasons, will need more time to resolve are in the second 
workstream (Phase 2). Work on Phase 2 is not expected to begin until Phase 1 is completed. 

                                                      

8 A project relating to other financial communications by not-for-profit entities was also approved at this meeting. 
In January 2014, the board removed the communications project from its Current Technical Plan. 
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A summary of the proposed changes follows. 

 Changing the classes of net assets for which information will be required to be presented in the 
financial statements to the following: 

o Net assets with donor imposed restrictions. The hard line distinction between temporary 
and permanent restrictions would be removed. The focus instead would be on 
describing differences in the nature of the donor imposed restrictions and how and 
when those resources can be used. 

o Net assets without donor imposed restrictions. Board designated net assets would be 
reported in this category and disclosure of information about the amount and purposes 
of board designations would be required. 

This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

 Defining an intermediate operating measure9 on the basis of the following two dimensions: 
o Mission dimension. Resources from or directed at carrying out a not-for-profit entity’s 

purpose for existence. While all gifts result from carrying out the entity’s activities they 
may not be available for current period activities. 

o Availability dimension. Resources available for current period activities reflecting both 
external limitations (for example, donor purpose or time restrictions) and internal 
actions (for example, designations of net assets without donor restrictions) of a not-for-
profit entity’s governing board. 

 Presenting  
o an intermediate measure of operations that would present operating activities for the 

period as 
 All legally available mission-related revenues before reductions for amounts 

designated by the governing board for use in future periods  
 Investing and financing activities directed at carrying out the entity’s programs (also 

referred to a “programmatic investing”) 
o other activities on the basis of whether the resource inflows and outflows are  

 From or directed at carrying out the entity’s purpose for existence 
 Available for current-period operating activities 

 Entities would be permitted to report any specific subtotal before the intermediate measure of 
operations and would continue to be permitted to use a one- or two-statement approach.  

 Quantitative and qualitative information relating to liquidity would be required to be disclosed. This 
would include defining the time horizon the not-for-profit entity uses to manage its liquidity and to 
disclose 

o Total amount of financial assets 
o Amounts not available to meet cash needs within the time horizon due to various 

limitations 
o Total amount of financial liabilities due within the time horizon 
o Information to allow users to understand how the entity manages its liquidity. 

This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

 Underwater endowment amounts will be required to be reported within the “with donor restrictions” 
class of net assets and the entity would be required to disclose 

o The board’s policy or decision on whether to reduce or not spend from underwater 
endowment funds 

                                                      

9 Phase 1 includes improved disclosures for entities that chose to present an intermediate measure of operations. 
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o Original gift amount or level required by donor stipulations and or law for underwater 
endowment funds in the aggregate 

o Fair value of underwater endowment funds in the aggregate. 
This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

 Capital-like transactions 
o Gifts of long-lived assets without donor restrictions would be reported as operating 

revenue. If the not-for-profit places the asset in service instead of selling it, a transfer 
out of operations for the entire amount of the gift would be reported. There would be 
no transfer back into operations in subsequent periods. 

o Gifts of cash that are donor restricted for the acquisition or construction of long-lived 
assets would initially be reported outside of operations as revenues that increase net 
assets with donor restrictions.  

o When placed in service, the release of the donor restrictions would be reported within 
operations as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions and a decrease in net 
assets with donor restrictions.  

o The amount would also be reported as a transfer from operations to nonoperating 
activities. There would be no transfer back into operations in subsequent periods. 

 The option to release donor-imposed restrictions over the estimated useful life of a long-lived asset is 
eliminated with the placed-in-service approach. 
This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

 Requiring not-for-profit entities to do the following: 
o Present the statement of cash flows using the direct method. The requirement to 

reconcile the change in net assets to net cash flows from operating activities would be 
removed with this change. 
This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

o Cash flow categories are revised to better align them with the tentative decision for an 
intermediate measure of operations. 

o Cash gifts with donor-imposed restrictions that they be used to purchase, construct, or 
otherwise acquire long-lived assets for operating purposes would be “operating” cash 
flows. Currently these transactions are reported as “financing” cash flows. 

o Cash payments to purchase, construct, or otherwise acquire long-lived assets for 
operating purposes would be “operating” cash flows. Currently these transactions are 
reported as “investing” cash flows. 

o Cash proceeds from the sale of long-lived assets would be “operating” cash flows. 
Currently these are reported as “investing” cash flows. 

o Cash dividends and interest would be “investing” cash flows. Currently these are 
reported as “operating” cash flows. 

o Cash payments of interest expense would be “financing” cash flows. Currently these are 
reported as “operating” cash flows. 

o Report expenses by their nature and retaining the requirement to report expenses by 
function. 
This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 
 

 Provide an analysis of all expenses (operating and nonoperating) by function and by 
nature in one location—the statement of activities, a separate statement of expenses 
(currently the statement of functional expenses), or a schedule in the notes. Investment 
expenses netted against investment return would not be included. 
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This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

o This analysis would neither require nor preclude functionalization of 
nonoperating expenses. Additionally, a specific format of the analysis would not 
be required though such information is typically provided in the form of a 
matrix.  

o Voluntary health and welfare organizations currently required to present this 
information in a statement would be allowed the same presentation and 
disclosure flexibility as other not-for-profit entities in how they communicate 
this information.  

o Present all transfers between operating and nonoperating activities in a separate discrete 
section (of the statement of activities) and provide a subtotal after such transfers. In 
addition, a subtotal for operating revenues and expenses would be required (before 
transfers section). 

o At a minimum, the aggregate of transfers out of operating activities would be required to 
be presented separate from the aggregate of transfers into operating activities. If all 
transfers are not displayed on the face of the statement of activities, details of aggregated 
transfers would be required to be provided in a note to the financial statements. 

o Qualitatively describe the purpose, amount, and type of all transfers in the notes. 
o Report investment returns net of external and direct internal investment expenses 

(disclosure of investment expenses netted with investment income would no longer be 
required). Amounts of internal salaries and benefits netted against investment return 
would be required to be disclosed. 

This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 
o Include a description of the method used to allocate costs among program and support 

functions in the notes to the financial statements.  

This has been classified as a Phase 1 issue. 

At its December 16, 2015 meeting, the Board decided 

 Not to require not-for-profit entities to use the direct method of presenting the cash flow statement 
but instead to allow them to use the direct or indirect method and to not require the indirect 
reconciliation for those electing to use the direct method. 

 To combine temporarily and permanently restricted net assets into “net assets with donor 
restrictions” and to rename unrestricted net assets “net assets without donor restrictions.” 

 To require  
o disclosure of amounts and purposes of board-designated net assets on either the face of 

the financial statements or in the notes. 
o the aggregate amount by which endowment funds are underwater to be classified with 

the net assets with donor restrictions category. 
o the use of the placed-in-service approach and eliminate the over-time approach for 

expirations of restrictions to acquire/construct long-lived assets. 

 To retain the proposed disclosures for underwater endowments. 

You are encouraged to follow the status of this project at www.fasb.org and to provide 
comments on the exposure draft when it becomes available. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

6. What is NOT true with respect to the changes FASB is proposing for cash flow statements prepared 
by not-for-profit entities? 

a. Not-for-profit entities will be required to prepare the statement of cash flows using the 
direct method. 

b. The requirement to reconcile the change in net assets to net cash flows from operating 
activities would be removed. 

c. A hybrid method of reporting cash flows will be required, incorporating both the direct and 
indirect methods. 

d. Several changes relating to how long-lived asset transactions are reported in the statement of 
cash flows have been proposed. 

 

Key Point 

 

FASB’s not-for-profit financial reporting project could have a significant impact on 
financial reporting by not-for-profit entities. Preparers of not-for-profit entity financial 
statements and their auditors, as well as users of this information, are strongly 
encouraged to follow the status of this project at www.fasb.org.  

Accounting for Goodwill 
In late November 2013, the Board added accounting for goodwill impairment for public business and 
not-for-profit entities to its agenda. The objective of the project is to reduce the cost and complexity of 
the subsequent accounting for goodwill for these entities. This project results from the Board’s 
consideration of goodwill in connection with PCC Issues No. 13-01B which resulted in the issuance of 
ASU No. 2014-02, Intangibles: Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill (a consensus of the Private 
Company Council). As of the writing of this course (February 2016), this project is in the initial deliberation 
stage and no documents have been issued relating to this subject. 

You are encouraged to follow the status of this project at www.fasb.org and to provide 
comments on the exposure draft when it becomes available. 
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Consolidation of For-Profit Limited Partnershps 
Initial deliberations have begun on a project to clarify when a not-for-profit entity that is a general 
partner should consolidate a for-profit limited partnership or other similar entity. 

You are encouraged to follow the status of this project at www.fasb.org and to provide 
comments on the exposure draft when it becomes available. 

 

  



4-46 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

Other FASB Projects 
As of February 2016, when this course was updated, one project remains on the FASB and International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) joint agenda. This project and its current status is as follows. 

LEASES 

On May 16, 2013 FASB issued a proposed ASU revising the 2010 proposed ASU relating to FASB ASC 
840—Leases. Since that time both the FASB and the IASB redeliberated their respective proposals. 
Although this standard was intended to make the accounting and reporting of leases consistent between 
U.S. and international accounting standards, the two boards were unable to reach consensus on several 
key issues. 

In November 2015, the FASB voted to send the lease standard for final drafting and expects to issue a 
final standard in early 2016. The effective date of the standard for public business entities for fiscal years 
and interim periods within those fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2018. For all other entities the 
standard will be effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. 

This standard will significantly affect all entities involved in leasing transactions either as a lessor 
or a lessee. Though the effective date is a number of years after the issuance of the final 
standard, entities should not defer the development and execution of an implementation plan 
for this standard. 

 

  



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 4-47 

APPENDIX 

 

This appendix is included for supplementary purposes only and is not  
required for CPE credit. 
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  Case Study  

Community Health Facilities, Inc. (CHF) is a small, family-run 501(c)(3) not-for-profit organization 
operating three urgent care health clinics in two counties. Patient revenues account for more than 50 
percent of revenues, pharmacy revenues account for 20 percent of total revenues, and contributions 
and federal and state grants account for the remaining revenues. A Single Audit is not required. 

CHF became your audit client five years ago when their bank required an annual financial statement 
audit as a condition of a $2,000,000 mortgage. The mortgage was used to purchase the current 
office and to construct and equip their largest urgent care facility. Security for the mortgage was the 
underlying real estate, receivables, and inventories. The mortgage identifies a number of situations 
that will result in an event of default. In the event of default the entire remaining balance of the 
mortgage immediately becomes callable as due in full. Following are the events of default specified 
in the mortgage. 

 Current ratio of less than 1.25. 
 Debt service coverage ratio less than 1.75. 
 90 days of working capital (based on the current year audited total expenses) in 

unrestricted net assets. 

Audited financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2017, have not been issued because the 
following situations exist:  

 Current mortgage balance is $1,500,000 ($300,000 principal due in the following year) 
and total liabilities are $2,000,000. 

 Current ratio of 1.0 based on current assets of $499,000 and current liabilities of 
$500,000. 

 Debt service coverage ratio of 1.5 
 75 days of working capital in unrestricted assets. 
 Management has determined no conditions or events exist at June 30, 2017, affecting 

the ability of CHF to continue as a going concern because they believe the bank will 
not view the 1.0 current ratio, the debt service coverage ratio of 1.5, and the 75 days of 
working capital as events of default. They believe the bank will not call the mortgage 
because CHF is a vital part of the community and local economy.  

While most evidence to support the audit opinion has been gathered as of October 1, 2017, you 
believe there is substantial doubt relating to the ability of CHF to continue as a going concern. You 
have concluded the current ratio, debt service coverage ratio, and days of working capital represent 
events of default that give the bank the option to call the mortgage.  

Questions  

1. Do you agree with the position management has taken? Why or why not? 
2. If you were the auditor, how would you proceed based on the limited facts presented in 

this case? 
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Chapter 5  

EMERGING ISSUES AFFECTING  
NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify tips that not-for-profits can use to make their strategic planning successful. 
 Determine how theft and fraud affect not-for-profit entities. 
 Identify the findings in the 2015 Bank of America survey of not-for-profit entities. 
 Recognize key challenges not-for-profit entities face in 2016. 
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Strategic Planning for Not-for-Profit Entities 
Generally, strategic planning identifies strategies that will enable a not-for-profit entity to achieve its 
mission. It is typically a process involving staff and leadership of the organization and also may involve 
community leaders or other stakeholders. There are a number of resources available to not-for-profit 
entities relating to strategic planning from the beginning of the process through ultimate achievement of 
the entity’s mission. 

In a November 2015 article in the Journal of Accountancy, authors Bob Mims and Mary Legakis Engel 
identify the following general steps not-for-profit entities can take to make their strategic planning 
process a success: 

1. Pick a strategic planning team. 

2. Choose a team leader. 

3. Build consensus on the team. 

4. Keep objectives simple. 

5. Move toward a business plan. 

6. Implement the plan. 

7. Establish accountability. 

PICK A STRATEGIC PLANNING TEAM AND CHOSE A TEAM LEADER 

Selection of the strategic planning team and its leader is critical to the ultimate success of the strategic 
planning process. If all stakeholders are not represented, they may feel that by not being part of the 
process their interests and concerns have been ignored. As such, they may not later support the 
implementation and execution of the plan. 

Some organizations feel the executive director (or equivalent) is the appropriate individual to lead the 
strategic planning process because they have the most at stake in the strategic plan. What not-for-profit 
entities need to remember is that the team leader should be someone who can build consensus and bring 
the group together. This may or may not be the executive director, which is why some organizations 
often utilize an outside party or firm specializing in strategic planning and team building to lead the 
process. Using someone from outside of the organization also may allow employees to provide more 
honest feedback during the strategic planning process. 

BUILD CONSENSUS ON THE TEAM  

For many organizations, building consensus is the most difficult and stressful part of the strategic 
planning process. Everyone should be encouraged to participate in all aspects of the planning process; 
however, it may be necessary at times for the team leader to limit their participation or redirect their  
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attention. When a team member feels as if they are being ignored, it may affect their continued 
participation in the planning process or their ultimate support for the implementation and execution of 
the strategic plan. 

KEEP OBJECTIVES SIMPLE AND MOVE TOWARD A BUSINESS PLAN 

This is another area where the team leader may need to rein in team members. It is easy to get caught up 
in the excitement of the strategic planning process, which often results in an overly complex or somewhat 
unrealistic plan. The goal in the strategic planning process is to identify strategies that will move a not-
for-profit toward its mission. Once consensus has been reached on the broad-based strategies, the team 
is able to develop more focused and metric-driven goals and objectives. Goals and objectives need to be 
realistic in light of the human, capital, and financial resources available to the not-for-profit entity. 

Key Point 

 

To improve the chances for a strategic planning process to be successful, staff, 
management, and leadership of the not-for-profit entity need to understand what the 
process entails and that it is limited by the resources the organization has available  
to it. 

IMPLEMENT THE PLAN AND ESTABLISH ACCOUNTABILITY 

There are numerous not-for-profit entities that have strategic plans but not all of these entities 
successfully implement the plans. Often the reason for this is the goals and objectives are not realistic or 
there is insufficient acceptance of the importance of the plan by leadership. In other cases, leadership and 
management may not have effectively communicated the reason for the strategic planning process and 
how the strategic plan can drive the success of the organization. 

Accountability for implementing the plan and monitoring its progress is critical. Individuals or groups 
responsible in whole or part for implementation and or success need to be identified in the strategic 
planning process. Ideally, when goals and objectives are met, there should be some sort of financial 
reward and recognition to the individuals or groups responsible for the success. 
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Theft and Fraud at Not-for-Profit Entities1 
The risk of fraud is a serious concern for all types of entities, but fraud can be particularly damaging to a 
not-for-profit entity and a damaged reputation can have devastating consequences. In addition to setting 
the right tone at the top, the officers and governing board of a not-for-profit entity should take the lead 
in establishing and maintaining a formal fraud risk management program, which should include a fraud 
risk assessment designed to identify certain vulnerabilities and internal control gaps that could leave the 
organization exposed to financial and reputational damage. 

According to the most recent global fraud study by the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners, the 
typical organization loses an estimated 5 percent of its annual revenue to fraud. Although fraud in not-
for-profit entities results, on average, in a smaller net loss than fraud in commercial enterprises, the not-
for-profit entities in the study reported a median loss of $100,000, an 11 percent increase from the 
previous study and a significant loss to almost any charitable organization. 

Beyond the immediate financial loss, however, an even greater potential cost of fraud to not-for-profit 
entities is the reputational damage that can occur. Because most not-for-profit entities depend on support 
from donors, grantors, and other public sources, their reputations are among their most valued assets.  

Because not-for-profit entities primarily focus on mission, they may overlook the importance of internal 
control, which could lead to an increased risk of fraud and especially fraud due to misappropriation of 
assets. Small and medium-size not-for-profit entities may not be aware that certain “tweaks” in their 
existing internal control can possibly decrease their risk of fraud. 

A smaller not-for-profit entity might benefit from the following changes in internal control: 

 Send unopened bank statements to a higher level employee without check signing authority. 
 Increase controls over credit cards. 
 Use someone in upper management to be responsible for holding the entity accountable for 

spending. 
 Adopt procedures relating to the processing of donations. 
 Require all employees in accounting and finance functions to take at least one week of vacation each 

year. 

BANK STATEMENTS 

In smaller organizations, improper segregation of duties is often an issue and may be of special concern 
in the bookkeeping and accounting function. One individual with access to an entity’s check stock, 
general ledger system, and subsidiary systems (receivables and billing, accounts payable, or payroll) is a 
common situation in small not-for-profit entities. By having a manager not involved in these functions 
receive and review the bank statements, the control weakness resulting from such improper segregation 
of duties can be mitigated. For this mitigating control to be effective, the employee receiving the bank 
statements needs to be properly trained in the review and follow-up procedures. 

                                                      

1 Information in this section is based on a September 15, 2015 article in AICPA Insights and the 2014 Report to the 
Nations on Occupational Fraud prepared by the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (available at www.acfe.com). 
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Another easy-to-implement control is to remove the master file maintenance function from the individual 
with sole responsibility for the general ledger and subsidiary systems. By assigning the master file 
maintenance function to a member of management, the potential for fraud may be significantly reduced. 

CREDIT CARDS 

In many organizations, including not-for-profit entities, credit card spending is an issue that could result 
in the entity paying for goods or services it does not receive. Proper review of credit card charges by a 
card holder’s supervisor or an individual in the accounting and finance function is often effective in 
reducing credit card fraud. Not-for-profit entities can establish procedures requiring the card holder to 
attach receipts for all charges to the monthly statement and then requiring the statement reviewer to 
ascertain that all receipts are not only attached but represent legitimate expenditures. 

Not-for-profit entities may have effective controls over credit card spending but may have overlooked 
controls over who is issued a credit card and what happens to the card when a card holder leaves the not-
for-profit entity. Use of a terminated employee’s credit card by other individuals in the entity is a 
common misappropriation of assets fraud scheme when controls over the physical card are missing or 
ineffective. 

ACCOUNTABILITY FOR SPENDING 

Turnover in not-for-profit entities is not uncommon as many entities may not have adequate staffing 
levels and or may not offer competitive wages and benefits. Specifically assigning a high-level member of 
management the responsibility of reviewing spending and other key success factors ensures this review 
will be performed regardless of the level of turnover the entity may experience. Often board members 
review monthly information but in some cases it is highly summarized information, which can mask 
over-spending. 

Another procedure useful in monitoring spending is the preparation of a budget and a periodic review of 
actual results compared to the budget. However, the effectiveness of this procedure depends in large part 
on the methods used to prepare the budget. If budget amounts are not realistic or supported by some 
level of detail, it is likely actual results could be significantly different from the budget. In any case, 
questions raised about actual results or differences between actual and budget need to be investigated and 
appropriately resolved. Explanations to questions should be communicated to the individual asking the 
question on a timely basis as well. 

Key Point 

 High staff turnover, lack of staff expertise, inadequate or no segregation of duties, and 
management override combine to make fraud a significant risk in small and medium 
not-for-profit entities.  
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DONATIONS 

A not-for-profit entity may have effective controls over donations they have solicited because often a 
number of individuals are involved in the process from planning to asking to receiving. For unsolicited 
donations, however, controls may be missing or ineffective making it difficult to assert that all unsolicited 
donations have been recorded.  

An effective and cost-beneficial control that can be put in place to increase the likelihood that all 
unsolicited donations are recorded is the use of a lock box at a financial institution. To ensure the 
effectiveness of a lock box, all information the not-for-profit entity posts on its website or publishes 
should direct donors to send their donation to the lock box address. This is an especially cost-effective 
control in small and medium size not-for-profit entities where improper segregation of duties exists. 

MANDATORY VACATIONS 

Although mandatory vacations for accounting and finance personnel may seem obvious, they are not 
always required in small and medium-size not-for-profit entities due to the limited number of staff in the 
accounting and finance function. For mandatory vacations to be acceptable to employees and 
management, an effective cross-training program needs to exist. Numerous frauds, both large and small, 
have been detected when the fraudster was on vacation and another employee temporarily assumed their 
responsibilities. 

From a fraud perspective, cross-training may be ineffective. Often the person performing the fraudster’s 
duties may not know how to effectively deal with all transactions and issues and therefore leave them for 
the fraudster upon their return. For the cross-trained employee it is essential they periodically perform 
the functions for which they are cross-trained rather than only when the individual is on vacation. This 
increases the cross-trained employee’s knowledge of the full range of the individual’s responsibilities. 
Being more knowledgeable about all of the duties for which they are cross-trained may increase their 
ability to deal with all transactions and issues leaving few if any for the individual to deal with when they 
return from vacation. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which organization is responsible for the 2014 Report to the Nations on Occupational Fraud? 

a. Association of Certified Fraud Examiners. 
b. Auditing Standards Board. 
c. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. 
d. Center for Audit Quality. 
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Changes in Wage Laws 
During 2015, the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) proposed changes to the Fair Labor Standards Act to 
update it for wage inflation occurring since 2004. A Final Rule announcement is expected in early 2016 
and will become effective 60 to 90 days after publication. Primary provisions of the proposed changes 
relate to updating salary and compensation levels of white collar workers to be exempt from mandatory 
payment of overtime.  

You are encouraged to read the proposed rules and the Fact Sheet prepared by the Wage and 
Hour Division of the DOL in their entirety. Both are available at www.dol.gov. 

In mid-2015, Vermont senator Bernie Sanders, proposed a bill that would change the current federal 
minimum wage from $7.25 per hour to $15.00 per hour. The federal minimum wage was last changed in 
2009 when it increased from $5.85 to the current $7.25 per hour. This, and other discussions in recent 
years relating to a livable minimum wage, prompted a number of state and local governments to approve 
increases in their minimum wage levels.  

As of the date this course was written, 13 states have approved increases in their hourly minimum wage 
ranging from 25 cents to one dollar per hour. Another 10 states increased their state hourly minimum 
wage to reflect small cost-of-living increases. Likewise, nine cities and counties adopted increases to their 
hourly minimum wage ranging from 75 cents to $2.95 per hour. This equates to a low of $10.75 per hour 
in New York cities (other than New York City, which is now $12.05 per hour) to a high of $14.95 and 
$15.00 per hour in Missoula, Montana, and Seattle, Washington, respectively.2 

POLLING QUESTION 

Which of the following best describes your current wage situation? 

a. I live in a state that increased its minimum hourly wage during 2014 or 2015. 
b. I do not live in a state that increased its minimum hourly wage during 2014 or 2015. 
c. My state does not have a minimum wage. 

  

                                                      

2 For additional information available as of January 20, 2016, see Where Minimum Wage is Going Up in 2016 by Jeanne 
Sahadi at www.krcrtv.com. 
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HOW DOES THIS AFFECT NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES? 

Changes for White Collar Workers 
Certain white collar workers (executive, administrative, and professional) are exempt from overtime 
requirements and the status as exempt is based mostly on salary level and duties. In the past, not-for-
profit entities may have classified certain employees as exempt that met the “salary test” but not the 
“duties test.”   

For example, some executive administrative assistants are classified as exempt because their 
compensation is higher than other administrative assistants. In other cases, program directors and 
coordinators are often classified as exempt employees because of the supervisory nature of the position 
as well as the skills, knowledge, and experience needed. Under the proposed changes, these employees 
who earn less than $50,440 will be entitled to overtime if their primary duties are non-exempt in nature. 
The current compensation threshold is $23,660 per year, which is significantly less than the proposed 
threshold. 

Not-for-profit entities may wish to review job titles and descriptions to ensure proper classification as 
exempt or non-exempt. Duties of employees often change from the time of hire but their job description 
is not updated to reflect the changes in their duties. This review is particularly important for any 
employee currently classified as exempt that makes more than $23,660 but less than the proposed 
threshold of $50,440. 

Based on the job audit, a not-for-profit will need to determine how they will comply with the proposed 
regulations when effective. Basically, the not-for-entity has two options (1) increase the employee’s 
compensation to exceed $50,440 or (2) reclassify the employee as non-exempt. Either of these two 
alternatives may have a significant negative effect on financial resources thereby reducing resources 
available to meet the mission of the entity. 

Another provision in the proposed changes will establish a mechanism for an automatic update of the 
salary and compensation levels in future years. 

Changes to the Federal Minimum Wage 
Many not-for-profit entities employ a significant number of employees that are compensated on an 
hourly basis. Often, the hourly rates these employees are paid are at, or only slightly more than, the 
higher of the federal, state, or locally mandated hourly minimum wage. Some not-for-profit entities may 
already be affected by newly enacted minimum wage requirements if they operate in one of the states or 
local governments that have already increased the minimum wage amount. 

Because of the mission aspect of not-for-profit entities, they may not be in a position to respond to 
increases in minimum wage requirements in the same manner as entities in the private sector. A private 
sector entity may be able to increase its prices to absorb increased labor costs resulting from an increase 
in the minimum wage. Not-for-profit entities do not typically charge a fee designed to recover direct or 
direct and indirect costs and in some cases provide services at no charge. The nature of a not-for-profit 
entity’s beneficiaries will likely make it nearly impossible to raise fees in an amount to absorb the full 
impact of an increase in the minimum wage. 
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To compensate for an increase in the minimum wage, some not-for-profit entities may be forced to 
reduce hours and or to lay off employees. Reductions of this nature would likely impact a large number 
of employees that are critical to the mission and or operations of the entity. 

An unintended consequence of increasing the minimum wage is how it will be perceived by employees 
that are currently paid an amount that is at or slightly above the proposed minimum wage. For example, a 
program coordinator may currently earn $20 per hour based on the skills, knowledge, and experience 
needed for the position. In that same organization, a facilities maintenance employee currently earns $10 
an hour but would earn $15 per hour under some proposals. The program coordinator may view this as 
giving the facilities maintenance employee a 50 percent raise when they have done nothing to “earn” it.  

Not-for-profit entities need to begin to evaluate how the proposed changes in the federal minimum wage 
may affect them. The entity will need to determine a plan to comply with the new wage requirements that 
would include consideration of whether to adjust salaries of other employees. 

Key Point 

 Not-for-profit entities employ a significant number of employees that will be affected 
by an increase in the federal minimum wage. In addition, employees currently 
classified as exempt may be affected by proposed changes to the Fair Labor 
Standards Act. Not-for-profit entities should begin to evaluate how these changes may 
affect them.  
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2015 Bank of America Survey3 
The Bank of America Charitable Foundation has provided a survey of the not-for-profit sector since 
2008 and the 2015 survey was also supported by the David and Lucile Packard Foundation. Over 5,000 
not-for-profit entities responded to the 2015 survey and key findings of the survey include 

 Not-for-profit entities are unable to meet the demands of the under-resourced communities they 
serve. 

o Demand for services increased for the seventh year 
o More than half of the entities surveyed could not meet demands for their services and 

they estimate needs go unmet. 

 Critical needs not-for-profits identified include 
o Affordable housing 
o Youth development 
o Job availability and job training 
o Access to healthcare 
o Access to strong, well-performing schools. 

 Recovery of economy has not addressed systemic and perpetual funding challenges. 
 It is a time of immense change for not-for-profit entities at a time when they need to develop ways to 

improve long-term sustainability and viability. 
 Not-for-profit entities are investing in their futures by 

o Collaborating with other organizations to improve or increase services 
o Hiring staff for new positions 
o Upgrading hardware or software to improve service or program delivery 
o Conducting long-term strategic or financial planning. 

Based on the 2015 survey, the top challenges facing not-for-profit entities, in order of priority, include 

 Achieving long-term financial sustainability 
 Diversifying funding sources 
 Cuts in government funding 
 Marketing, outreach, and community engagement 
 Raising funding that covers full costs 
 Raising unrestricted revenue 
 Managing or pursuing growth 
 Meeting community demand for services or programs 
 Measuring impact 
 Not enough staff 
 Developing cash reserves 
 Having regular, reliable cash flow 

 

                                                      

3 Available as of January 20, 2016 at www.nonprofitfinancefund.org/state-of-the-sector-surveys.  
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. Which is NOT a way in which not-for-profit entities are investing in their future? 

a. Collaborating with other organizations to improve or increase services.  
b. Developing cash reserves. 
c. Upgrading hardware or software to improve service or program delivery. 
d. Conducting long-term strategic or financial planning. 

Small Group Activity 

Which of the top challenges do you think affects you or your clients the most and why? Which 
of the top challenges do you think affects you or your clients the least and why?  
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Key Challenges in 2016 
Generally, the challenges not-for-profit entities will face in 2016 are similar to those they faced in the last 
several years. As noted in the 2015 Bank of America Survey discussed in the previous section, resources 
and needs are a perennial challenge for not-for-profit entities. These and other key challenges for not-for-
profit entities in 2016 are discussed in this section. 

LIMITED AND DECREASING RESOURCES 

A lack of resources is a continuing challenge for not-for-profit entities and compounding this is the 
continuing decrease in federal and state funding available to not-for-profit entities. Although charitable 
giving from individual and foundations has increased slightly in the last few years, it is still not at the level 
it was before the Great Recession. 

This means that not-for-profit entities have faced serious funding challenges for the last eight years. 
Unfortunately, while resources have been limited during this time, the demand for services has increased 
for many not-for-profit entities. As a result, a number of not-for-profit entities have not been able to 
invest in technology nor have they had the financial resources to invest in human resources at all levels 
but especially in leadership positions. 

A national study by the Grantmakers for Effective Organizations of the challenges facing not-for-profit 
entities noted the greatest need most not-for-profit entities have now is to evaluate their infrastructure 
and core capacities. Core competencies in this study include those that allow a not-for-profit entity to be 
resilient and adaptable in times of financial strain.4  

INCREASED COMMUNITY NEEDS 

Many not-for-profit entities have historically served underserved communities. However, the Great 
Recession, increases in the income gap, and decreases in federal and state funding in recent years created 
a much greater need for services. In recent years, needs have increased in historically underserved 
communities and in areas not previously needing services. 

As stated previously, financial resources continue to be constrained in many not-for-profit organizations. 
In the past seven years, the need for services provided by not-for-profit entities has increased without any 
corresponding increase in financial resources. However, the Uniform Guidance (see chapter 1 of this 
course) allows not-for-profit entities that have not previously operated under an approved indirect cost 
rate to recover a portion of their indirect costs (10 percent of the program’s direct costs). This may create 
“breathing room” for some not-for-profit entities by relieving some of the pressure to raise funds to 
cover overhead costs. 

                                                      

4 The full study is available to GEO members as of January 20, 2016 at www.geofunders.org. 
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GOVERNMENTS SHIFTING SERVICES TO NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES 

Federal and state agencies experiencing decreased or flat revenues have responded, in part, by reducing or 
eliminating funding for federal and or state programs. In some cases, federal and state programs have 
been eliminated entirely, leaving the responsibility for providing those services to local governments and 
the not-for-profit sector.   

Compounding this situation are the views of some elected officials that the not-for-profit sector is “cash 
rich” and therefore does not need federal or state funding. Unfortunately, some of these views are the 
result of negative and out-of-context news reports referring to cash and investment balances primarily 
held by foundations and in endowment funds. 

RESPONDING TO REGULATORY CHANGES 

As discussed in chapter 1 of this course, the Uniform Guidance makes significant changes to the 
administrative requirements and cost principles applicable to entities receiving and spending federal funds 
received directly or through a pass through entity. Some of the new requirements may require some not-
for-profit entities to make significant changes to their existing policies and procedures. Changes to time-
keeping procedures and purchasing policies may be especially difficult for some entities, especially small 
and medium-size not-for-profit entities, to implement. 

In a previous section of this chapter the proposed changes to the Fair Labor Standards Act and in the 
minimum wage were discussed. As that section indicates, these changes are likely to negatively affect a 
number of not-for-profit entities. Many not-for-profit entities with a large number of hourly employees 
may be forced to lay off employees or reduce program services to comply with changes in the minimum 
wage. 

You are encouraged to follow the progress of these proposed changes and to begin to evaluate 
the potential effect as soon as possible. 
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Accounting Areas of Interest in  
Not-for-Profit Entities 
Generally accepted accounting principles applicable to not-for-profit entities are not always consistently, 
or appropriately, applied in practice. Two areas in which significant diversity in practice is sometimes seen 
are gifts-in-kind and grants. 

GIFTS-IN-KIND 

A large number of not-for-profit entities receive significant noncash gifts-in-kind that are critical in 
sustaining their mission. These gifts-in-kind can take a variety of forms, such as property, equipment, 
medical supplies, food, clothes, and household items. When donors contribute resources to not-for-profit 
entities, it is generally beneficial to both the not-for-profit entity and donor. The not-for-profit entity is 
able to operate its programs and activities without having to purchase these items, and donors, such as 
corporations, have an opportunity to give back to their communities by putting excess inventory to good 
use. 

Not-for-profit entities that receive gifts-in-kind should consider the following issues when determining 
how to account for the gifts-in-kind received: 

 FASB ASC 958-605-30-11 indicates that the gifts-in-kind that can be used or sold shall be measured 
at fair value. If the gifts-in-kind received have no value, as might be the case for certain items that 
cannot be (a) used internally by the not-for-profit entity for program or supporting service activities 
or (b) sold by the not-for-profit entity, the gift received should not be recognized as contribution 
revenue. 

 FASB ASC 958-605 provides guidance for agency transactions. The not-for-profit entity should 
determine if the gifts-in-kind received should be accounted for as a contribution or an agency 
transaction. 

 FASB ASC 958-605 provides guidance for differentiating between contributions and exchange 
transactions. If a donor voluntarily transfers assets to the not-for-profit entity or performs services 
for the not-for-profit entity in exchange for assets of substantially lower value, and no unstated rights 
or privileges are involved, the contribution received that is inherent in that transaction may be 
recorded as contribution revenue. When obtaining gifts-in-kind in which a fee is paid by the not-for-
profit entity to the resource provider, the not-for-profit entity must determine if the fee is an 
indicator of an exchange transaction based on the value of the gifts-in-kind relative to the fee paid. 

 FASB ASC 958-605-30 provides guidance on the initial measurement of contributions, including 
gifts-in-kind, at fair value. Some donations of gifts-in-kind are relatively easy to measure at fair value 
because observable inputs often are readily available, such as donations of marketable securities, 
automobiles, or real estate. Other donations of gifts-in-kind, such as certain pharmaceuticals, are 
more difficult to measure at fair value due to a lack of readily available observable inputs. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. Accounting for gifts-in-kind for not-for-profit entities is found in which Topic of FASB ASC? 

a. FASB ASC 958. 
b. FASB ASC 954. 
c. FASB ASC 952. 
d. FASB ASC 908. 

GRANTS 

FASB ASC 958-605 provides guidance for differentiating between contributions and exchange 
transactions. Exchange transactions are transfers of assets that are, in substance, purchases of goods or 
services in which each party receives and sacrifices commensurate value. 

Generally, grants are contributions if either (a) the resource provider (grantor) receives no value in 
exchange for the assets/services transferred to the not-for-profit organization (grantee), or (b) the value 
received by the resource provider (grantor) is incidental to the potential public benefit from the not-for-
profit organization (grantee) using the transferred assets and services. 

Grants made to a not-for-profit organization (grantee) by a resource provider (grantor) that (1) provides 
materials to be tested in the grant activity and (2) that retains the right to any patents or other results of 
the grant activity would likely be an exchange transaction. On the other hand, if the grant activity is (a) 
planned and carried out by the not-for-profit organization (grantee) and (b) the not-for-profit 
organization (grantee) retains the right to the benefits of carrying out the grant activity, the grant would 
likely be a contribution. 

Indicators of Grants as Exchange Transactions or Contributions 
The following indicators (based on FASB ASC 958) may be helpful in determining if grants are exchange 
transactions, contributions, or both. None of the following indicators alone determines the classification of revenues 
from grants, awards, or sponsorship. However, some indicators may be more significant than others depending 
on the facts and circumstances. 

Indicators of Grants as Exchange Transactions 

 The not-for-profit organization (grantee) asserts it is seeking resources in exchange for providing 
specified benefits. 

 The resource provider (grantor) asserts it is transferring resources in exchange for it being provided 
specified benefits by the not-for-profit organization (grantee). 

 Method of delivery (such as time, place or type of delivery mechanism) of the assets or services to be 
provided by the not-for-profit organization (grantee) to third party beneficiaries and recipients is 
specified by the resource provider (grantor). 

 Payment by the resource provider (grantor) equals (1) the value of assets or services to be provided 
by the not-for-profit organization (grantee) or (2) the cost of the assets or services plus markup. 
Alternatively, the total payment is based on the quantity of the assets or services to be provided by 
the not-for-profit organization (grantee). 
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 Provisions for economic penalties to be assessed by the resource provider (grantor) exist if the not-
for-profit organization (grantee) fails to make timely delivery of the assets or services (that is, the not-
for-profit organization [grantee] is penalized for nonperformance). 

 Assets and services are to be delivered to the resource provider (grantor) or to individuals or 
organizations closely connected to the resource provider (grantor). 

Indicators of Grants as Contributions 

 The not-for-profit organization (grantee) asserts it is soliciting the assets or services as a contribution. 
 The resource provider (grantor) asserts it is making a donation to support the not-for-profit 

organization’s (grantee’s) programs. 
 Time or place of delivery of the assets or services to be provided by the not-for-profit organization 

(grantee) to third-party beneficiaries or recipients is at the discretion of the not-for-profit 
organization (grantee). 

 The resource provider (grantor) determines the amount of the payment to be made to the not-for-
profit organization (grantee). 

 Penalties, to be assessed by the resource provider (grantor) if the not-for-profit organization (grantee) 
fails to make timely delivery of the assets or services, are limited to the assets or services already 
provided and the return of any unspent amounts [the not-for-profit organization (grantee) is not 
penalized for nonperformance]. 

 Assets or services provided by the not-for-profit organization (grantee) are to be delivered to 
individuals or organizations other than the resource provider (grantor). 
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EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS GLOSSARY 

GOVERNMENTAL TERMINOLOGY 

Accounting System – The methods and records established to identify, assemble, analyze, classify, 
record, and report a government’s transactions and to maintain accountability for the related assets and 
liabilities. 

Accrual Basis of Accounting – The recording of financial effects on a government of transactions and 
other events and circumstances that have consequences for the government in the periods in which those 
transactions, events, and circumstances occur, rather than only in the periods in which cash is received or 
paid by the government. 

Ad Valorem Tax – A tax based on value (such as a property tax). 

Advance From Other Funds – An asset account used to record noncurrent portions of a long-term 
debt owed by one fund to another fund within the same reporting entity. (See Due to Other Funds and 
Interfund Receivable/Payable). 

Agency Funds – A fund normally used to account for assets held by a government as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations or other governments and/or other funds. 

Appropriation – A legal authorization granted by a legislative body to make expenditures and to incur 
obligations for specific purposes. An appropriation is usually limited in amount and time it may be 
expended. 

Assigned Fund Balance – A portion of fund balance that includes amounts that are constrained by the 
government’s intent to be used for specific purposes, but that are neither restricted nor committed. 

Basis of Accounting – A term used to refer to when revenues, expenditures, expenses, and transfers, and 
related assets and liabilities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. 
Specifically, it relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the nature of the 
measurement. (See Accrual Basis of Accounting, Cash Basis of Accounting, and Modified Accrual 
Basis of Accounting). 

Bond – A written promise to pay a specified sum of money (the face value or principal amount) at a 
specified date or dates in the future (the maturity dates[s]), together with periodic interest at a specified 
rate. Sometimes, however, all or a substantial part of the interest is included in the face value of the 
security. The difference between a note and bond is that the latter is issued for a longer period and 
requires greater legal formality. 

Business Type Activities – Those activities of a government carried out primarily to provide specific 
services in exchange for a specific user charge. 
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Capital Grants – Grants restricted by the grantor for the acquisition and/or construction of (a) capital 
asset(s). 

Capital Projects Fund – A fund used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of 
capital facilities and other capital assets. Capital project funds exclude those types of capital-related 
outflows financed by proprietary funds or for assets that will be held in trust for individuals, private 
organizations, or other governments. 

Cash Basis of Accounting – A basis of accounting that requires the recognition of transactions only 
when cash is received or disbursed. 

Committed Fund Balance – A portion of fund balance that includes amounts that can only be used for 
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of 
decision-making authority. 

Consumption Method – The method of accounting that requires the recognition of an 
expenditure/expense as inventories are used. 

Contributed Capital – Contributed capital is created when a general capital asset is transferred to a 
proprietary fund or when a grant is received that is externally restricted to capital acquisition or 
construction. Contributions restricted to capital acquisition and construction and capital assets received 
from developers are reported in the operating statement as a separate item after nonoperating revenues 
and expenses. 

Debt Service Fund – A fund used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest. Debt service funds should be used to 
report resources if legally mandated. Financial resources that are being accumulated for principal and 
interest maturing in future years should also be reported as debt service funds. 

Deferred Revenue – Amounts for which asset recognition criteria (receivable) have been met, but for 
which revenue recognition criteria have not been met. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
amounts that are measurable but not available are classified as deferred revenue. Cash received in advance 
of the period of applicability is also recorded as deferred revenue. 

Deficit – (a) The excess of the liabilities of a fund over its assets. (b) The excess of expenditures over 
revenues during an accounting period, or in the case of proprietary funds, the excess of expenses over 
revenues during an accounting period. 

Disbursement – A payment made in cash or by check. Expenses are only recognized at the time 
physical cash is disbursed. 

Due From Other Funds – A current asset account used to indicate account reflecting amounts owed to 
a particular fund by another fund for goods sold or services rendered. This account includes only short-
term obligations on open account, not interfund loans. 

Due to Other Funds – A current liability account reflecting amounts owed by a particular fund to 
another fund for goods sold or services rendered. This account includes only short-term obligations on 
an open account, not interfund loans. 

Fund Financial Statements – Each fund has its own set of self-balancing accounts and fund financial 
statements that focus on information about the government’s governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary 
fund types. 
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Enabling Legislation – Legislation that authorizes a government to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise 
mandate payment of resources from external resource providers, and includes a legally enforceable 
requirement that those resources be used for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. 

Encumbrances – Commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services. 
Used in budgeting, encumbrances are not GAAP expenditures or liabilities, but represent the estimated 
amount of expenditures ultimately to result if unperformed contracts in process are completed. 

Enterprise Fund – A fund established to account for operations financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business enterprises (such as gas, utilities, transit systems, and parking garages). Usually, 
the governing body intends that costs of providing goods or services to the general public be recovered 
primarily through user charges. 

Expenditures – Decreases in net financial resources. Expenditures include current operating expenses 
requiring the present or future use of net current assets, debt service and capital outlays, 
intergovernmental grants, entitlements, and shared revenues. 

Expenses – Outflows or other using up of assets or incurrences of liabilities, or a combination of both, 
from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities that constitute the 
entity’s ongoing major or central operations. 

Fund – A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts in which cash and other 
financial resources, all related liabilities and residual equities, or balances, and changes therein, are 
recorded and segregated to carry on specific activities or attain certain objectives in accordance with 
special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 

Fund Balance – The difference between fund assets and fund liabilities of the generic fund types within 
the governmental category of funds. 

Fund Type – The 11 generic funds that all transactions of a government are recorded into. The 11 fund 
types are as follows: general, special revenue, debt service, capital projects, permanent, enterprise, internal 
service, private purpose trust, pension trust, investment trust, and agency. 

GASB – The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) was organized in 1984 by the 
Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) to establish standards of financial accounting and reporting for 
state and local governmental entities. Its standards guide the preparation of external financial reports of 
those entities. 

General Fund – The fund within the governmental category used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another governmental fund. 

General-Purpose Governments – General-purpose governments are governmental entities that provide 
a range of services, such as states, cities, counties, towns, and villages. 

Governmental Funds – Funds used to account for the acquisition, use, and balances of spendable 
financial resources and the related current liabilities, except those accounted for in proprietary funds and 
fiduciary funds. Essentially, these funds are accounting segregations of financial resources. Spendable 
assets are assigned to a particular government fund type according to the purposes for which they may or 
must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund type from which they are to be paid. The 
difference between the assets and liabilities of governmental fund types is referred to as fund balance. 
The measurement focus in these funds types is on the determination of financial position and changes in 
financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) rather than on net income 
determination. 
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Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are highly 
aggregated financial statements that present financial information for all assets (including infrastructure 
capital assets), liabilities, and net assets of a primary government and its component units, except for 
fiduciary funds. The government-wide financial statements use the economic resources measurement 
focus and accrual basis of accounting. 

Infrastructure Assets – Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in 
nature and normally can be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. 
Examples of infrastructure assets are roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer systems, 
dams, and lighting systems. Buildings, except those that are an ancillary part of a network of 
infrastructure assets, are not considered infrastructure assets. 

Internal Service Fund – A generic fund type within the proprietary category used to account for the 
financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of 
a government, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

Investment Trust Fund – A generic fund type within the fiduciary category used by a government in a 
fiduciary capacity, such as to maintain its cash and investment pool for other governments. 

Major Funds – A government’s general fund (or its equivalent), other individual governmental type, and 
enterprise funds that meet specific quantitative criteria, and any other governmental or enterprise fund 
that a government’s officials believe is particularly important to financial statement users. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) – MD&A is RSI that introduces the basic financial 
statements by presenting certain financial information as well as management’s analytical insights on that 
information. 

Measurement Focus – The accounting convention that determines (a) which assets and which liabilities 
are included on a government’s balance sheet and where they are reported, and (b) whether an operating 
statement presents information on the flow of financial resources (revenues and expenditures) or 
information on the flow of economic resources (revenues and expenses). 

Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting – The basis of accounting adapted to the governmental fund 
type measurement focus. Revenues and other financial resource increments are recognized when they 
become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Available means collectible in 
the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. 
Expenditures are recognized when the fund liability is incurred and expected to be paid from current 
resources except for (a) inventories of materials and supplies that may be considered expenditures either 
when purchased or when used, and (b) prepaid insurance and similar items that may be considered 
expenditures either when paid for or when consumed. All governmental funds are accounted for using 
the modified accrual basis of accounting in fund financial statements. 

Modified Approach – Rules that allow infrastructure assets that are part of a network or subsystem of a 
network not to be depreciated as long as certain requirements are met. 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – The portion of fund valance that includes amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form, or (b) legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. 

Pension Trust Fund – A trust fund used to account for a PERS. Pension trust funds use the accrual 
basis of accounting and the flow of economic resources measurement focus. 
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Permanent Fund – A generic fund type under the governmental category used to report resources that 
are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that 
support the reporting government’s programs and, therefore, are for the benefit of the government or its 
citizenry. (Permanent funds do not include private-purpose trust funds, which should be used when the 
government is required to use the principal or earnings for the benefit of individuals, private 
organizations, or other governments). 

Private Purpose Trust Fund – A general fund type under the fiduciary category used to report 
resources held and administered by the reporting government acting in a fiduciary capacity for 
individuals, other governments, or private organizations. 

Proprietary Funds – The government category used to account for a government’s ongoing 
organizations and activities that are similar to those often found in the private sector (these are enterprise 
and internal service funds). All assets, liabilities, equities, revenues, expenses, and transfers relating to the 
government’s business and quasi-business activities are accounted for through proprietary funds. 
Proprietary funds should apply all applicable GASB pronouncements and those GAAP applicable to 
similar businesses in the private sector, unless those conflict with GASB pronouncements. These funds 
use the accrual basis of accounting in conjunction with the flow of economic resources measurement 
focus. 

Purchases Method – The method under which inventories are recorded as expenditures when acquired. 

Restricted Fund Balance – Portion of fund valance that reflects constraints placed on the use of 
resources (other than nonspendable items) that are either (a) externally imposed by creditor such as 
through debt covenants, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Required Supplementary Information (RSI) – GAAP specify that certain information be presented as 
RSI. 

Special-Purpose Governments – Special-purpose governments are legally separate entities that perform 
only one activity or only a few activities, such as cemetery districts, school districts, colleges and 
universities, utilities, hospitals and other health care organizations, and public employee retirement 
systems. 

Special Revenue Fund – A fund that must have revenue or proceeds from specific revenue sources 
which are either restricted or committed for a specific purpose other than debt service or capital projects. 
This definition means that in order to be considered a special revenue fund, there must be one or more 
revenue sources upon which reporting the activity in a separate fund is predicated. 

Transfers – All interfund transfers, such as legally authorized transfers from a fund receiving revenue to 
a fund through which the resources are to be expended, where there is no intent to repay. Interfund 
transfers are recorded on the operating statement. 

Unassigned Fund Balance – Residual classification for the general fund. This classification represents 
fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or 
assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. The general fund should be the only fund that 
reports a positive unassigned fund valance amount. In other funds, if expenditures incurred for specific 
purposes exceeded the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, 

Unrestricted Fund Balance – The total of committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and 
unassigned fund balance. 
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NOT-FOR-PROFIT TERMINOLOGY 

Charitable Lead Trust – A trust established in connection with a split-interest agreement, in which the 
not-for-profit organization receives distributions during the agreement’s term. Upon termination of the 
trust, the remainder of the trust assets is paid to the donor or to third-party beneficiaries designated by 
the donor. 

Charitable Remainder Trust – A trust established in connection with a split-interest agreement, in 
which the donor or a third-party beneficiary receives specified distributions during the agreement’s term. 
Upon termination of the trust, a not-for-profit organization receives the assets remaining in the trust. 

Collections – Works of art, historical treasures, or similar assets that are (a) held for public exhibition, 
education, or research in furtherance of public service rather than financial gain, (b) protected, kept 
unencumbered, cared for, and preserved, and (c) subject to an organizational policy that requires the 
proceeds of items that are sold to be used to acquire other items for collections. 

Conditional Promise to Give – A promise to give that depends on the occurrence of a specified future 
and uncertain event to bind the promisor. 

Contribution – An unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a settlement or 
cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonreciprocal transfer by another entity acting other than as an 
owner. 

Costs of Joint Activities – Costs of joint activities are costs incurred for a joint activity. Costs of joint 
activities may include joint costs and costs other than joint costs. Costs other than joint costs are costs 
that are identifiable with a particular function, such as program, fundraising, management and general, 
and membership development costs. 

Donor-Imposed Restriction – A donor stipulation that specifies a use for the contributed asset that is 
more specific than broad limits resulting from the nature of the organization, the environment in which it 
operates, and the purposes specified in its articles of incorporation or bylaws, or comparable documents 
for an unincorporated association. A restriction on an organization’s use of the asset contributed may be 
temporary or permanent. 

Functional Classification – A method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which the 
costs are incurred. The primary functional classifications are program services and supporting activities. 

Joint Activity – A joint activity is an activity that is part of the fundraising function and has elements of 
one or more other functions, such as programs, management and general, membership development, or 
any other functional category used by the entity. 

Joint Costs – Joint costs are the costs of conducting joint activities that are not identifiable with a 
particular component of the activity. 

Natural Expense Classification – A method of grouping expenses according to the kinds of economic 
benefits received in incurring those expenses. Examples of natural expense classifications include salaries 
and wages, employee benefits, supplies, rent, and utilities. 

Permanently Restricted Net Assets – The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit organization 
resulting (a) from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the organization is limited by 
donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be fulfilled or otherwise 
removed by actions of the organization, (b) from other asset enhancements and diminishments subject to 
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the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) from reclassifications from (or to) other classes of net assets as a 
consequence of donor-imposed stipulations. 

Promise to Give – A written or oral agreement to contribute cash or other assets to another entity. A 
promise to give may be either conditional or unconditional. 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets – The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit organization 
resulting (a) from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the organization is limited by 
donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by the passage of time or can be fulfilled and removed by 
actions of the organization pursuant to those stipulations, (b) from other asset enhancements and 
diminishments subject to the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) from reclassifications to (or from) other 
classes of net assets as a consequence of donor-imposed stipulations, their expiration by passage of time, 
or their fulfillment and removal by actions of the organization pursuant to those stipulations. 

Unrestricted Net Assets – The part of net assets of a not-for-profit organization that is neither 
permanently restricted nor temporarily restricted by donor-imposed stipulations. 

SINGLE AUDIT &YELLOW BOOK TERMINOLOGY 

Attestation Engagements – Attestation engagements concern examining, reviewing, or performing 
agreed-upon procedures on a subject matter or an assertion about a subject matter and reporting on the 
results. 

Compliance Supplement – A document issued annually in the Spring by the OMB to provide guidance 
to auditors. 

Data Collection Form – A form submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse which provides 
information about the auditor, the auditee and its federal programs, and the results of the audit. 

Federal Financial Assistance – Assistance that non-federal entities receive or administer in the form of 
grants, loans, loan guarantees, property, cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food 
commodities, direct appropriations, or other assistance, but does not include amounts received as 
reimbursement for services rendered to individuals in accordance with guidance issued by the Director. 

Financial Audits – Financial audits are primarily concerned with providing reasonable assurance about 
whether financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. 

GAGAS – Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards issued by the GAO. They are also 
commonly known as the Yellow Book. 

GAO – The United States Government Accountability Office. Among their responsibilities is the 
issuance of Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (a.k.a. the Yellow Book). 

OMB – The Office of Management and Budget. OMB assists the President in the development and 
implementation of budget, program, management, and regulatory policies. 

Pass-Through Entity – A non-federal entity that provides federal awards to a subrecipient to carry out 
a federal program. 
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Performance Audits – Performance audits entail an objective and systematic examination of evidence to 
provide an independent assessment of the performance and management of a program against objective 
criteria as well as assessments that provide a prospective focus or that synthesize information on best 
practices or cross-cutting issues. 

Program-Specific Audit – An audit of one federal program. 

Single Audit – An audit of a non-federal entity that includes the entity’s financial statements and Federal 
awards. 

Single Audit Guide – This AICPA Audit Guide formally titled Government Auditing Standards and 
Circular A-133 Audits (the Single Audit Guide) is the former Statement of Position (SOP) 98-3. The 
Single Audit Guide provides guidance on the auditor’s responsibilities when conducting a single audit or 
program-specific audit in accordance with the Single Audit Act and Circular A-133. 

Subrecipient – A non-federal entity that receives federal awards through another non-federal entity to 
carry out a federal program, but does not include an individual who receives financial assistance through 
such awards. 
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The AICPA offers a free, daily, e-mailed newsletter covering the day’s top business and 
financial articles as well as video content, research and analysis concerning CPAs and 
those who work with the accounting profession. Visit the CPA Letter Daily news box on the 
www.aicpa.org home page to sign up. You can opt out at any time, and only the AICPA can 
use your e-mail address or personal information. 
 
Have a technical accounting or auditing question? So did 23,000 other professionals who 
contacted the AICPA's accounting and auditing Technical Hotline last year. The objectives 
of the hotline are to enhance members' knowledge and application of professional judgment 
by providing free, prompt, high-quality technical assistance by phone concerning issues 
related to: accounting principles and financial reporting; auditing, attestation, compilation 
and review standards. The team extends this technical assistance to representatives of 
governmental units. The hotline can be reached at 1-877-242-7212. 
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SOLUTIONS 

CHAPTER 1 

Exercise 1-1 

Solution 

What Cost Principles Apply to this Award?  

Federal Award Funding Period Cost Principles Applicable to Award 

 Circulars Uniform Guidance 

01/01/14 - 12/31/14 

07/01/14 - 06/30/15 

Funding increment action dated 
03/01/15 based on award with 
original award date of 03/01/13 
(award terms and conditions modified)  

 
 

 

01/01/15-12/31/15 

Funding increment action dated 
09/01/15 based on award with 
original award date of 09/01/14 (no 
change to award terms and conditions) 

  

Knowledge Check Solutions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. The Uniform Guidance contains Subpart B, “General Provisions. 
b. Incorrect. The Uniform Guidance contains Subpart D, “Post Federal Award Requirements. 
c. Correct. The Uniform Guidance does not contain a Subpart G, “Hospital Cost Principles. 

Hospital Cost Principles are found in Appendix IX to Part 200. 
d. Incorrect. The Uniform Guidance contains Subpart E, “Cost Principles.” 
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2.  
a. Incorrect. A nonfederal entity that expends $750,000 or more in federal awards during the 

entity’s fiscal year is required to have a single audit. $500,000 was the threshold under Circular  
A-133. 

b. Incorrect. A nonfederal entity that expends $750,000 (not $1,000,000) or more in federal awards 
during the entity’s fiscal year must have a single audit. 

c. Correct. A nonfederal entity that expends $750,000 or more in federal awards during the entity’s 
fiscal year must have a single audit 

d. Incorrect. A nonfederal entity is required to have a single audit if it expends $750,000 or more in 
federal awards during the entity’s fiscal year.  

3.  
a. Incorrect. Social Security numbers are protected personally identifiable information. 
b. Incorrect. Passport numbers are protected personally identifiable information.  
c. Correct. Credit ratings are not protected personally identifiable information. 
d. Incorrect. Place of birth is protected personally identifiable information. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. The 2014 and prior Compliance Supplements listed 14 types of compliance requirements. 

This has been reduced to 12 types of compliance requirements beginning with the 2015 
Compliance Supplement. 

b. Incorrect. The 2015 Compliance Supplement lists 12, not 11, types of compliance requirements for 
the auditor to consider.  

c. Incorrect. The number of the types of compliance requirements beginning with the 2015 
Compliance Supplement is 12, not 10. 

d. Correct. There are 12 types of compliance requirements beginning with the 2015 Compliance 
Supplement. 

5.  
a. Incorrect. Chapter 1 deals with general audit guidance. 
b. Correct. Sample reports are found in chapter 2. 
c. Incorrect. Chapter 3 deals with HUD multifamily housing programs. 
d. Incorrect. Chapter 4 deals with the HUD multifamily hospital program. 

CHAPTER 2 

Knowledge Check Solutions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. Current period service cost is included in pension expense in the current period. 
b. Incorrect. Interest on the total pension liability is included in pension expense in the current period. 
c. Incorrect. Projected earnings on plan investments is included in pension expense in the current 

period. 
d. Correct. Actual earnings on plan investments are not included in pension expense in the current 

period. Differences in projected and actual returns are included in pension expense over a closed 
five-year period. 
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2.  
a. Incorrect. Pension plan’s fiduciary net position is required to be disclosed. 
b. Incorrect. Employer’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability is required to be 

disclosed. 
c. Incorrect. Measurement date of the collective net pension liability is required to be disclosed. 
d. Correct. This is not required to be disclosed. Pension expense is a period expense. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. GASB Statement No. 69 is not effective for financial reporting periods beginning after 

June 15, 2013. 
b. Correct. GASB Statement No. 69 is effective for government combinations and disposals of 

government operations occurring in financial reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2013. 

c. Incorrect GASB Statement No. 69 is not effective for financial reporting periods beginning after 
June 15, 2014. 

d. Incorrect. GASB Statement No. 69 is not effective for government combinations and disposals 
of government operations occurring in financial reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2012. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. This is the effective date for all other requirements of GASB Statement No. 73. 
b. Incorrect. This statement affects plans that are not required to account for and report pension 

assets and liabilities under the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68.  
c. Correct. Assets accumulated for benefits under these plans are required to be reported in periods 

beginning after June 15, 2015. 
d. Incorrect. Assets accumulated for benefits under these plans are required to be reported in 

periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 

5.  
a. Incorrect. This is not the effective date for this statement. 
b. Correct. This statement is effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
c. Incorrect. This is not the effective date for this statement.  
d. Incorrect. This is not the effective date for this statement. 
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  Case Study Solution 

Total collective pension liability  

 7/1/13 $ 2,000,000

 $500,000,000 * .004 

 6/30/14 $ 2,750,000

 $550,000,000 * .005 

Net collective pension liability 

 7/1/13 $ 1,200,000

 $300,000,000 * .004 

 6/30/14 $ 1,650,000

 $330,000,000 *.005 

Deferred outflows of resources 

 6/30/14 $   100,000

 Contributions made subsequent to the 
 measurement date 

$ 100,000   

 Differences in pro-rata share of net pension 
 liability $300,000,000 * (.005 - .004)

$ 300,000  

Collective pension expense 

 6/30/14 $   150,000

 $1,650,000 ending net pension liability  $1,200,000 beginning net pension liability  
 = $450,000  $300,000 deferred outflow due to change in pro rata portion 
 Proof  $30,000,000 collective pension liability * .005 pro rata portion 
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CHAPTER 3 

Knowledge Check Solutions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. Internal control over financial reporting is a risk area. 
b. Correct. Functional expense allocations is not a risk area. 
c. Incorrect. Revenue recognition is a risk area. 
d. Incorrect. Professional skepticism is a risk area. 

2.  
a. Incorrect. SAS No. 131 requires an auditor to use the form of audit report required by the 

PCAOB when an audit is not required to be performed under PCAOB standards but is 
performed under those standards. In these cases, SAS No. 131 requires the auditor to also state 
the audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (as 
promulgated by the Auditing Standards Board). 

b. Incorrect. The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct specifically requires members to conduct 
PCAOB regulated audits in accordance with PCAOB standards and not GAAS. 

c. Correct. SAS No. 130 does result from the Attestation Clarity Project of the Auditing Standards 
Board. 

d. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 applies when an examination of an entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting is integrated with an audit of the financial statements. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. Changes to the “Nonattest Services” interpretation were not effective for years 

beginning after December 15, 2011. 
b. Incorrect. Changes to the “Nonattest Services” interpretation were not effective for years 

beginning after February 15, 2012. 
c. Incorrect. Changes to the “Nonattest Services” interpretation were not effective for years 

beginning after December 15, 2013. 
d. Correct. Changes to the “Nonattest Services” interpretation are effective for years beginning 

after December 15, 2014. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. The AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities 

was not issued in 2011. 
b. Incorrect. The AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities 

was not issued in 2012. 
c. Correct. The AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities 

was issued in 2013. 
d. Incorrect. The AICPA’s Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities 

was not issued in 2014. 
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5.  
a. Correct. AU-C section 600 does change existing audit standards relating to principal and other 

auditors. 
b. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 does not address the implementation of GASB Statement No. 72. 
c. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 is one of the most misunderstood and misapplied of the Clarified 

Audit Standards. 
d. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 introduces a number of new terms relating to audits of group 

financial statements. 

6.  
a. Incorrect. The group engagement team does not make this decision. 
b. Correct. The group engagement partner makes this decision. 
c. Incorrect. The group engagement team and group engagement partner do not make this decision 

together. 
d. Incorrect. The component auditor for the largest significant component does not make this 

decision. 

7.  
a. Incorrect. Component materiality is not determined only for components that will be referenced 

in the auditor’s report on the group financial statement. 
b. Incorrect. Component materiality is a relevant concept in audits of group financial statements. 
c. Incorrect. Component materiality is addressed in AU-C section 600. 
d. Correct. Component materiality is determined only for components that the group engagement 

team will perform, or for which the auditor of the group financial statements will assume 
responsibility for the work of a component auditor. 

8.  
a. Correct. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and 

component auditors in all audits of group financial statements. 
b. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 does require communication between the group engagement team 

and component auditors in all audits of group financial statements. 
c. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and 

more than the component auditors whose work will be reference in the audit report of the group 
financial statements. 

d. Incorrect. AU-C section 600 requires communication between the group engagement team and 
more than the component auditors for whom the group engagement partner will assume 
responsibility for their work. 
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CHAPTER 4 

Knowledge Check Solutions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-01 is not effective for annual periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 
b. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-01 is not effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2013. 
c. Correct. ASU No. 2015-01 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
d. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-01 is not effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 

2014. 

2.  
a. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-01 does not establish guidance relating to services received by not-for-

profit entities from affiliated organizations. 
b. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-01 does not establish guidance relating to offsetting assets and 

liabilities. 
c. Correct. ASU No. 2014-01 establishes guidance relating to investments in affordable housing 

projects. 
d. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-01 does not establish guidance relating to health care entities. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-05 establishes guidance for service concession arrangements. 
b. Correct. ASU No. 2014-09 establishes guidance for contracts with customers.  
c. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-01 establishes guidance for investments in qualified affordable housing 

projects. 
d. Incorrect. ASU No. 2014-08 establishes guidance for discontinued operations. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-03 does not establish guidance for extraordinary items. 
b. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-03 does not establish guidance for inventory. 
c. Correct. ASU No. 2015-03 establishes guidance for reporting debt issuance costs. 
d. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-03 does not establish guidance for consolidating variable interest 

entities. 

5.  
a. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-11 does not establish guidance for extraordinary items. 
b. Correct. ASU No. 2015-11 establishes guidance for inventory. 
c. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-11 does not establish guidance for reporting debt issuance costs. 
d. Incorrect. ASU No. 2015-0211 does not establish guidance for consolidating variable interest 

entities. 
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6.  
a. Incorrect. Not-for-profit entities will be required to prepare the statement of cash flows using 

the direct method. 
b. Incorrect. The requirement to reconcile the change in net assets to net cash flows from operating 

activities would be removed. 
c. Correct. FASB has not proposed a hybrid method of reporting cash flows, incorporating both 

the direct and indirect methods. 
d. Incorrect. Several changes relating to how long-lived asset transactions are reported in the 

statement of cash flows have been proposed. 
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  Case Study Solution 

1. ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a 
Going Concern, requires management to evaluate whether conditions or events exist at the 
financial statement date that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. The date through which this evaluation is made is one year after the date 
the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. Relevant conditions and 
events that are known or reasonably knowable through this date are to be considered in 
this determination. 

The relevant conditions management should have considered in this case were the current 
ratio, the debt service coverage ratio, and days of working capital that did not meet the 
requirements in the mortgage. Not meeting these requirements results in three events of 
default any one of which causes the outstanding mortgage to become immediately due 
and payable. 

Unless CHF is able to obtain a waiver from the bank, it is probable CHF will be unable to 
meet its obligations as they become due within the one year period because they will need 
to repay the outstanding mortgage balance of $1,500,000 within this one-year period (as 
required by ASU 2014-15). This may require CHF to take drastic measures to raise the cash 
needed to repay the $1,500,000 mortgage.  

2. The auditor is required to consider whether management has complied with the relevant 
requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework. Assuming CHF’s financial 
reporting framework is the accounting principles promulgated by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board, the auditor would need to determine if management has complied with 
the requirements of ASU 2014-15. 

In this case the auditor believes there is substantial doubt relating to the ability of CHF to 
continue as a going concern when management is of a different opinion. The auditor would 
likely discuss the issue with management and try to persuade them to reconsider their 
position on this issue.  

If management were to change their position, the auditor would need to determine all 
relevant disclosures required by ASU 2014-15 are made in the financial statements. In 
addition, the auditor would need to ensure he or she has complied with the relevant 
requirements of AU-C section 570, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to 
Continue as a Going Concern. 

If management obtains a waiver from the bank, the events of default likely will still need to 
be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, with an emphasis of matter paragraph 
in the auditors’ report. 

If management does not change their position nor obtain a waiver from the bank, no 
disclosures would be made in the financial statements that are required under ASU 2014-
15. The auditor would conclude the disclosures are inadequate and would be required to 
modify his or her opinion in accordance with AU-C section 705, Modifications to the 
Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report.  
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CHAPTER 5 

Knowledge Check Solutions 

1.  
a. Correct. The Association of Certified Fraud Examiners issues the biennial report on 

occupational fraud. 
b. Incorrect. The Auditing Standards Board issues auditing standards relating to the auditor’s 

responsibility for fraud. 
c. Incorrect. The PCAOB is not mentioned in this section. 
d. Incorrect. The Center for Audit Quality is not responsible for the report on occupational fraud. 

2.  
a. Incorrect. Not-for-profit entities listed collaborating with other organizations to improve or 

increase services as a way to invest in their futures. 
b. Correct. Developing cash reserves was listed by not-for-profit entities as a top challenge but not 

as a way to invest in their futures. 
c. Incorrect. Not-for-profit entities listed upgrading hardware or software to improve service or 

program delivery as a way to invest in their futures. 
d. Incorrect. Not-for-profit entities listed conducting long-term strategic or financial planning as a 

way to invest in their futures. 

3.  
a. Correct. FASB ASC 958 discusses unique accounting and financial reporting requirements, 

including gifts in kind. 
b. Incorrect. FASB ASC 954 discusses unique accounting and financial reporting requirements for 

health care entities. 
c. Incorrect. FASB ASC 952 discusses unique accounting and financial reporting requirements for 

franchisors. 
d. Incorrect. FASB ASC 908 discusses unique accounting and financial reporting requirements for 

airlines. 



 
Users of this course material are encouraged to visit the  

AICPA website at www.aicpa.org/CPESupplements  
to access supplemental learning material reflecting recent 

developments that may be applicable to this course.  
The AICPA anticipates that supplemental materials will be 

made available on a quarterly basis. 
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Governmental audits have never been more challenging.

Are you with a CPA firm or state auditor office? If so, join the Governmental Audit
Quality Center and get the support, information and tools you need. Save time.
Maximize audit quality. Enhance your practice.

For 10 years, the GAQC has committed to helping firms and state audit organizations (SAOs) achieve the highest quality
standards as they perform financial statement audits of government, single audits, HUD audits or other types of compliance 
audits. If you are not yet a member, consider joining the GAQC to maximize your audit quality and practice success!

Join online today at gaqc.aicpa.org/memberships and start on the path to even greater audit success. Membership starts at 
just $190 (for firms or SAOs with fewer than 10 CPAs).

Benefits at a glance
The GAQC offers:

Email alerts with audit and regulatory updates

A dedicated website (aicpa.org/GAQC) where you can network with other members

Access to Resource Centers on Single Audits (both under the new Uniform Guidance for Federal Awards and OMB 
Circular A-133), Government Auditing Standards, HUD topics, GASB Matters and much more 

Audit Practice Tools and Aids (e.g., GASB’s new pension standards, internal control documentation tools, schedule
of expenditures of federal awards practice aids, Yellow Book independence documentation practice aid, etc.)

Savings on professional liability insurance

A website listing as a firm or SAO committed to quality, which makes your information available to the
public and/or potential purchasers of audit services

Exclusive webcasts on timely topics relevant to governmental financial statement audits and compliance audits
(optional CPE is available for a small fee, and events are archived online)

Topics the GAQC webcasts cover include:

Auditor Planning for the New Uniform Guidance for Federal Awards

GASB Pension Standards

An Overview of the Latest OMB Compliance Supplement

Audit Quality Series Avoiding Common Deficiencies

HUD’s Audit Requirements

Planning Considerations for your Governmental and NPO Audits

Don’t be the last to Know — Fraud in the Governmental Environment

Yellow Book and Single Audit Fundamentals

To learn more about the Governmental Audit Quality Center, its membership requirements or to apply for
membership, visit aicpa.org/GAQC, email us at gaqc@aicpa.org or call us at 202.434.9207. 
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